Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki,

Finland

Shift work and cardiovascular risk factors

Prevention among airline employees

Katriina Viitasalo

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium 107, Siltavuorenpenger 3A, on October 7th, 2016, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki, Finland

2016

Supervisors	Professor Mikko Härmä Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Markku Peltonen National Institute for Health and Welfare Helsinki, Finland
	Docent Sampsa Puttonen Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers	Docent Hannu Vanhanen University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Jukka Uitti University of Tampere Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Tampere, Finland
Opponent	Professor Kimmo Räsänen University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

Dissertationes Scholae Doctoralis ad Sanitatem Investigandam Universitatis Helsinkiensis 54/2016

ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISSN 2342-317X (online) ISBN 978-951-51-2268-1 (print) ISBN 978-951-51-2269-8 (PDF) <u>http://ethesis.helsinki.fi</u>

Unigrafia, Helsinki 2016

Cover picture by Katriina Viitasalo

To my family and late son and sister

Contents

List of original publications
Abbreviations
Abstract
Tiivistelmä 11
1. Introduction
2. Review of the literature
2.1 Shift work
2.1.1 Concept of shift work 16
2.1.2 Different shift schedules and working time patterns
2.2 Cardiovascular disease
2.2.1 Conventional risk factors
2.2.2 Type 2 diabetes
2.2.3 Metabolic syndrome 19
2.2.4 Insufficient sleep and sleep disturbances
2.3 Shift work and cardiovascular risk
2.3.1 Shift work and CVD 22
2.3.2 Shift work and type 2 diabetes
2.3.3 Shift work and metabolic syndrome
2.3.4 Shift work induced sleep problems and related health effects
2.3.5 Shift work and lifestyle habits41
2.3.6 Methodologic issues in shift work research
2.4 Prevention of cardiovascular risk
2.4.1 Concept of prevention
2.4.2 Prevention of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes
2.4.2.1 Lifestyle counselling
2.4.3 Prevention of cardiovascular risk and type 2 diabetes in shift work
2.4.3.1 Shift schedule design
2.4.3.2 Workplace health promotion
3. The aims of the study
4. Methods
4.1 Study design and populations

4.1.1 The health check-up study (Figure 2a)	55
4.1.2 The shift system change study (Figure 2b)	56
4.2 Interventions	57
4.2.1 Lifestyle counselling along health check-up	57
4.2.2 Change of shift systems	59
4.3 Measurements	59
4.3.1 Clinical measurements	59
4.3.2 Laboratory measurements	5 0
4.3.3 Questionnaires	51
4.4 Ethical aspects	53
4.5 Statistical methods	54
5 Results	56
5.1. Risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes among employees with different working times	56
5.1.1 Risk factors of CVD and risk for T2D in working time groups	56
5.1.2 Former shift work and metabolic syndrome	5 8
5.2 Association of the change of shift systems with CVD risk factors	<u> 5</u> 9
5.3 Age-dependent association of shift systems with sleep-wakefulness and biomarkers of inflammation.	71
5.3.1 Interaction between shift system and age with sleep-wakefulness	71
5.3.2 Effect of the shift system change on alertness	73
5.3.3 Interaction of the shift system and age with biomarkers of inflammation	74
5.3.4 Effect of the shift system change on biomarkers of inflammation	75
5.4 Feasibility of the risk screening of CVD and T2D in the airline health service	75
5.4.1 Characteristics and risk factors of the participants of the health check-up study	75
5.4.2 Characteristics associated with participation in the follow-up of the health check-up study	76
5.4.3 Characteristics associated with attendance in lifestyle intervention	76
5.5 Effectiveness of low intensity lifestyle counselling offered along with health check-ups	78
5.5.1 Effect of lifestyle intervention on CVD risk factors	78
5.5.2 Effect of lifestyle intervention on CVD risk factors and risk for T2D in working time groups	79
6 Discussion	31
6.1 Main findings	31
6.2 Shift work and cardiovascular risk factors	32
6.2.1 Metabolic syndrome	32
6.2.2 Type 2 diabetes and other CVD risk factors	33

6.3 Prevention	34
6.3.1 Effects of the shift system changes	34
6.3.2 Lifestyle intervention	37
6.4 Methodological considerations	39
6.4.1 Study populations and participation in the studies8	39
6.4.2 Selection	90
6.4.3 FINDRISC score)1
6.4.4 Size of effects)1
6.4.5 Shift specific questions	92
6.4.6 Exposure assessment	92
6.5 Practical implications	93
7. Summary and conclusions	95
Acknowledgements)7
References	99

List of original publications

This dissertation is based on two separate sets of data, the Health check-up data (studies I, II, IV, and V) and the Shift system change data (study III). The results have been reported in the following original articles listed by the aims of the thesis (page 54). In addition, some unpublished data are presented.

Ι.	Viitasalo K, Lindström J, Hemiö K, Puttonen S, Koho A, Härmä M, Peltonen M.
	Occupational Health Care identifies risk for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease.
	Primary Care Diabetes. 2012; 6(2):95-102.
П.	Puttonen S, Viitasalo K, Härmä M.
	The relationship between current and former shift work and the metabolic syndrome.
	Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health. 2012; 38(4):343-348.
111.	Viitasalo K, Kuosma E, Laitinen J, Härmä M.
	Effects of shift rotation and the flexibility of a shift system on daytime alertness and
	cardiovascular risk factors.
	Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health. 2008. 34(3):198–205.
IV.	Viitasalo K, Puttonen S, Kuosma E, Lindström J, Härmä M.
	Shift rotation and age - interactions for sleep-wakefulness and inflammation.
	Ergonomics. 2014 Oct 17:1-10.
V.	Viitasalo K, Hemiö K, Puttonen S, Leiviskä J, Hyvärinen H-K, Härmä M, Peltonen M, Lindström
	J.
	Prevention of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases in Occupational Health Care: Feasibility
	and effectiveness.
	Primary Care Diabetes. 2015 Apr; 9(2):96-104.

The original publications are reprinted with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
BNSQ	Basic Nordic Sleep Questionnaire
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DPS	Diabetes Prevention Study
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program
ESS	Epworth Sleepiness Scale
FINDRISC	Finnish Diabetes Risk score
FHS	Finnair Health Services
fP-gluc	Fasting plasma glucose
HbA1c	Glycosylated hemoglobin
HDL	High density lipoprotein cholesterol
HR	Hazard ratio
hsCRP	High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
IHD	lschemic heart disease
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IPAQ	Physical Activity Questionnaire
LTPA	Leisure time physical activity
LDL	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
mmHg	Millimeter of mercury
NCEP	National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
ОНС	Occupational Health Care
OR	Odds ratio
RCGP	Royal College of General Practitioners
RR	Relative risk
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
WBC	White blood cell (leukocyte count)
WHO	World Health Organisation

Abstract

Epidemiologic evidence supports an association between shift work and increased risk of cardiovascular diseases. Shortened and disturbed sleep, circadian misalignment and alterations of environmental and lifestyle aspects are the main factors related to shift workers' health problems. Along with our modern 24/7 society, shift work and diverse working hours have become inevitable. In a globally operating airline, irregular working hours and time-zone flights are challenging to workers' coping strategies and their health, especially as they age.

The main purpose of this study was to evaluate the feasibility and effectiveness of screening and prevention of cardiovascular risk factors and type 2 diabetes among shift workers in a Finnish airline. Two kinds of interventions were tested to promote workers' cardiovascular health and abilities to cope with shift work; changes in shift systems and lifestyle counselling. This thesis encompasses two longitudinal datasets based on interventions among the employees of the airline; the data of the health check-up study (n=2312) and the data of the shift system change study (n=84).

Findings from the cross-sectional health check-up sub-data suggested that metabolic syndrome is more prevalent among former male shift workers than male day workers who have never worked shifts.

The results of the shift system change study, carried out in the line maintenance unit among male participants, indicated that a faster speed together with a change from the backward to forward direction in shift rotation alleviates daytime sleepiness. In addition, combining individual elements of work time control with company-based variability in a shift system can have favourable effects on shift workers' cardiovascular health markers. A decrease in systolic blood pressure in combination with a declining trend for heart rate could indicate a decrease in psychophysiological stress in the more flexible shift system.

In the analyses of the cross-sectional sub-data of the health check-up study, our earlier findings that a rapidly forward rotating shift system is more age-friendly for sleep compared to a backward and slower rotating three-shift systems was supported. Quickly forward rotation shift workers considered their working schedule to be less harmful to sleep and wakefulness compared to slower backward rotation shift workers. In the quickly forward rotating three-shift system older workers had less sleep complaints than their younger colleagues.

The renewed health check-up process effectively identified employees with increased risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, the individuals who would benefit from lifestyle intervention. The

FINDRISC questionnaire proved to be a practicable first-step screening method in an occupational health care setting. The follow-up data of the health check-up study showed that low intensity lifestyle interventions are feasible in an occupational health care setting. However, only modest health benefits were observed among the men with increased risk. We probably identified the right target group for our interventions but greater health effects would have required more intensive and long-lasting interventions.

A number of factors are associated with participation in the lifestyle interventions. Employees with higher baseline FINDRISC score and clinical and lifestyle risk factors were eager to take part in lifestyle counselling by a dietician or a diabetes nurse. Also problems in sleep and mood increased attendance in the interventions. The factors associating with participation differed between genders in some aspects, which may reflect the different requirements and challenges of work and health. The men worked mainly in blue collar tasks, e.g. in technical, ground or cargo services, and the women mainly in white collar duties, e.g. in office or gate services and in-flight duties.

In conclusion, former shift workers' increased risk for metabolic syndrome should be recognized in occupational health care and taken into account in preventive work. In the design of new shift systems, a faster speed, together with the forward rotation of the shift system enhance older workers' well-being and coping strategies for shift work. In addition, combining individual-based flexibility with company-based working-time flexibility may have favourable effects on shift workers' cardiovascular health. Based on the health check-up study, even a low intensity lifestyle intervention that targets individuals at risk may be profitable. The work and individual related characteristics associated with participation in the lifestyle interventions, identified in this study, can probably be useful for developing more effective lifestyle intervention activities within occupational health care.

Keywords: shift work, shift schedule, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, risk factors, prevention, occupational health

Tiivistelmä

Epidemiologinen tutkimus tukee vuorotyön yhteyttä sydän- ja verisuonisairauksien riskiin. Univaje ja unihäiriöt, vuorokausirytmin häiriintyminen ja muutokset elinympäristössä sekä elintavoissa vaikuttavat vuorotyöntekijän terveyteen. Nykyinen 24/7-yhteiskunta ja monimuotoiset työajat ovat tulleet väistämättömiksi. Maailmanlaajuisesti operoivassa lentoyhtiössä epäsäännölliset työajat ja aikaerolennot ovat haasteellisia työntekijöiden jaksamiselle ja terveydelle, erityisesti ikääntymisen myötä.

Tämän väitöskirjatyön tarkoitus oli selvittää, onko sydän- ja verisuonisairauksien sekä tyypin 2 diabeteksen riskin seulonta ja ehkäisy toteutettavissa monimuotoisia työaikoja tekevien työntekijöiden keskuudessa ja onko se tehokasta. Tutkimuksessa testattiin kahta interventiota, vuorotyörytmin muutosta ja elintapaneuvontaa sydän- ja verisuonisairauksien riskitekijöiden ja tyypin 2 diabeteksen riskin vähentämiseksi sekä vuorotyössä jaksamisen edistämiseksi. Tämä väitöskirja sisältää kaksi pitkittäistä interventioaineistoa, jotka on kerätty suomalaisen lentoyhtiön työntekijöistä. Terveystarkastustutkimusta koskeva aineisto sisältää 2312 henkilön tutkimustiedot ja vuorotyörytmin muutosta koskeva aineisto 84 mieshenkilön tutkimustiedot.

Terveystarkastustutkimuksen poikkileikkausaineiston tulosten mukaan metabolinen oireyhtymä oli miehillä yleisempi päivätyöhön siirtyneiden entisten vuorotyöntekijöiden keskuudessa verrattuna niihin, jotka eivät olleet koskaan tehneet vuorotyötä.

Tekniikan linjahuollossa toteutettu vuorotyörytmin muutos hitaasti taaksepäin kiertävästä nopeasti eteenpäin kiertäväksi vähensi vuorotyöntekijän päiväväsymystä. Nopeasti eteenpäin kiertävään vuorojärjestelmään siirtyneet työntekijät arvioivat myös terveystarkastustutkimuksessa työaikansa häiritsevän vähemmän unta ja päiväaikaista vireystilaa kuin työntekijät, jotka jatkoivat työskentelyä hitaasti taaksepäin kiertävässä vuorojärjestelmässä. Terveystarkastustutkimuksen poikkileikkausaineiston tulokset vahvistivat aiempaa havaintoamme siitä, että nopeasti eteenpäin kiertävään vuorojärjestelmään. Nopeasti eteenpäin kiertävässä vuorojärjestelmässä iäkkäämmillä työntekijöillä oli nuorempia vähemmän uniongelmia.

Vuorotyörytmin muutostutkimuksessa joustavampaan työvuorojärjestelmään siirtyneiden systolinen verenpaine laski ja pulssitaso laski lähes merkitsevästi viitaten psykofysiologisen stressin vähenemiseen, mikä saattaa vaikuttaa edullisesti vuorotyöntekijän sydänterveyteen.

Uudistettu terveystarkastuskäytäntö löysi tehokkaasti ne henkilöt, joiden tyypin 2 diabeteksen sekä sydänja verisuonisairauksien riski oli kohonnut ja jotka todennäköisesti hyötyisivät elintapaohjauksesta. Diabeteksen riskikysely FINDRISC osoittautui tässä käyttökelpoiseksi ensivaiheen seulontamenetelmäksi. Terveystarkastustutkimuksen seuranta-aineisto osoitti, että kevyt elintapaohjaus onnistuu työterveyshuollon terveystarkastusten yhteydessä. Kuitenkin tällaisella kevyellä interventiolla saatiin aikaan vain kohtalaisia terveyshyötyjä kohonneen riskin miehillä. Selvempien terveysvaikutusten saavuttamiseksi tarvitaan intensiivisempiä ja pitkäkestoisempia interventioita.

Tutkimuksemme paljasti joukon taustatekijöitä, jotka olivat yhteydessä interventioihin osallistumiseen. Työntekijät, joilla oli korkea diabetesriskipistemäärä ja joilla oli kliinisiä tai elintapoihin liittyviä riskitekijöitä, olivat innokkaampia hakeutumaan ravitsemusterapeutin ja diabeteshoitajan ohjaukseen. Myös uneen ja mielialaan liittyvät ongelmat lisäsivät interventioissa käyntiä. Miehet ja naiset erosivat jonkin verran näiden taustatekijöiden suhteen, mihin saattoi vaikuttaa sosioekonomiset erot ammattiryhmien välillä. Miehet työskentelivät pääasiassa tekniikassa, maapalvelussa ja rahdissa, kun taas naiset työskentelivät enimmäkseen toimistossa tai asiakaspalvelutehtävissä porttipalvelussa tai matkustamopalvelussa.

Vuorotyötä aiemmin tehneillä miehillä havaittu lisääntynyt riski sairastua metaboliseen oireyhtymään pitää tunnistaa ja pyrkiä ehkäisemään työterveyshuollossa. Tutkimuksemme vahvistaa tietoa, että nopeasti eteenpäin suuntautuva vuorokierto lisää yli 45 vuotiaiden työntekijöiden hyvinvointia ja jaksamista vuorotyössä. Joustava työaika, jossa työntekijä voi paremmin vaikuttaa työaikoihinsa, näyttäisi tutkimuksemme mukaan olevan edullinen vuorotyöntekijän sydänterveydelle. Terveystarkastustutkimuksen mukaan korkean riskin miehet saattavat hyötyä vähäisestäkin elintapaohjauksesta, joskin selvempien terveysvaikutusten saamiseksi tarvitaan intensiivisempiä ja pitkäkestoisempia interventioita. Tutkimuksessa havaittuja osallistumiseen vaikuttavia taustatekijöitä voidaan hyödyntää työterveyshuollossa toteutettavan elintapaohjauksen suunnittelussa.

Avainsanat: vuorotyö, vuorojärjestelmät, sydän- ja verisuonisairaudet, tyypin 2 diabetes, riskitekijät, ennaltaehkäisy, työterveyshuolto

1. Introduction

"The right to work in safety is a basic human right, and protection of the health of workers is ultimately of benefit to all of society" states the editorial of PloS Med in June 2007 (Barbour et al. 2007).

Epidemiologic and experimental evidence supports the plausible association between shift work and an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD), even though the exact mechanisms for this association are not firmly established. Shift work has also been associated with metabolic disorders such as obesity (Poulsen et al. 2014), metabolic syndrome (MetS) (Kawada and Otsuka 2014; Pietroiusti et al. 2010; F. Wang et al. 2014), and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Gan et al. 2015; Pan et al. 2011). In addition, many other health-related problems, such as gastrointestinal, psychological, and female reproductive health disorders, have been linked to shift working (Costa 2010; Costa et al. 2010; Knutsson 2003). The International Agency for Research on Cancer has classified night work as a "probable human carcinogen" (Straif et al. 2007). Evidence of the association between shift/night shift work and mortality is limited and inconsistent (Akerstedt et al. 2004; Karlsson et al. 2005; Knutsson 2004; Taylor and Pocock 1972; X. S. Wang et al. 2011). However, in the Nurses' Health Study, 22 years of follow-up revealed that women working rotating night shifts for 5 years or more had a modest increase in all-cause and CVD mortality (Gu et al. 2015).

Shortened or disturbed sleep, circadian misalignment and alterations of environmental and lifestyle aspects are the main factors related to shift workers' health problems. The plausible physiological and biological mechanisms are related to the activation of the autonomic nervous system, inflammation, changes in lipid and glucose metabolism, and related changes in the risk for atherosclerosis, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes (Puttonen et al. 2010; Zimberg et al. 2012). Along with our modern 24/7 society shift work and diverse working hours have become inevitable, thus, the option of eradicating exposure to shift work completely is not realistic. Shift work is carried out by 17% of workers across the EU and in this regard there are no gender differences. Fulltime workers do more shift work than part-time workers and younger workers more often work shifts than older workers ("5th European Working Condition Survey " 2012). One third of Finnish salary-earners do not have a regular day work and one worker in five works in two or three shifts or only during the night ("Quality of Work Life Survey 2013, Statistics Finland" 2014). Finnish legislation defines night work as a specific health risk and statutory regular health check-ups are obligatory for night shift workers.

Globally, non-communicable diseases are the leading cause of mortality, cardiovascular diseases comprising up to 46% of these deaths ("World Health organization" 2014). In Europe, cardiovascular diseases have shown a significant decline in recent decades. In 2009, coronary heart disease rates in younger adult age groups as well as in the population overall were less than half of what they had been in the early 1980s (Nichols et al. 2013a, 2013b). In Finland, between the years 1972 and 2007 coronary mortality declined 80% in the middle-aged population, mainly due to a great reduction in conventional risk factor levels (e.g. cholesterol, blood pressure, and smoking). This risk factor change in turn has been associated with long-term chronic disease prevention and health promotion interventions (Vartiainen et al. 2010). Nonetheless, CVD still remains the main cause of morbidity and mortality and places a substantial burden on health care systems and national economies worldwide and, as such, more efficient intervention strategies are needed (Guazzi et al. 2014; Oliveira et al. 2015; "World Health organization " 2007). While secondary prevention is essential for high risk individuals after a cardiovascular event/diagnosis, primary prevention is potentially effective and worthwhile at the population level. In this context, workplace health promotion is viewed as a potential resource for further reducing the CVD burden (Arena et al. 2013; Guazzi et al. 2014).

In Finland occupational health care (OHC) is an important part of the primary health service system. Covering over 90% of the national workforce ("Work and Health in Finland, 2012" 2013) Finnish OHC has an excellent opportunity to influence the health of the working population. The traditional duty of OHC has been the prevention of work-related illnesses and injuries and health examinations have focused on workers' exposure to work processes and other occupational threats to working capacity. The role of OHC in health promotion, evaluation of individual health risks and also prevention of lifestyle related chronic illnesses has been emphasized by the Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. The Finnish development strategy for occupational health care outlines the measures for promoting employees' health and working capacity ("Government resolution. Occupational Health 2015 " 2004).

Lifestyle factors, like physical activity and dietary habits, are components in the pathway to metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. These individual lifestyle-related risk factors of CVD are potentially amenable to intervention. As cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes share common risk factors, initiatives to prevent CVD and T2D support each other.

Though some of the effects of shift work are unavoidable, such as the partial disruption of circadian rhythms, proper changes in certain shift characteristics or shift schedules may ameliorate shift workers' sleep and health. For instance, rotating shift work comprises a range of alternative schedule patterns where

the shift system may rotate faster or slower, backward or forward and the length of shifts, as well as, the proportion of night and early morning shifts varies, and modifications to these shift work components might modify the health risks of shift work.

The employees of a large Finnish airline, Finnair, place special demands on shift work healthcare as most of them are shift workers. In addition, their duties involve matters of aviation safety that require the employees are of good health and very vigilant. In a globally operating airline, the numerous working hours and time-zone flights are challenging to workers' coping strategies and health especially as they age. The strict health standards required by the aviation authority make health promotion and the prevention of work and lifestyle related diseases even more important. The present work which includes interventions focusing on both working times and workers' lifestyles is in line with both the national health strategy and the airline's health policy.

2. Review of the literature

2.1 Shift work

"Shift work was not a consequence of the industrial revolution – the monks of the monastery, guards at the castle, and seafarers have been at work at odd hours since biblical times", writes Henrik Boggild in his thesis (Boggild 2000). Shift work is common in our contemporary 24/7 societies as well as in developing countries where a considerable contingent of the populations work in shifts.

2.1.1 Concept of shift work

Shift work is an ambiguous term and there is no agreement on a definition for shift work in the literature. Collins English Dictionary defines shift work as 'a system of employment where an individual's normal hours of work are, in part, outside the period of normal day working and may follow different patterns in consecutive periods of weeks' (Collins 2012). The EU's Working Time Directive defines shift work as 'any method of organising work in shifts whereby workers succeed each other at the same work station according to a certain pattern, including a rotating pattern, and which may be continuous or discontinuous, entailing the need for workers to work at different times over a given period of days or weeks'. Working hours across time zones are not specifically included in the definitions of shift work.

Shift work researchers use different definitions, which may impede comparisons of exposure and the results of studies. If the term 'shift work' is used as being synonymous to irregular or odd working hours and 'a shift worker' defined as anyone working outside regular daytime hours, shift workers include all people working evening shift, night shift, rotating shifts, split shifts or on-call or casual schedules, 24 hour shifts, irregular schedules, and other non-day schedules both during the week and on weekends (Szosland 2010; Vyas et al. 2012).

2.1.2 Different shift schedules and working time patterns

In the 24/7 society, a considerable portion of workers are engaged in non-standard working hours. The increasing diversification of working time patterns reflects societal reasons, as well as economic demands and individual preferences. On the one hand, companies look for a prompt adaptation of production and service systems to increasing market demands and technological innovations; while on the other hand, employees ask for a more balanced pattern between working and leisure times to improve their working and social lives (Costa 2003).

Shift systems can differ widely with respect to their structure; the presence/absence of night work; the duration of the duty period (e.g. from 6 to 12 h); the number of workers/crews who cover the whole working time (two, three, four or more teams); the interruption of the weekend (continuous/discontinuous); workers stay on a given shift, or alternate between the different shifts (permanent /rotating); the speed (fast/slow) and the direction (clockwise/counter-clockwise) of the shift rotation; the start and finish times of the duty periods; and the regularity/irregularity and length of the shift cycle (Costa 2003).

Among the various possible shift systems, alternating day (morning and afternoon) shifts are the most frequently used. Finland's Work Life Survey 2013 ("Quality of Work Life Survey 2013, Statistics Finland" 2014) reveals that among paid employees aged 15–64 (n=4,876), 68.3% were regular day workers (06:00 - 18:00), 0.7% only worked evenings, 0.9% only worked nights, 10.5% did 2-shift work not including night work and 1.9% did 2-shift work including night work, 6.3% did 3-shift work, and the rest 11.3% had other kinds of work times. In 2010, night work (working for at least two hours between 22:00 - 05:00) was undertaken by 19% of the EU workforce, men more often (23%) than women (14%). One in ten workers did night work more than five times a month. One worker in five (21%) worked 'on call', men (23%) more often than women (16%). More than half of all workers worked for at least one weekend day. Globally, shift work is even more common and for example up to 36% of the Chinese workforce worked in shifts in 2004 ("5th European Working Condition Survey " 2012).

2.2 Cardiovascular disease

The term cardiovascular disease refers to a range of conditions and disorders that affect the heart and blood vessels and includes, inter alia, coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, raised blood pressure, peripheral artery disease, rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease and heart failure. Atherosclerosis is the underlying pathology of cardiovascular diseases such as coronary artery disease (e.g. heart attacks), cerebrovascular disease (e.g. stroke) and diseases of the aorta and arteries (e.g. hypertension) ("World Health organization " 2007). Atherosclerosis is a complex pathological process in the walls of blood vessels. Factors that promote the atherosclerotic process are known as CVD risk factors. According to the World Health Organization over three-quarters of all CVD mortality may be prevented with adequate changes in lifestyle (Perk et al. 2012). The following sections discuss the most central factors, health disorders and diseases associated with the increased risk of CVD.

2.2.1 Conventional risk factors

Some traditional cardiovascular risk factors, such as age, gender, and heredity are unavoidable. However, avoidable behavioural and metabolic risk factors play key roles in the aetiology of atherosclerosis. The leading CVD risk factor is elevated blood pressure to which 13 per cent of global deaths are attributed, followed by tobacco use (9%), raised blood glucose (6%), physical inactivity (6%) and being overweight or obesity (5%)("World Heart Federation " 2012). A multicentre, international, case-control study (the INTERHEART study) defined nine potentially avoidable risk factors that account for over 90% of the risk of the first acute myocardial infarction. These include by decreasing odds ratio: raised apolipoprotein B/A1 ratio (3.25), current smoking status (2.87), psychosocial factors (2.67), diabetes (2.37), history of hypertension (1.91), abdominal obesity (1.12), alcohol consumption (0.91), regular physical activity (0.86), and daily consumption of fruits and vegetables (0.70) All these factors being significantly associated with acute myocardial infarction (p<0.0001 for all risk factors and p=0.03 for alcohol). Furthermore, the associations were consistent in both genders and different ethnicities and geographic regions, enhancing the worldwide generalizability of the results (Yusuf et al. 2004). The INTERSTROKE study, another multicentre case-control study, identified ten modifiable risk factors that explained approximately 90% of the risk for developing a first stroke, with hypertension being the most important. Nine risk factors were the same as in the INTERHEART study, added by cardiac causes of stroke (atrial fibrillation or flutter, previous myocardial infarction, rheumatic valve disease, or prosthetic heart valve) (O'Donnell et al. 2010).

2.2.2 Type 2 diabetes

Subjects with type 2 diabetes have a CVD risk comparable to that of previous myocardial infarction and the risk is greater in women (Haffner et al. 1998; Rivellese et al. 2010; Russo et al. 2015). Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of cardiovascular disease by three to four times in women and two to three times in men, after adjusting for other risk factors (Norhammar and Schenck-Gustafsson 2013). The most important avoidable risk factors for T2D are unhealthy diet, a sedentary lifestyle, and obesity (Hu et al. 2003; Lindstrom, Peltonen, et al. 2006; "World Health Organisation " 2003). Gradual weight gain during adult years is a common phenomenon. In longitudinal population studies (Nooyens et al. 2009; Pajunen et al. 2012; Piirtola et al. 2016) weight increased annually 0.2 to 0.7 kg among men and 0.2 to 0.6 kg among women. In the Helsinki Health Study, shift work that included night shifts was associated with increased risk of weight gain among women (OR 1.43 [95% CI 1.13, 1.82]) (Roos et al. 2013). Abdominal obesity is a more important risk factor than overall obesity in predicting the development of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Siren et al. 2012).

In Western countries half of the T2D cases are estimated to be undiagnosed. In a Finnish population-based survey, previously undetected cases of type 2 diabetes were found in 9.3% of men and in 7.3% of women. In the age groups 45-54 and 55-64 years, 5.9% and 8.7% of men and 2.5% and 8.0% of women, respectively, suffered from undetected diabetes. (Saaristo et al. 2008). It has been estimated that the prevalence of total diabetes (diagnosed and undiagnosed) in the United States will increase to between 20% and 30% of adults by 2050 (Boyle et al. 2010; Narayan et al. 2006). The WHO projects that diabetes will be the 7th leading cause of death in 2030 ("World Health organization" 2014). This scenario highlights the large economic burden of diabetes (Yang et al. 2013) and underscores the importance of prevention.

2.2.3 Metabolic syndrome

Metabolic syndrome, first described by Reaven in 1988 (Reaven 1988), is a cluster of interrelated cardiovascular risk factors known to predispose to the development of T2D and CVD. Meta-analyses have strongly suggested that metabolic syndrome is an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease incidence and mortality, as well as all-cause mortality (Galassi et al. 2006; Gami et al. 2007; Mottillo et al. 2010). The clinical significance of MetS is its ability to identify individuals at risk from T2D and CVD for preventive treatments. However, it predicts these diseases less effectively than established predicting models such as the Diabetes Risk Score and the Framingham Risk Score (Stern et al. 2004).

There are many definitions of MetS e.g. provided by the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel (NCEP-ATPIII) (Grundy et al. 2005), the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (Alberti et al. 2005), the World Health Organization (WHO) (Alberti and Zimmet 1998), and the European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR) (Balkau and Charles 1999). Insulin resistance, hypertension, elevated triglyceride levels, and central obesity are included in all these definitions. Decreased HDL cholesterol is included in the WHO and IDF definitions and microalbuminuria only in the WHO definition. None of them include age and smoking, two main risk factors of CVD. A comprehensive comparison between the different definitions has been compiled by Huang (Huang 2009). It has been suggested that population and country specific cut points for waist circumference for defining abdominal obesity should be used (Alberti et al. 2009). The most used definitions are compiled in Table 1.

	WHO (1998)	NCEP ATP III (2005)	IDF (2005)
Absolutely required	IR	None	Central obesity
Additional criteria	Two of the five criteria below	Any three of the five criteria below	Two of the four criteria below
Central obesity	Waist/hip ratio: M >0.90 F >0.85 or BMI >30	Waist: M >102cm F >88cm	Waist: M ≥ 94cm F ≥80cm
Hyperglycaemia	IR	F-gluc ≥ 5.6 mmol/l or Rx	F-gluc ≥ 5.6 mmol/l or T2D
Dyslipidaemia	Tg ≥ 1.7 mmol/l and/or HDL, M < 0.9 mmol/l F < 1.0 mmol/l	Tg≥1.7 mmol/l or Rx	Tg ≥ 1.7 mmol/l or Rx
Dyslipidaemia		HDL	HDL
(second separate criteria)		M < 1.0 mmol/l or Rx F < 1.3 mmol/l or Rx	M < 1.0 mmol/l or Rx F < 1.3 mmol/l or Rx
Elevated blood pressure	≥ 140/≥ 90 mmHg	≥ 130/≥ 85 mmHg or Rx	≥ 130/≥ 85 mmHg or Rx
Other	Microalbuminuria ≥ 20 ug/min		

Table 1. Definitions of the metabolic syndrome according to the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP), the World Health Organization (WHO), and the International Diabetes Foundation (IDF).

BMI body mass index, F female, F-gluc fasting glucose, HDL high density lipoprotein, IR insulin resistance (impaired glucose tolerance; impaired fasting glucose; type 2 diabetes), M male, Rx pharmacologic treatment, Tg triglyceride, T2D type 2 diabetes.

2.2.4 Insufficient sleep and sleep disturbances

Experimental and epidemiologic studies have indicated that the quantity and quality of sleep predict weight gain, obesity, and type 2 diabetes (Cappuccio et al. 2010; Patel and Hu 2008; Spiegel et al. 2005; Trenell et al. 2007; H. Tuomilehto et al. 2008). Sleep deficiency and circadian disruption may contribute to these health disorders potentially by altering the timing and amount of food intake, disrupting energy balance, inflammation, and impairing glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (Depner et al. 2014). Self-reported insufficient sleep has effects on blood pressure, glucose metabolism, hormonal regulation, and inflammation altering these established cardiovascular risk factors in a direction that is known to increase the risk of cardiac morbidity (Mullington et al. 2009). In the Framingham Study, difficulty falling asleep was one of the predictors of myocardial infarction and coronary death among women (Eaker et al. 1992), and in a prospective Norwegian cohort study, insomnia associated with a moderately increased risk for acute myocardial infarction in both genders (Laugsand et al. 2011). In the Nurses' Health Study, both short and long self-reported sleep durations were independently associated with a modestly increased risk of coronary events among women (Ayas, White, Manson, et al. 2003). In a systematic review and meta-analysis of 474,684 participants (follow-up 6.9–25 years), a short self-reported duration of sleep (<5–6 h

per night) was associated with a greater risk of developing or dying of CHD and stroke (RR 1.5 and 1.1, respectively) and a self-reported long duration of sleep (8–9 h per night) with a greater risk of developing or dying of CHD, stroke, and total CVD (RR 1.4, 1.7, and 1.4, respectively) (Cappuccio et al. 2011).

2.3 Shift work and cardiovascular risk

Shift work has been linked to a number of adverse health effects such as an increased risk of obesity (Morikawa et al. 2007; Poulsen et al. 2014; Roos et al. 2013; Suwazono et al. 2008), metabolic syndrome (Kawada and Otsuka 2014; Pietroiusti et al. 2010; F. Wang et al. 2014), and type 2 diabetes (Gan et al. 2015), all of which predispose to cardiovascular diseases. The prevalence of risk factors for coronary heart disease is higher among shift workers compared to day workers (Peplonska et al. 2014; Ramin et al. 2015), and subjects with coronary risk factors are probably more likely to be affected by shift work (Fujino et al. 2006; Tenkanen et al. 1998; van de Ven et al. 2014). Shift working includes elements of work stress (Boggild and Knutsson 1999; Peter et al. 1999), and work stress has been associated with insufficient sleep and impaired recovery (Akerstedt 2006; Jacobsen et al. 2014), activation of the autonomic nervous system (Jarczok et al. 2013), and inflammatory responses (Johnson et al. 2013). All these may act as pathways from the circadian stress of shift work to cardiovascular morbidity as depicted in Figure 1 (Harma, Kompier, et al. 2006; Puttonen et al. 2010).



Figure 1. Pathways from shift work to cardiovascular disease (Modified from Puttonen et al. SJWEH 2010, vol 36, no 2).

2.3.1 Shift work and CVD

Epidemiologic and experimental research evidence supports a plausible, but not conclusive or systematic causal association between shift work and cardiovascular diseases. The evidence of the latest metaanalysis and reviews as well as some representative original cohort and case-control studies of this issue are compiled in Tables 2 and 3.

Reference	Study design	Participants	Time period	Shift work definition	Control group	Outcomes	Adjusted covariates	Results
Karlsson et al., 2005	Retrospective study from a Swedish cohort in the pulp and paper industry, linked to the national Cause of Death Register	2354 shift workers	1952 to 2001	Mainly rotating three-shift schedule	3088 day workers	Total mortality and mortality from coronary heart disease, stroke, and diabetes		Increased mortality from CHD, duration of shift work increased the risk. A trend of increased mortality from diabetes and stroke
Fujino et al., 2006	Prospective study from a Japanese Collaborative Cohort Study for the Evaluation of Cancer Risk	110,792 inhabitants Analyses on 17,649 full-time working men, free of MI and cerebrovascular disease at baseline	1988 to 1990	Mainly night (fixed-night shift), or alternate night and daytime (rotating-shift work)	Mainly daytime	Total deaths, deaths from circulatory system disease, ischemic heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease	Smoking Alcohol intake Hypertension Diabetes Education Stress Hours of walking and exercise Type of job	Rotating SW associates with death due to IHD

Table 2. Original studies on the association of shift work with cardiovascular risk and risk factors.

Reference	Study design	Participants	Time	Shift work	Control group	Outcomes	Adjusted	Results
			period	definition			covariates	
Puttonen	Cross-sectional study to	712 men and	1980	shift work	Day work	carotid IMT	Lipids	Men:
et al., 2009	examine the relationship	831 women	to	(2- or 3-shiftwork		and carotid	Homocysteine	SW was associated
	between SW and subclinical		2001	or regular		plaque	hsCRP	with mean and
	atherosclerosis from the cohort	Ages from 24		evening or night			Age	maximum IMT and
	of a prospective epidemiological	to 39 years		work)			Low SES	a 2.2-fold odds for
	Cardiovascular						Job strain	carotid plaque
	Risk in Young Finns study						Smoking	
							Diet	Women:
							Physical	no association
							inactivity	between shift work
							Alcohol	and carotid
							BMI	atherosclerosis
							Waist	indicators.
							Family history	
							of CHD	
Thomas et	Longitudinal study to examined	Cohort	1958	Any SW: any	Employment	Lipids	Smoking	Night /early morning
al., 2010	associations between exposure	18,558	to	employment	outside 18:00-	HbA1c	Alcohol	SW:
	to shift-work and risk factors for		2003	≥1/week outside	07:00, not	CRP	Diet	Men: elevated levels
	CVD from a 1958 British birth	Analyses on		07:00-18:00	weekends	Fibrinogen	LAP	of all other but BP
	cohort at age 45	7,839						and total cholesterol.
		subjects		Evening SW:		Blood		Women: elevated
				18:00-22:00		pressure		triglyceride levels.
						Height,		Results of BMI, WC
				Night SW: 22:00-		Weight		and CRP remained
				04:00		BMI		significant after
						Waist		adjustment
				Early morning				Evening SW:
				SW: 04:00-07:00				Men: elevated BMI
								and total cholesterol

In Janual 2000. Evening/night/ to to Baseline MT Ment who worked weekend antific experienced a faster 2 to 2000. Evening/night/ to to Wen who worked anytime Change of anytime Age Men who worked weekend 3 to 2000. Evening/night/ totating shifts work Sonographer progression of carotid tipids 3 to Cuther shift work Ipids Sonographer progression of carotid tipids 4 to Cuther shift work Annual income Physical activity workens 2 2009 Ever night shift work Never night CVD risk Age Ever night shift workens 1 2009 Ever night shift work Rever night shift workens and increased dods of obesity, urrent snoking, and shorter sleep 1 10 10 All-cause Age, SE All-cause and CVD 1 10 inght shift work Seroing Alcohol mong women with 25 1 10 inght shift work Seroins All-cause and CVD 1 10 Inferime rotating Mon mone use Mon mone use 1 10 Inferime rotating night shift Mon mone use 1 10 All-cause Age, SES All-cause and CVD 1 10	ign Pa	articipants Tim	ne riod	Shift work definition	Control	Outcomes	Adjusted covariates	Results
2009 Ever night shift work Never night CVD risk Age Ever night shift workers ahift work shift work factors SES had increased odds of 1988 Lifetime rotating Women who All-cause Age, SES had increased odds of n to night shift work never Montality and Smoking, All-cause All-cause and CVD n to night shift work never mortality and Smoking, All-cause and CVD n to night shift Women who All-cause and CVD mortality were increased 2010 (defined as ≥ 3 worked night deaths due to BMI mong women with ≥5 nights/month) shifts CVD Physical activity years of rotating night shift Multivitamin use Work Multivitamin use work work Physerension Step duration 6-8h Hypertension Type 2 diabetes	1 r ye	nen 195 142 to 200 tars 200	00°,	Weekend shifts Evening/night/ rotating shifts Other shift work	Brudp Standard daytime work	Change of carotid IMT	Age Baseline IMT Sonographer Height, weight, BMI Lipids Glucose Fibrinogen Smoking, Alcohol Physical activity Annual income Psychosocial job	Men who worked weekend shifts experienced a faster progression of carotid atherosclerosis
1988 Lifetime rotating Women who All-cause Age, SES All-cause and CVD inght shift work never mortality and Smoking, Alcohol mortality were increased night deaths due to BMI among women with ≥5 nights/month) shifts CVD Physical activity years of rotating night shift Multivitamin use work Menopausal status PM hormone use Healthy eating score Sleep duration 6-8h Hypertension Type 2 diabetes	. 72) me	4 200 en	60	Ever night shift work	Never night shift work	CVD risk factors	Work time Age SES	Ever night shift workers had increased odds of obesity, current smoking, and shorter sleep
	,86, 0,000	2 195 2 01 2 01	10 88	Lifetime rotating night shift work (defined as 2 3 nights/month)	Women who never worked night shifts	All-cause mortality and deaths due to CVD	Age, SES Smoking, Alcohol BMI Physical activity Multivitamin use Menopausal status PM hormone use Healthy eating score Sleep duration 6-8h Hypertension	All-cause and CVD mortality were increased among women with ≥5 years of rotating night shift work

	ausal d IHD		een ween
Results	Limited evidence of a c association between shift work an		Epidemiological evider graded according to th modified RCGP system for the association bet shift work and: -CVD: moderate -MetS: moderate -DM: limited
Outcomes	Fatal or non-fatal coronary disease, other cardiovascular diseases		Coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, MetS (NCEP- ATPIII and IDF definitions), definitions), ff5-glucose ≥7.0, treatment for DM, DM mortality)
Source of exposure information	Self-reported questionnaires, company records, pay codes, registers		Not specified
Shift work definition/schedules and	control group SW: non-day work Control group: day worker, never worked in shifts		SW: any work schedule involving unusual or irregular working hours as opposed to a normal daytime work schedule
Number of articles included	16 (3 included female shift workers) from 916 articles		 4 systematic or critical reviews on CVD, 4 cohort, cross- sectional, and case-control studies on CVD (IHD, MI, ischemic stroke), 8 cohort or cross- sectional studies on MetS, 6 cohort or cross- sectional studies
Type of review	Systematic search for peer-reviewed epidemiological studies on the risk of ischemic heart disease in relation to night or shift work published until the end of March 2008	Medline	Secondary review of the literature on shift work and chronic disease, from existing systematic reviews and original articles published prior to 31 December 2009 PubMed
Reference	Frost et al., 2009		Wang X-S. et al., 2011

Table 3. Reviews on the association of shift work with cardiovascular risk and risk factors.

Reference	Type of review	Number of articles included	Shift work definition/schedules and control group	Source of exposure information	Outcomes	Results
Esquirol Y. et al., 2011	Systematic search of original articles published between January 2000 to December 2010 on the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and shift work PubMed, Cochrane library and Embase	74 from 215 articles	different types of work schedules studied in the articles	Not specified	Blood pressure, blood lipids, MetS, BMI, diabetes parameters	Potential association between shift work and: -hypertension -triglycerides -MetS Possible association with -BMI No clear association with: -Cholesterol
Vyas et al., 2012	Review and meta-analysis of the association between shift work and major vascular events Systematic search until 1 January 2012 Medline including PreMedline, Embase, BIOSIS Previews, Cochrane CENTRAL, Conference Proceedings Citation Index-Science, Google Scholar, ProQuest Dissertation Abstracts, Scopus, and Science Citation Index Expanded	35 (34 databases) from 12 350 articles	SW: evening, night, rotating, mixed, and irregular or unspecified shift schedule Control group: non-shift day workers (30) or general population (4)	From original study methodological descriptions	Primary outcomes: myocardial infarction, ischaemic stroke, any coronary event Secondary outcomes: heart failure, haemorrhagic stroke, mortality (total, CVD, coronary, cerebrovascular and all cardiovascular events)	Shift work associated with: -myocardial infarction -ischaemic stroke -coronary events Night shifts associated with: -coronary events

LDL low density lipoprotein, MetS metabolic syndrome, MI myocardial infarction, NCEP National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel, RCGP Royal College of General Practitioners 3-star system for the assessment of the strength of evidence, SW shift work, WC waist circumference, WHR waist to hip ratio.

Original studies

Karlsson et al. linked the 50 years' retrospective data from a cohort of industrial shift and day workers to the National Cause of Death Register. The results demonstrated an increased mortality from CHD for shift workers with the longest exposure time (>30 years). A trend of higher mortality due to ischemic stroke among shift workers was based on only four cases. There was no increase in total mortality among shift workers (Karlsson et al. 2005).

Fujino et al. studied the mortality risk of IHD among male shift workers. During the 233,869 person-years of follow-up, 304 deaths were attributed to circulatory system diseases and 86 to IHD. Compared with the day workers, the rotating shift workers had a significantly higher risk of death due to IHD. Fixed-night work was not associated with IHD. Subjects with coronary risk factors, such as hypertension, overweight, habitual alcohol consumption, and smoking, were highly susceptible to the effects of rotating shift work on the risk of death due to IHD, although the interaction effects were not statistically significant (Fujino et al. 2006).

Puttonen et al. examined the relationship between shift work and subclinical atherosclerosis in 1,543 young adults. Carotid atherosclerosis was assessed by measuring the thickness of the common carotid artery intima-media complex and carotid plaque with ultrasound. In the age-adjusted models, shift work was associated with a thicker mean intima-media, higher maximum values of intima-media, and a 2.2-fold odds for carotid plaque in men. The results suggested that shift work accelerates the atherosclerotic process and that the effects of shift work on subclinical atherosclerosis are observable in men already before the age of 40 (Puttonen et al. 2009).

Thomas and Power studied the associations between exposure to shift work and risk factors for cardiovascular disease and whether the associations were explained by socio-economic circumstances, occupational factors or health behaviours. Adverse levels of several CVD risk factors were found in association with increasing participation in shift work. Separate analyses of shift work types showed associations primarily for night/morning working rather than evening/weekend working. The relationships were explained by socio-economic, other occupational factors and health behaviours for most CVD risk factors examined (Thomas and Power 2010).

Wang et al. investigated the relationship between different work schedules and progression of carotid atherosclerosis in a prospective male cohort. The associations of baseline work schedules with the 11-year

progression of ultrasonographically assessed carotid intima-media thickness, and their variation by preexisting CVD. Compared to standard daytime work, weekend shifts induced a faster progression of carotid atherosclerosis and men with pre-existing CVD were especially vulnerable to the atherogenic effects of weekend shifts (A. Wang et al. 2015).

Ramin et al. examined the association between night shift work history and age when night shift work was performed with cancer and cardiovascular disease risk factors among women. The work schedules for each specific age range (20–25 years, 26–35 years, 36–45 years and 46+ years) were queried and categorized into day/evening, night, and early morning work. Ever night shift workers had increased odds for e.g. obesity, current smoking, and shorter sleep durations compared to never night shift workers. Night shift work before the age of 25 was associated with fewer risk factors compared to night shift work at older ages. The conclusion was that night shift work may contribute to an adverse chronic disease risk profile (Ramin et al. 2015).

Gu et al. examined associations between rotating night shift work and all-cause, CVD, and cancer mortality in a prospective female cohort study. Rotating night shift work information was collected once in 1988. Women working rotating night shifts for 5 years or more had a modest increase in all cause and CVD mortality (Gu et al. 2015).

Reviews

Frost et al. evaluated the epidemiologic evidence for a causal relation between shift work and ischemic heart disease (IHD) from original prospective studies. Point estimates of relative risks of IHD incidence and mortality ranged between 0.64 and 2.0. Two mortality data studies with a few cases reported an increase in risk, six mortality studies reported relative risks around unity. Six of the seven studies combining incidence data of non-fatal and fatal cases, reported relative risk slightly above unity, the associations were statistically significant in two studies. Thus the evidence of a causal association between shift work and IHD was deduced to be limited (Frost et al. 2009).

Wang et al. explored the epidemiologic evidence for an association between shift work and chronic diseases from systematic and critical reviews and other published data. The review provided suggestive but inconclusive evidence for a significant association between CVD and shift work, including night and rotating shift work. The more recently published data added some support for an adverse association. The authors graded the epidemiologic evidence for the association between shift work and CVD as moderate. One of

the limitations of the published data was inadequate characterization of shift work exposure (X. S. Wang et al. 2011).

The aim of Esquirol et al. was to update the knowledge about shift work and cardiovascular risk in the review of Boggild and Knutsson (Boggild and Knutsson 1999), who noted a 40% higher relative risk of CVD among shift workers compared to day workers, for both genders. The included original articles dealing with the link between cardiovascular risk factors and shift work tended to document an impact of shift work on blood pressure, lipid profile (triglyceride levels), metabolic syndrome, and possibly on body mass index. The authors found it difficult to compare the studies because of the use of several definitions of shift work (Esquirol et al. 2011).

The objective of the systematic review and meta-analysis of Vyas et al. was to synthesize an association between shift work and major vascular events. In pooled random effects analyses, shift work status was associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke. Coronary events were also increased, albeit with significant heterogeneity across studies. In pooled subgroup analyses, all types of shift work were associated with an increased risk of coronary events, with the exception of evening shift work. The highest point estimate was noted for night shifts. Shift work was not associated with increased rates of mortality, whether they were vascular cause specific or overall. Apart from the heterogeneity of the reviewed studies, the conclusion of the authors was that shift work is associated with myocardial infarction, coronary events, and ischemic stroke (Vyas et al. 2012).

In summary, original studies have demonstrated an increased mortality due to CVD as the number of shift years increase, in women even 5 years of rotating night shift work increased the risk. Night shift work probably contributes to an adverse chronic disease risk profile in women. Subjects with coronary risk factors were found to be susceptible to the effects of rotating shift work, exposing them further to the risk of death mediated through ischemic heart disease. Shift work may trigger the effects of other CVD risk factors, and it is probable that shift work accelerates the atherosclerotic process, as subclinical atherosclerosis has been observed in shift working men already before the age of 40. Weekend shifts may be hazardous, too, especially among middle-aged men with pre-existing CVD.

The reviews and meta-analyses suggest limited or moderate evidence for an association between shift work and cardiovascular risk. However, heterogeneity across the reviewed studies, several definitions of shift work, and inadequate characterization of shift work exposure detract from the certainty of the conclusions.

2.3.2 Shift work and type 2 diabetes

Pathways linking shift work to diabetes have been speculated by researchers. Circadian misalignment has been shown to disturb the glucose-insulin regulating system in experimental studies (Morris et al. 2015; Scheer et al. 2009). Another pathway could be sleep problems and sleep deprivation, which are common among shift workers (Ayas, White, Al-Delaimy, et al. 2003; Harma 2006; Zimberg et al. 2012). Stress is also a potential mechanism that could explain the increased risk of diabetes among shift workers (Eriksson et al. 2013; Harma, Kompier, et al. 2006). In addition, the increased risk of diabetes in shift work is supposed to mediate itself through body weight (Pan et al. 2011; Poulsen et al. 2014).

Recent research evaluating the association of shift work and type 2 diabetes are compiled in Tables 4 and 5.

Reference	Study design	Participants	Time period	Shift work definition	Control croup	Outcomes	Adjusted covariates	Results
Morikawa et al., 2005	Cohort of Japanese factory workers	2,860 men 228 2-shift workers, 492 3-shift workers	1993 to 2001	3-SW (counter clockwise continuous or discontinuous), 2-SW (day- or evening shifts)	1099 fixed daytime blue- collar workers and 1041 white-collar day workers	HbA1c ≥6.1 or DM diagnosed by a hospital physician	Age, BMI, family history, smoking, drinking, LTPA	A trend towards a higher risk of DM among shift workers and a significantly increased risk of DM among 2-shift workers
Karlsson et al., 2005	Retrospective study from a Swedish cohort in the pulp and paper industry, linked to the National Cause of Death Register	2,354	1952 to 2001	Mainly rotating three-shift schedule	3,088 day workers	Total mortality Mortality from coronary heart disease, stroke, and diabetes		A trend towards increasing mortality due to diabetes with an increasing number of shift years
Suwazono et al., 2009	Prospective cohort study in a Japanese steel company	7,104 men 2,885 shift workers	1991 to 2005	Determined from the payment ledger in May of each year. Clockwise rotation 3-SW	4,219 day workers	HbA1c ≥ 6.0%, DM (diagnosed by a hospital physician , Rx)	Age, BMI, drinking, smoking, exercise habits, blood pressure, total cholesterol, creatinine, ALT, GGT, UA	Alternating shift work is an independent risk factor for the development of DM

Table 4. Original studies on the association of shift work and type 2 diabetes risk.

Results	Rotating night shift work was associated with a modestly increased risk for T2D, partly mediated through body weight	Shift work (evening/night) associated with an increased risk for diabetes	DM risk increased with increasing duration of shift work exposure in early chronotypes, whereas late types had the highest risk when working daytime schedules
Adjusted covariates	Weight, smoking, drinking habits, physical activity, MP and Rx, family history of DM, diet, sleep, social status	Self-assessed LTPA, physical capacity, smoking, BMI	Weight, smoking, drinking habits, physical activity, MP and Rx, family history of DM, diet, sleep, depressive symptoms, social status
Outcomes	Self-reported T2D	Register information of DM diagnosis, diabetes-related chiropody care, blood glucose measurements or Rx	Newly developed T2D
Control croup	Women who reported no SW	Work entirely/partly during daytime	Intermediate chronotype
Shift work definition	Self-reported rotating night shifts (≥ 3 nights/month)	Working hours were self- reported	Shift work exposure assessed regularly since 1989 by questionnaire
Time period	1988 to 2005	2005 to 2012	2005 to 2011
Participants	69,269 women	7,305 women	64,615 women
Study design	Prospective cohorts of studies I and II of the Nurses' Health Study	Prospective observational cohort of health care workers, linked to the Danish National Diabetes Register	Prospective cohort of Nurses' Health study II
Reference	Pan et al., 2011	Poulsen et al., 2014	Vetter et al., 2015

ALT alanine aminotransferase, BMI body mass index, DM diabetes mellitus, DW Day work, GGT y-glutamyl transpeptidase, HbA1c glycated haemoglobin, LTPA leisure time physical activity, MP menopause, SW shift work, Rx pharmacologic treatment, T2D type 2 diabetes, UA uric acid.

Table 5. Rev	views on the associat	tion of shift wor l	k and type 2 diabetes risk.			
Reference	Type of review	Number of articles included	Shift work definition/schedules and control group	Source of exposure information	Outcomes	Results
Wang et al., 2011	Systematic and critical reviews and original studies published prior 2010	From 550 references 6 studies were included	Any work schedule involving unusual or irregular working hours as opposed to a normal daytime work	From original study methodological descriptions	DM, T2D, FS-glucose ≥7 mmol/l, Rx, mortality due to DM	Limited evidence (RCGP*) for the association between SW and DM
Knutsson and Kempe, 2014	Systematic review of epidemiologic cohort studies published until 1 Nov 2012	From 181 references 5 studies were included	Rotating SW/DW, rotating 3- shift, rotating night-shift, 2- shift, 3-shift, DW	From original study methodological descriptions	T2D, DM, HbA1c ≥6.1, OGTT, mortality due to DM	Moderate evidence (RCGP**) on an association between SW and T2D
Gan et al., 2015	Meta-analysis of observational studies to April 2014	28 references from 12 studies, 226,650 participants	SW schedules were classified according to the original study methodological description as rotating, irregular and unspecified, night, mixed and evening. Control group individuals who had never been exposed to shift work	From original study methodological descriptions	M	SW work was associated with an increased risk of DM compared to DW
DM diabetes	mellitus, DW daytime v	work, FS fasting se	rum, HbA1c glycated haemoglobin,	. OGTT oral glucose tolerance tes	st, RCGP Royal College of Ge	eneral Practitioners

three-star system for the assessment of the strength of evidence, Rx pharmacologic treatment, SW shift work, T2D type 2 diabetes.

Original studies

Morikawa et al. followed a cohort of Japanese male factory workers for 8 years. Compared to the fixed daytime workers there was a trend towards a higher risk of diabetes mellitus among shift workers overall. When the white-collar workers were used as a reference group, a significantly increased risk of diabetes mellitus was found for the 2-shift workers, but not for the 3-shift workers, nor the fixed daytime blue-collar workers. The authors concluded that the study suggested shift work was a risk factor for diabetes mellitus and that the risk is different for different shift schedules (Morikawa et al. 2005).

The abovementioned Swedish retrospective cohort study of Karlsson et al. revealed that diabetes was more common as the number of shift years of exposure increased. There was also a trend towards increasing mortality due to diabetes with an increasing number of shift years (Karlsson et al. 2005).

Suwazono et al. conducted a 14 year prospective Japanese male cohort study to assess the effect of shift work on glucose metabolism. Shift work was significantly associated with the various HbA1c endpoints. The authors concluded that alternating shift work is a consistent risk factor for impaired glucose metabolism among men (Suwazono et al. 2009).

Pan et al. explored two prospective cohorts in the Nurses' Health study and concluded that an extended period of rotating night shift work was associated with a modestly increased risk for type 2 diabetes in women. The risk appeared to be partly mediated through body weight (Pan et al. 2011).

To study lifestyle and working conditions with the risk of developing diabetes Poulsen et al. conducted a study by linking a cohort of female health care workers with the diabetes register. During a 7-year follow up, 3.5% of the participants developed diabetes that was associated with obesity, overweight, and age. In the occupational setting, obesity was associated with shift work (Poulsen et al. 2014).

Vetter et al. examined whether a mismatch between chronotype (i.e., preferred sleep timing) and work schedule is associated with T2D risk. In the Nurses' Health Study II, chronotype was queried with a single question on diurnal preference in 2009. The results showed increasing diabetes risk with increasing duration of shift work exposure in early chronotypes, whereas late types had the highest diabetes risk when working daytime schedules (Vetter et al. 2015).

Reviews

Wang et al. explored the epidemiological evidence for an association between shift work and chronic diseases. Based on the fact that there have been several studies but only one which reported a statistically significant elevated risk of diabetes among shift workers, the authors found the epidemiologic evidence to be limited for an association between shift work and diabetes (X. S. Wang et al. 2011).

Knutsson and Kempe studied the potential association between shift work and type 2 diabetes. Five articles of epidemiological cohort studies with relevant exposure and outcome information as well as adequate participants were included in the review. In spite of the low number of studies and low methodological quality in some studies, the authors concluded that there is moderate evidence for an association between shift work and type 2 diabetes (Knutsson and Kempe 2014).

In the meta-analysis of Gan et al. all shift work schedules with the exception of mixed shifts and evening shifts were associated with an increased risk of diabetes compared to normal daytime work. The risk was significantly higher among men than women and in the rotating shift work group. In his letter, Rahman Shiri pointed out some potential biases in the results relating to gender difference i.e. study size, selection and exposure (Shiri 2014). The authors, however, responded that these defects did not alter the main results and conclusions of their study (Gan et al. 2015).

In summary, original studies suggest an increased risk of diabetes among blue-collar men in 2-shift work and alternating shift work. Among men, diabetes seems to be more common as the number of shift years of exposure increases and there is also a trend towards an increased risk of death due to diabetes along with increasing years of shift work. Among women, rotating night shift work has been associated with the risk of diabetes, partly mediating through body weight. Chronotype probably modifies some results. From the review studies, the evidence for a causal association between shift work and type 2 diabetes is inconclusive. However, the most recent meta-analysis supported the association, which was higher among men and stronger for rotating shift work.

2.3.3 Shift work and metabolic syndrome

By disturbing sleep and our natural biological bodily rhythms as well as increasing psychosocial stress, shift work predisposes individuals to physiological disturbances related to metabolic syndrome.

36
Original studies

In a population-based prospective study, a total of 1,529 male employees were followed for 6.6 years with respect to the onset of the MetS and its separate components. The MetS (modified IDF criteria) incidence rate among 309 shift workers was increased in comparison with day workers. The risk for the development of MetS gradually increased with accumulated years of shift work. Rotating shift work had an impact on each of the individual components of MetS, as well (De Bacquer et al. 2009).

A retrospective cohort study on the development of metabolic syndrome was conducted by Lin et al. utilizing health examination records of 387 female employees without metabolic syndrome at baseline. The female workers with persistent day-night rotating shift-work exposure had a 3.5-fold greater risk of developing MetS (modified NCEP-ATPIII criteria) compared with those having a persistent day job (Y. C. Lin et al. 2009).

Pietroiusti et al. studied the development of metabolic syndrome among 402 male and female nurses performing night shifts and 336 daytime workers. During a 4-year follow-up, the development of MetS was significantly higher in night-shift healthcare workers than in daytime healthcare workers. The authors concluded that the risk of developing NCEP-ATPIII defined MetS is strongly associated with night-shift work in nurses (Pietroiusti et al. 2010).

Kawada et al. conducted a 3-year follow-up study of an occupational cohort of 1,677 Japanese male employees to clarify the effect of the type of shift work on the risk of development of NCEP-ATPIII defined MetS. The results suggested that 2-shift work, but not 3-shift work, was a risk factor for the development of metabolic syndrome (Kawada and Otsuka 2014).

In a recent Chinese cohort of retired workers (n=26,382), NCEP-ATPIII defined metabolic syndrome associated with shift work exposure of 11 years or more. Among female workers, every 10-year increase in shift work exposure was associated with a 10% elevated OR of MetS (Guo et al. 2015).

Reviews

Canuto et al. included ten original articles in their review to examine the association between shift work and metabolic syndrome. When the demographic, socioeconomic and behavioural variables as confounders were taken into account, there was insufficient evidence for any association between shift work and prevalent MetS (Canuto et al. 2013). Wang et al. studied the association between the risk of MetS and night shift work and summarized all the published epidemiological studies with special reference to the dose–response relationship. The authors concluded that the results suggested that night shift work is significantly associated with the risk of MetS with a positive dose–response relationship (F. Wang et al. 2014).

In summary, retrospective and prospective large cohort studies as well as longitudinal smaller studies suggest that among both genders metabolic syndrome associates with shift work and there is a dose-response trend.

The reviews show limited evidence for an association between shift work and MetS, apart from night shift work.

2.3.4 Shift work induced sleep problems and related health effects

The most common health-related effects of shift work are disturbed and shortened sleep. Shift work affects sleep causing desynchronization of the sleep–wake cycle from the normal circadian rhythm when working hours overlap the natural sleep period (circadian disruption). In addition, shift work is often accompanied by reduced sleeping hours (sleep loss) (Akerstedt 2003; Akerstedt and Wright 2009). The subjective ratings have shown a significant difference between morning, afternoon and night shifts for sleep length, ease of falling asleep, ease of awakening, too early awakening, and being well rested. Sleep after a night shift and before a morning shift is reduced by 2–4 hours (Akerstedt et al. 1991; Torsvall et al. 1989). After a night shift, acute symptoms are associated with premature awakening and somnolence during working hours that continues into successive days off (Akerstedt 2003). Apart from reduced length, sleep before the morning shift seems to be associated with difficulties in getting to sleep and in awakening, non-spontaneous awakening and a decreased feeling of being well rested. The afternoon shift is the least afflicted of the three shifts (Akerstedt et al. 1991).

Circadian disruption is the central mechanism connecting shift work to ill health (Akerstedt 2003), it causes shift work sleep disorder and a disruption of the circadian rhythms of many nutritional, cardiovascular, immunological, and metabolic functions. Insufficient or poor sleep, related to insufficient recovery, can be a pathway from shift work to cardiovascular illness (Harma 2006). Subjects exposed to sleep restriction have shown an increased activation of the stress response systems (Mullington et al. 2010; Patel et al. 2009; Spiegel et al. 1999; van Leeuwen et al. 2009). The plausible physiological and biological mechanisms of circadian disruption and shortened or disturbed sleep in shift work have been related to the activation of the autonomic nervous system, inflammation, changes in lipid and glucose metabolism, and related changes in the risk for metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and atherosclerosis (Zimberg et al. 2012).

Obesity

Sleep deficiency and chronic stress related to circadian disruption, can affect the body's endogenous signals and thereby contribute to failures in the homeostatic control of food intake. Short sleep duration is associated with decreased leptin levels, increased ghrelin levels, and increased hunger and appetite (Lowden et al. 2010). Many systematic reviews and meta-analyses have suggested that short sleep duration may be a novel and independent risk factor for weight gain and obesity (Bayon et al. 2014; Cappuccio et al. 2008; Patel and Hu 2008; Van Cauter and Knutson 2008). Magee and Hale performed a systematic literature search to examine the relationship between sleep duration and subsequent weight gain. Twenty longitudinal studies published from 2004 to October 2010 revealed that while shorter sleep duration consistently predicted subsequent weight gain in children, the relationship was not clear in adults probably due to the limitations of the studies (Magee and Hale 2012). However, several cross-sectional studies have reported a U-shaped association between sleep duration and weight in adults with the lowest BMI associated with a sleep duration of 7–8 hours (Chaput et al. 2007; Gangwisch et al. 2005; Taheri et al. 2004). In an experimental sleep restriction study among 225 healthy adults, sleep-restricted subjects gained more weight than control subjects, and men gained more weight than women. Sleep-restricted subjects also consumed extra calories during days with a delayed bedtime compared with control subjects (Spaeth et al. 2013). St-Onge examined the literature focusing on adult clinical studies to determine if alterations in sleep duration lead to changes in the energy balance equation. The studies showed a clear pattern of increased food intake during periods of restricted sleep (St-Onge 2013). Antunes et al. summarized the chronobiologic aspects of shift work and obesity in their literature review. Their conclusion was that there is considerable epidemiologic evidence that shift work is associated with an increased risk for obesity, diabetes and CVD, perhaps as a result of physiological maladaptation to chronically sleeping and eating at abnormal circadian times (Antunes et al. 2010).

Glucose metabolism

Sleep deficit and sleep disturbances, typical in shift work, could contribute to the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes either directly by having a deleterious effect on components of glucose regulation or indirectly via a dysregulation of appetite (Spiegel et al. 2005). Daily patterns of energy expenditure, hormones, and lipids involved in energy metabolism (e.g., leptin, ghrelin, glucose, insulin, glucocorticoids, catecholamines, fatty acids, triglycerides) are regulated by sleep and circadian rhythms. Sleep deficiencies and circadian disruption associated with metabolic dysregulation may contribute to weight gain, obesity, and type 2 diabetes potentially by altering the timing and amount of food intake,

disrupting energy balance, impairing glucose tolerance, and insulin sensitivity (Depner et al. 2014; St-Onge 2013; Van Cauter et al. 2007).

In an experimental study of 11 healthy young men glucose tolerance was lower, evening cortisol concentrations raised, and the activity of the sympathetic nervous system increased in sleep-debt conditions. The authors stated that sleep debt has a harmful impact on carbohydrate metabolism and endocrine function, similar to those seen in normal ageing (Spiegel et al. 1999).

A recent review (Briancon-Marjollet et al. 2015) provides endocrine and molecular explanations for the associations between short sleep and circadian rhythm disruption with the pathogenesis of T2D. The authors conclude that the most likely mediators are the activation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis with increased circulating cortisol levels, misalignment between the central and peripheral pacemakers, enhanced lipolysis and modified adipokine release in adipose tissue, sympathetic nervous system activation, and the induction of a whole-body proinflammatory state. Disruption of circadian rhythms (e.g. in shift work and sleep loss) may also contribute to β -cell failure, essential for the development of type 2 diabetes (Rakshit et al. 2014).

Inflammation

It has been suggested that sleep loss itself may contribute to inflammation and, if chronic, to cardiovascular risk. Sleep loss may be one of the ways that inflammatory processes are activated and contribute to the association of sleep complaints and short sleep duration with the cardiovascular morbidity observed in epidemiologic surveys. In experimental studies both acute total and short-term partial sleep deprivation have resulted in elevated high-sensitivity CRP concentrations (Meier-Ewert et al. 2004). Sleep restriction has increased lymphocyte activation and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines accompanied by increased heart rate and serum CRP, which are two important risk factors for cardiovascular diseases (van Leeuwen et al. 2009). An experimental study suggested that the circadian misalignment that occurs in shift work may increase diabetes risk and inflammation probably independently of sleep loss. In spite of an identical amount of daily sleep, the reduction in insulin sensitivity and the increase in inflammation doubled among participants exposed to experimental circadian misalignment, compared with those who maintained regular nocturnal bedtimes (Leproult et al. 2014).

Autonomic nervous system response

Heart rate and heart rate variability reflect cardiac sympathic/parasympathic balance. Epidemiological studies have confirmed an elevated resting heart rate as an independent predictor of cardiovascular

mortality (Caetano and Delgado Alves 2015), and reduced heart rate variability has long been associated with risk for cardiac events (Tsuji et al. 1996). The autonomic nervous system is modulated by sleep and wakefulness. In experimental studies prolonged wakefulness reduced heart rate variability among healthy young men (Glos et al. 2014) and after multiple nights of short sleep heart rate increased (van Leeuwen et al. 2009), both indicating autonomic stress due to sleep deprivation. In an experimental study, heart rate variability parameters differed significantly between shift and non-shift workers despite the circadian phase. The authors concluded that this probably reflects higher sympathetic and/or lower parasympathetic activity among the shift workers, which may contribute to increased cardiovascular risk (Wehrens et al. 2012).

Ageing

Sleep quality changes across the human life span (Ohayon et al. 2004). Poor sleep quality is a temporary consequence of shift work for many, whereas for others it is a cause of shift work intolerance (Tucker et al. 2011). Epidemiologic studies indicate that 40–70% of the elderly population suffer from chronic sleep disturbances (Van Someren 2000) e.g. primary sleep disorders, insomnia, and circadian rhythm disturbance (Roepke and Ancoli-Israel 2010). Sleep complaints among shift workers increase with age and sleep becomes less consolidated. Tolerance to shift work is affected, for instance, by age and chronotype (morningness) (Saksvik et al. 2011). Ageing is associated with increased "morningness" and seems to increase sleepiness along with consecutive night shifts due to an insufficient circadian adjustment (Harma et al. 1994). Based on questionnaires the critical age for developing disturbances in sleep and wakefulness is on average 40–50 years (Harma et al. 1992; Koller 1983). In a cohort study of 3,236 wage earners and retired workers, age resulted in a continuously increasing frequency of sleep disturbances, which peaked at 52 years and then decreased, suggesting a 'retirement effect'. Current and past shift workers reported more problems with falling asleep and early awakening than subjects who had never worked in shifts (Marquie and Foret 1999). In their systematic review, Blok and Looze deduced when compared to younger workers, older workers have more sleep problems with night shifts, while the opposite is true for morning shifts. The review revealed limited evidence concerning shift work tolerance in older workers. In view of some interactions between age, shift type and shift system, the authors concluded that age-specific aspects should be considered in shift work planning (Blok and de Looze 2011).

2.3.5 Shift work and lifestyle habits

Shift work may alter employees' lifestyles in many ways. Shift workers' health habits are irregular compared to those of day workers. The review of Boggild and Knutsson revealed that shift workers smoked more than day-workers. They were already smokers when they began to do shift work (Boggild and Knutsson 1999). On the other hand, shift work or irregular working hours may predispose employees to

41

unhealthy lifestyle habits (Johansson et al. 1991; Nea et al. 2015). Shift working also includes elements of work stress (Puttonen et al. 2010), and work-related stress, in turn, has been associated with unhealthy living habits especially smoking, alcohol consumption, physical inactivity, and being overweight (Heikkila et al. 2013; Nyberg et al. 2013; Siegrist and Rodel 2006). The evidence for a relationship between shift work and physical inactivity is inconclusive. Recreational inactivity has been associated with current night shift work when compared to never night shift workers among men (Peplonska et al. 2014). However, some studies have found shift workers' lifestyle even less sedentary when compared to daytime workers (Loprinzi 2015; Ma et al. 2011).

Factors that affect the metabolism may be linked to quality of diet and irregular timing of eating. The review of Lowden et al. evaluated the results of shift workers' dietary intake studies and discovered that total energy intake does not vary between day and shift workers. However, shift working affects the amount eaten, the quality of the dietary intake, and energy distribution over the course of the day. In addition to the endogenous factors underlying failed homeostatic control of food intake, there are a range of possible exogenous e.g. social contributors (Lowden et al. 2010).

Shift work can change food timing and healthy dietary habits can be difficult to maintain, especially if the facilities for eating outside the normal working hours are not well organized and healthy food choices are not available. Food and nutrient intake differences between working time groups were studied by Hemiö et al. using sub-data from the health check-up study of this dissertation. Shift work and working environment were associated with dietary habits, and this association was not explained by other characteristics such as workers' educational levels. Shift working men consumed less vegetables and fruits than male day and inflight workers. In women, higher energy intake from saturated fats was found among shift workers and from fat and saturated fat among older shift workers, compared to day workers (Hemio et al. 2015).

2.3.6 Methodologic issues in shift work research

Selection bias, confounders and mediators, as well as exposure assessment are methodological problems in shift work research. Working conditions and exposure may differ between shift and day workers in terms of risk factors for CVD (e.g. cardiotoxic chemicals, environmental smoke, sedentary surveillance work). Shift workers often differ from day workers also in socioeconomic status, educational level, and lifestyle habits, all of which are associated with the risk of CVD. Age is a major risk factor for CVD, and shift workers are in general younger than day workers, as shift workers change to day work for different reasons (e.g. sleep, health, "reward").

Selection

Selection into and out of shift work is an important methodological problem in shift work research and difficult to take into account as the reasons for selection are not known. Compared to day workers those who self-select working in shifts probably have different sleeping habits and other individual factors which may mediate CVD risk. In the abovementioned cohort study of Marquié and Foret, sleeping problems peaked at the age of 52 years and then decreased. The authors deduced that a selection process excludes workers who are no longer able to cope with the demands of shift work (Marquie and Foret 1999).

Kivimäki et al. followed a cohort of female nurses (5,038 shift workers, 1,999 day workers) for 2 to 4 years. Prevalent CVD, elevated blood pressure, high cholesterol concentration, obesity, and diabetes at baseline were equally predictive of leaving the organization among both the shift and day workers. The authors concluded that health-related selection out of shift work is an unlikely source of major bias in research on shift work and CVD (Kivimaki et al. 2006).

Yong et al. studied if the differences in health behaviour and health outcomes of shift and day workers can be caused by primary selection. The findings among 4,754 male trainees who had finished their professional training and started their careers in a chemical company (28% in rotating shift work and the rest in day work) did not support a primary selection in favour of shift workers. An impact of shift work on the risk profile of cardiovascular diseases was not indicated in the three-year observation period (Yong et al. 2015).

Nabe-Nielsen et al. examined differences between future shift workers and future day workers as regards cardiovascular risk factors. Compared with future day workers, fixed evening or fixed night workers already smoked more before they began shift work. Being an ex-smoker was significantly associated with 2- or 3-shift work including night work. The authors concluded that smoking status should not solely be treated as a mediator between some variants of shift work schedules and cardiovascular diseases but should also be considered to be a confounder (Nabe-Nielsen et al. 2008).

Exposure assessment

A limitation of epidemiological shift work studies are their poor exposure assessments. The International Agency for Research on Cancer convened a workshop in April 2009 to consider how 'shift work' should be assessed. The major domains of a shift and shift schedule that are important to capture are: (1) shift system (start time of shift, number of hours per day, rotating or permanent, speed and direction of a rotating system, regular or irregular); (2) years on a particular non-day shift schedule and cumulative exposure to the shift system over the subject's working life; (3) shift intensity (time off between successive work days

on the shift schedule). These domains are based in part on the biological considerations that adaptation can occur more quickly after a phase delay than a phase advance (Stevens et al. 2011).

However, questionnaire or interview-based data on working hours provide only crude information which makes exposure measurements also an important source of bias for systematic reviews. Objective, register-based exposure assessment methods to clarify the effects of shift work on chronic diseases are needed. A method to retrieve standard payroll data for working hours from an employer's electronic records has recently been developed and validated (Harma et al. 2015).

2.4 Prevention of cardiovascular risk

CVD prevention is defined as a co-ordinated set of actions aimed at eradicating, eliminating, or minimizing the impact of cardiovascular diseases and their related disability. The epidemiologist Geoffrey Rose decades ago proposed two approaches towards the prevention of CVD; the population strategy and the high-risk strategy. The population strategy aims at reducing the CVD incidence at the population level through lifestyle and environmental changes targeted at the population at large. In the high-risk approach, preventive measures are aimed at reducing risk factor levels in those at the highest risk (Rose 1981). The World Health Organization has stated that over three-quarters of all CVD mortality may be prevented by adequate changes in lifestyle. The 2012 guidelines from the Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice give an update of the present knowledge in preventive cardiology for physicians and other health workers (Perk et al. 2012).

2.4.1 Concept of prevention

In the 1940s, Leavell and Clark coined the term 'primary prevention' and later expanded the levels to include secondary and tertiary prevention (Leavell and Clark 1965). The dictionary of epidemiology edited by John M. Last (Last 1995) describes prevention as 'promoting and preserving health, restoring health when it is impaired, and minimizing suffering and distress'. Primary prevention can be defined as the protection of health by personal and communitywide effects, e.g., preserving good nutritional status, physical fitness, and emotional well-being, immunizing against diseases, and making the environment safe. Secondary prevention can be defined as the measures available to individual and populations for the early detection and prompt and effective intervention to correct departures from good health. Tertiary prevention consists of the measures available to reduce or eliminate long-term impairments and disabilities, extending the concept of prevention into the field of rehabilitation.

Work place health programmes usually not only focus on disease prevention but also on health promotion (Fronstin 1996). Health promotion is a more comprehensive process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health to reach a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being ("First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986"). Health promotion is not just the responsibility of the health sector, but goes beyond a healthy lifestyle to well-being. 'To make the healthy choice the easy one', is the famous slogan the Ottawa conference uses to call for health considerations to be taken into account in policy-making across sectors and society at large (Puska 2014).

Primary prevention addresses the root cause of a disease whereas secondary prevention aims to detect and treat a disease early on. Screening of risk factors (e.g. blood glucose) in a health check-up is a method of primary prevention, but also secondary prevention in detecting a latent existing disease (e.g. type 2 diabetes) prior to the appearance of symptoms. In this thesis, the methods of preventing cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in occupational settings include screening for risk factors, lifestyle counselling, and recommendations for healthy working times and thus they mostly belong to the category of primary prevention.

2.4.2 Prevention of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes

As cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes share common risk factors including metabolic syndrome, initiatives to screen and prevent CVD and T2D support each other. The most common avoidable lifestyle risk factors obesity, a sedentary lifestyle and unhealthy diet predispose to type 2 diabetes (Hu et al. 2003; Lindstrom, Peltonen, et al. 2006; "World Health Organisation " 2003). Gradual weight gain during the adult years, especially abdominal obesity increases the risk of obesity-related metabolic disorders, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome, both related to cardiovascular morbidity. Smoking is a strong independent risk factor for CVD but is also associated with increased risk for T2D (Barrett-Connor and Khaw 1989; Canoy et al. 2005; Willi et al. 2007) and thus lifestyle counselling to support quitting smoking is important in preventing both CVD and T2D. Circadian disruption and the duration and quality of sleep also affect metabolic health and are associated with the risk of cardiometabolic diseases (Harma 2006; Knutson et al. 2006).

2.4.2.1 Lifestyle counselling

Intensive lifestyle interventions in experimental settings reduce T2D among high risk individuals (Li et al. 2008; Lindstrom, Ilanne-Parikka, et al. 2006; Lindstrom et al. 2013; J. Tuomilehto et al. 2001; J. Tuomilehto et al. 2011). Even less intensive methods of counselling individuals at high risk for diabetes have been

demonstrated to be feasible, though not as effective in real-life settings (Absetz et al. 2009; Laatikainen et al. 2007; Saaristo et al. 2010).

In clinical practice cognitive-behavioural methods are effective in supporting individuals in adopting a healthy lifestyle. Individualized counselling is the basis for evoking and gaining the patient's motivation and commitment. Health technology methods, telemedicine and e-health have been shown to be effective for type 2 diabetes patients in providing them with education and awareness of their well-being and assisting them in their weight management and blood glucose level control (Jalil et al. 2015). Moving forward in small, consecutive steps is one of the key points in changing long-term behaviour. Multimodal behavioural interventions are especially recommended for individuals at very high risk (Perk et al. 2012).

In the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study, none of the high-risk individuals with impaired glucose tolerance developed diabetes during the initial trial period if they reached at least four of the five predefined lifestyle targets (weight loss >5%, intake of fat, 30% energy, intake of saturated fats, 10% energy, increase of dietary fiber to \geq 15 g/1,000 kcal, and increase of physical activity to at least 4 h/week) (J. Tuomilehto et al. 2001). Beneficial lifestyle changes were maintained after the discontinuation of the intervention. During the 7-year follow-up, the incidences of T2D were 4.3 and 7.4 per 100 person-years in the intervention and control group, respectively, indicating a 43% reduction in relative risk (Lindstrom, Ilanne-Parikka, et al. 2006). After the 10-year follow-up, however, total mortality and cardiovascular morbidity did not differ significantly between the intervention and control groups, according to the authors probably due to insufficient statistical power to detect small differences between the groups (Uusitupa et al. 2009).

The review of Sanz et al. aimed to assess the effect of exercise on the prevention of type 2 diabetes in highrisk individuals. They found strong evidence that physical exercise can prevent or delay the progression of impaired glucose tolerance to type 2 diabetes. The authors concluded that physical exercise should be part of any therapeutic strategy to slow the development of type 2 diabetes in high-risk individuals. However, the need for strong coaching to make people change their lifestyles may be the main limitation for implementing prevention trials in the general population (Sanz et al. 2010).

Tuomilehto et al. state in their paper that the trials documented thus far have provided a good basis, but there is a lot to do to find the most effective methods for type 2 diabetes prevention in various societies and cultural settings. The most important issue, however, is to implement and evaluate community-based efforts aimed at preventing type 2 diabetes. However, this cannot be done without actual programmes implemented in real-life settings (J. Tuomilehto et al. 2011).

Based on the results of the DPS, a nationwide programme for the prevention of type 2 diabetes was launched in Finland as part of the Finnish National Diabetes Program (DEHKO 2000–2010). The implementation project of the programme, called FIN-D2D, was carried out during 2003–2008 in primary and occupational health care within five hospital districts, encompassing 1.5 million people (Saaristo et al. 2007). One of the goals of the programme was to raise awareness of diabetes and its risk factors in the whole population. The structured questionnaire mailed in 2004–2008 to a random population sample included questions on participants' sociodemographic background, medical history, health habits, and recent lifestyle changes as well as their awareness of the DEHKO programme. Data from the surveys (n=10,831) suggested that health promotion campaigns increase the population's awareness about the prevention of chronic diseases and as a result, especially men may be prompted to make beneficial lifestyle changes (Wikstrom et al. 2015).

In their review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials, Galani and Schneider evaluated lifestyle interventions in the prevention and treatment of obesity. A subgroup analysis was performed in overweight people with cardiovascular risk factors. Compared with standard care, lifestyle intervention significantly reduced weight, BMI, waist circumference, blood pressure, blood lipids and blood glucose among overweight and obese people and the favourable effects were maintained for up to three years (Galani and Schneider 2007).

The systematic review of Lin et al. revealed that intensive diet and physical activity behavioural counselling in persons with risk factors for cardiovascular disease resulted in consistent improvements across various important intermediate health outcomes (weight, BP, lipids, glucose, diabetes risk) up to 2 years (J. S. Lin et al. 2014).

In summary, intensive lifestyle interventions in experimental settings effectively reduce T2D among high risk individuals. Also, intensive interventions targeted at populations with an elevated risk for CVD have been profitable. Individualized counselling in small, consecutive steps using multimodal, cognitive-behavioural methods is recommended for individuals at high risk. Health technology methods may be helpful and effective in counselling. However, the need for strong coaching to make people change their lifestyles may be the main limitation to implementing prevention trials for the general population. Implementing and evaluating community-based efforts for prevention cannot be done without actual programmes in real-life settings.

2.4.3 Prevention of cardiovascular risk and type 2 diabetes in shift work

The paper of Giovanni Costa (Costa 2010) gives an overview of the problems to be tackled by occupational health care to protect shift workers' health and well-being. He states that appropriate interventions for the organization of shift schedules according to ergonomic criteria and careful health surveillance are important preventive measures that allow people to keep working without significant health impairment.

Mikko Härmä states in his review article (Harma 2006) that the most promising worktime-related means for decreasing the negative health effects of workhours would be to regulate overtime and excessive workhours, to increase individual worktime control, and to increase recovery by the introduction of sleep-promoting principles into shift rotation.

In their commentary on the study of Pan et al. (Pan et al. 2011) exploring the association between type 2 diabetes and rotating night shift work, Axelsson and Puttonen presented strategies to reduce health risks among shift workers. They stated that first of all, organizations should acknowledge that shift work is a metabolic risk factor and actively use strategies to improve shift-workers' life-styles. The use of ergonomic working schedules should be adopted more widely and health screening and regular health check-ups for individuals who may be vulnerable to shift work or its health effects are needed. Also, shift-workers need to be educated to cope better with shift-work (eating, sleeping and exercising) and the use of countermeasures (for instance naps) should be widened (Axelsson and Puttonen 2012).

2.4.3.1 Shift schedule design

The arrangement of working hours has become a crucial factor in work organizations to prevent or reduce the health problems caused by shift work. There is no ideal shift system, and guides for shift work design have been published even by labour unions ("Unite guide to shift work and night work – a health and safety issue for Unite members" 2013). To design a tailor-made shift system, a compromise has to be found between the company's goals, the workers' wishes and relevant ergonomic recommendations.

In their review, Knauth and Hornberger present twenty ergonomic recommendations which may help to improve existing shift systems, involving the sequence of shifts, the duration, distribution, and position of working time, as well as the short-term deviations from the set shift system. Permanent night work, consecutive night shifts more than three, extension of shifts to 10 or 12+ hours, and very early morning shifts, for instance, are working situations which may result in sleep deficit and increase the risk of fatigue. On the other hand, adequate time off between shifts, forward rotation of shift schedules and the possibility

for individual flexibility in working times may help cope with shift work. The authors suggest trying combinations of measures to reduce the psychological, social and health problems of shift workers (Knauth and Hornberger 2003).

Circadian adjustment to night work in rotating shift systems may not be desirable, and the choice of especially rapid forward-rotating shift systems seems to give the fastest recovery in relation to both sleep– wakefulness and the possibilities to utilize the days off after night shifts in social and family life. In irregular shift systems, the avoidance of quick returns and early morning and night shifts are related to longer night sleep and improved possibilities for daytime napping (Harma 2006).

In their review, Sallinen and Kecklund examined what level of research evidence is available to support that shift workers' sleep-wake disturbances can be minimized through ergonomic shift scheduling. The results of the observational studies, in which no changes to the shift system were made, showed that irrespective of the shift system, night and early-morning shifts, quick returns, very long shifts (>16 hours) and extremely long weekly working hours (>55 hours) are associated with short sleep and increased sleepiness. Intervention studies, mostly non-randomized and conducted in regular 3-shift systems, suggested that a change from slowly backward rotating shifts to rapidly forward-rotating shifts was advantageous for alertness and, to some degree, for sleep. The authors concluded that the level of research evidence for ergonomic recommendations on improving shift schedules is degraded by the lack of controlled intervention studies as well as the lack of observational studies comparing different shift systems, and additionally, by the poor methodological integrity of studies (Sallinen and Kecklund 2010).

Orth-Gomer was probably the first, and one of the few researchers who have conducted controlled intervention study to assess the effect of the change of shift rotation on coronary risk factors and to subjective well-being and sleep. Forty-five policemen worked 4 weeks each on their customary schedule with counter-clockwise rotation and on a new schedule with clockwise rotation. During the clockwise rotation of the shift schedule, their serum levels of triglycerides and glucose, systolic blood pressure and urinary excretion of catecholamines decreased and they reported longer and better sleep as compared to working on their old shift schedule with counter-clockwise rotation. The author concluded that adapting shift rotation to biological circadian rhythms has a favourable short-term effect, not only on subjective wellbeing but also on risk factors for ischemic heart disease (Orth-Gomer 1983).

Boggild and Jeppesen studied the effect of introducing regularity, few consecutive night shifts, more weekends off, and only 2 different types of shifts (day-evening or day-night) into shift scheduling on

biomarkers of heart disease. After a 6-month follow-up, lipids and lipoproteins of the test individual changed favourably. The study suggested that scheduling based on ergonomic criteria is a possible means for reducing the risk of heart disease among shift workers (Boggild and Jeppesen 2001).

An intervention study by Hakola and Härmä explored the effect of a change in the speed and direction of shift rotation on the sleep and wakefulness of younger and older workers. A continuous three-shift schedule was changed from a slow backward rotating to a fast forward rotating system. Sleep problems decreased and alertness increased during the morning shifts. Among older workers both the subjective and objective quality of sleep improved indicating that a fast forward rotating shift schedule is more suitable for older workers than a slower backward rotating system (Hakola and Harma 2001). A controlled intervention study in Finnair maintenance confirmed these findings, the change from a slower backward to a very rapidly forward rotating shift system had positive effects on the sleep, alertness and well-being of especially the older shift workers (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006).

In the study of Klein Hesselink et al., the changes in the roster were threefold: (1) from backward to forward rotating; (2) from three to two consecutive shifts; (3) the number of days off after the night shifts was changed from two to three. In the first year, absenteeism decreased and health indicators, such as fatigue decreased. The results were significantly more positive for the shift workers compared with day workers and older workers benefited more (Klein Hesselink et al. 2010).

Eldevik et al. found a significant positive association between quick returns (<11 hours off work between work shifts) and insomnia, excessive sleepiness, excessive fatigue and shift work disorder among Norwegian nurses (Eldevik et al. 2013). A longitudinal study on the same group of nurses conducted by Flo et al. revealed that quick returns increased the risk of shift work disorders and pathological fatigue and reducing the number of quick returns was related to a reduced risk of developing pathological fatigue (Flo et al. 2014).

An intervention study among female nurses (Jarvelin-Pasanen et al. 2013) demonstrated that the recovery of the autonomic nervous system from shift work can be promoted by the implementation of ergonomic recommendations. The main alteration was from backward to forward rotation, which was implemented by reducing quick returns. The heart rate variability parameters reflected increased parasympathetic activation and autonomic nervous system recovery.

In summary, means for decreasing the negative health effects of workhours include regulating overtime and excessive workhours, and increasing recovery by the introduction of sleep-promoting principles into shift rotation. The avoidance of quick returns and early morning shifts and night shifts, favouring the forward rotation of shift schedule and increasing possibilities for individual worktime control are measures that can be used to reduce the psychological, social and health problems of shift workers. Ergonomic recommendations with age-specific solutions on improving shift schedules help individuals to cope with shift work.

2.4.3.2 Workplace health promotion

The effectiveness of 31 lifestyle-focused random controlled intervention studies at workplaces on reducing the risk factors of cardiovascular disease summarized by Groeneveld et al. was inconsistent. Strong evidence was found for a positive effect on body fat and among populations 'at risk' on their body weights. There was no evidence for the effectiveness of interventions on physical activity, dietary factors, blood pressure, blood lipids and/or blood glucose. The authors concluded that intensive interventions targeted at populations with an elevated risk for CVD were the most profitable, whereas supervised exercise interventions appeared to be the least effective intervention strategy (Groeneveld et al. 2010).

The Balance@Work project in the Netherland aimed to develop, evaluate, and implement an occupational health guideline for the prevention of weight gain. The project did not improve employees' physical activity or body weight-related outcomes at a 6-month follow-up (Verweij et al. 2012). Based on 18-month follow-up data, the guideline was not effective in preventing weight gain, reducing CVD risk factors, or improving quality of life. Neither was the occupational health care guideline cost-effective (van Wier et al. 2013). The authors concluded that it may be worth evaluating an adapted, more intensive form of the guideline among high risk groups and more attention should be paid to maximizing attendance and satisfaction rates in order to improve their effects (Verweij et al. 2013).

The critical review by Neil-Sztramko et al. aimed to synthesize interventions that have been implemented among shift workers to reduce the chronic health effects of shift work. The studies were grouped into four intervention types: (1) shift schedule; (2) light exposure; (3) behavioural; (4) pharmacological. Several types of interventions had positive overall effects on chronic disease outcomes. There was, however, substantial heterogeneity among studies with respect to study sample, interventions, and outcomes. The findings suggested, that there is no "one size fits all" solution. Lifestyle habits may not improve spontaneously among shift workers as a result of e.g. shift schedule changes. Comprehensive, evidence-based approaches that include best practices in shift scheduling, a range of options to control exposure to light and dark,

support for physical activity and healthy eating, as well as pharmacological agents, except for hypnotics, may be the best ways to improve health. The authors concluded that there is a need for further highquality, workplace-based prevention research to be conducted among shift workers (Neil-Sztramko et al. 2014).

Schröer et.al. summarized the evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses, published from August 2006 to March 2012, of the effectiveness of different workplace health interventions for promoting healthy lifestyles, preventing diseases and reducing health care costs. Three systematic reviews found beneficial effects of workplace nutrition interventions on employees' dietary behaviour and three reviews found multi-component physical activity interventions to be effective in increasing employees' physical activity and fitness. The conclusion was that workplace health promotion interventions may improve physical activity, dietary behaviour and healthy weight and the best evidence is available for multi-component interventions (Schroer et al. 2014).

The systematic review of Montano et al. included 39 original papers of organisational-level workplace intervention studies at the primary prevention level, published between 1993 and 2012. Success rates were higher among more comprehensive interventions tackling material, organizational and work-time related conditions simultaneously. The median of follow-up times was one year. About half of the studies reported statistically significant intervention effects on health-related outcomes. The interventions focused mostly on burnout, absenteeism, musculoskeletal disorders, and depressive symptoms. Only two studies reported improvements in CVD outcomes (IHD and blood pressure) and one in sleep (Montano et al. 2014).

Nabe-Nielsen et al. investigated cross-sectional questionnaire data from 7,555 employees (2,064 shift workers) in Denmark to assess whether workplace health promotion reaches shift workers to the same extent as it reaches day workers. Information on the availability of and participation in workplace health promotion, as well as, on working hours, psychosocial work factors, and health behaviours were analysed. The study could not confirm that shift workers in general report a lower availability of and participation in workplace health promotion compared to day workers (Nabe-Nielsen et al. 2015).

New fatigue risk management regulations within the aviation industry (Gander et al. 2011) have forced it to develop educational programmes for flight crew members to help them cope with their irregular work schedules and accompanying circadian disruption. Van Drongelen et al. evaluated an mHealth intervention, using mobile technology, consisted of tailored advice regarding exposure to daylight, sleep, physical activity, and nutrition among 502 airline pilots. After six months, the intervention group showed significant

improvements in levels of fatigue, sleep quality, strenuous physical activity, and snacking behaviour compared to the control group (van Drongelen et al. 2014).

In summary, when it comes to workplace health promotion, the best evidence is available for multicomponent comprehensive interventions. The most profitable were intensive interventions targeted at populations with an elevated risk for CVD. New mobile technologies may be helpful for certain occupations. There is a need for further high-quality, workplace-based prevention research to be conducted among shift workers.

3. The aims of the study

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the screening and prevention of CVD risk factors and type 2 diabetes among the employees with varied working times in a large airline company. First, the effects of shift work and different shift systems on sleep-wakefulness and cardiovascular risk factors were studied. Second, the feasibility of risk screening and the effectiveness of lifestyle counselling on type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors along with health check-ups were investigated.

The specific aims of the study were

- to assess risk factors of cardiovascular disease and risk of type 2 diabetes among airline employees with different working times
- to investigate the effects of changes in shift systems on CVD risk factors and sleepwakefulness
- 3. to test the feasibility of CVD risk screening in an airline health service
- 4. to evaluate the effectiveness of low-intensity lifestyle counselling being offered along with health check-ups

4. Methods

4.1 Study design and populations

This dissertation encompasses two longitudinal data of different interventions among the employees of the Finnish airline, Finnair; the data of the health check-up study (Figure 2a) and the data of the shift system change study (Figure 2b)

4.1.1 The health check-up study (Figure 2a)

The target group of the health check-up study was made up of 4169 airline employees. During the years 2006-2008, they were invited to a renewed health check-up according to age. A total of 2762 (66%) attended the health check-ups. Of these 2312 (84%) volunteered and were eligible to participate in the study. The exclusion criteria were previously diagnosed diabetes and pregnancy. The follow-up phase of the health check-up study was completed in 2009-2010. Of the 2199 invited employees 1465 (67%) participated in the follow-up study. Of these, 118 employees had retired or left the company at the end of the study and were excluded from the final data that comprised 1347 persons (men 54%).

With the cross-sectional baseline data of the health check-up study we studied

- the association of shift work with the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors among the 2312 participants (Study I)
- the association of former exposure to shift work with metabolic syndrome among 1811 (men 56%) full-time workers (Study II)
- the interaction of age with shift rotation in relation to sleep-wakefulness and biomarkers of inflammation among 772 male 2- and 3-shift workers from the maintenance units of the airline company (Study IV)
- 4. the feasibility of T2D and CVD risk screening in the airline health service (Study I)

With the longitudinal data of the health check-up study we evaluated

- the effect of the shift system change during the follow-up on biomarkers of inflammation (leukocytes and hsCRP) among 118 male 3-shift workers from the maintenance units of the airline company (Study IV)
- the effectiveness of low intensity lifestyle counselling on decreasing the risk for T2D and CVD among 1347 participants who attended the follow-up (Study V)



Figure 2a. The Health check-up study (Studies I, II, IV and V).

4.1.2 The shift system change study (Figure 2b)

The target group of the shift system change study consisted of 403 airline line maintenance workers, 343 of whom were working in a slowly backward rotating 3-shift work. Of these 89 men volunteered and were eligible to participate in the study. Random assignment to study groups was not possible and the participants were free to select their shift system from three choices: slowly backward rotating, flexible backward rotating or a rapidly forward rotating 3-shift system. Reasons for exclusion were the existence of any CVD or regular medication for blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes, or sleeping disorders. Complete data were available for 84 male participants, 40 of whom changed to a rapidly forward-rotating shift system, 22 changed to a more flexible shift system, and 22 persisted in the old shift system thus forming the reference group.

Together with the data of this shift system change study (Study III) we evaluated the effects of two separate changes in shift characteristics; a change in shift rotation (direction and speed) and a change in the flexibility (a combination of individual and company-based flexibility) of the shift system on employees'

- 1. alertness and
- 2. risk factors for CVD



Figure 2b. The shift system change study (Study III).

4.2 Interventions

Two kinds of interventions were tested to promote workers' cardiovascular health and abilities to cope with shift work; changes in shift systems and lifestyle counselling.

4.2.1 Lifestyle counselling along health check-up

The health check-up process of the Finnair Health Services (FHS) was renewed in 2006. As the role of OHC in health promotion and evaluation of individual health risks had been emphasized by Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, the extended health check-up included the risk assessment of T2D and CVD as well as lifestyle counselling, which intensified according to the risk level (Figure 3).

During the baseline health check-up an occupational physician or an occupational health nurse discussed the results of the blood tests, clinical measurements and questionnaires with the employees and gave each of them general health advice. An individualized written health promotion plan was agreed upon. A special diabetes prevention website was launched providing information on physical exercise, healthy food choices, and general health advice with special attention given to shift work and its influence on sleep, lifestyle, and health.

In addition, those participants whose risk for T2D was assessed to be at least elevated (FINDRISC score 10-14, normal fasting glucose) were offered three one-hour lifestyle counselling sessions by a dietician. Those participants whose diabetes risk was assessed to be high (FINDRISC score \geq 15, IFG or IGT) were offered three additional counselling sessions by a diabetes nurse. The same dietician gave dietary and lifestyle counselling to all participants. The counselling sessions by diabetes nurses were given by two professionally qualified persons.



Figure 3. Lifestyle intervention according to the diabetes risk (NG normal fasting glucose, IFG impaired fasting glucose, IGT impaired glucose tolerance).

The FINDRISC score was used as the starting point of the discussion and the aims of all counselling were based on the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (J. Tuomilehto et al. 2001). The specific challenges related to shift work were taken into account and the discussion topics were individualized and based on personal needs regarding physical activity, sleep, smoking, alcohol consumption, and diet as reported in the dietary questionnaire. The aims were to endorse the participants' perception of risks related to their current lifestyle and to increase their motivation and abilities to achieve relevant changes in lifestyle with personalised short and long-term targets and self-selected practical goals (Prochaska et al. 1992). During the first year of the project, also group intervention (five 1½ hour counselling sessions by a dietician with varying themes) was offered to the participants at elevated diabetes risk (FINDRISC score \geq 10). Participation in all lifestyle interventions was voluntary and the groups were not randomized.

4.2.2 Change of shift systems

The airline line maintenance unit is responsible for small and medium-sized maintenance duties round-theclock. The old shift schedule in use was EEE - - MMM - - NNN - - (E = evening shift, M = morning shift, N = night shift, - = day off). All shifts were 8 hours long and the shift changing times were at 07:00, 15:00 and 23:00. In May 2005 two new shift systems were implemented in the line maintenance unit. A rapidly forward rotating shift system had a shift order of MEN -- (M from 06:00 to 16:00, E from 15:00 to 01:00, N from 21:00 to 06:00). The other new shift system was flexible with the direction of rotation and the order of the shifts basically the same as in the old shift system, but there was more variability in the shift schedule for operational reasons. Between the shift spells there were mostly three days off instead of the two of the old shift system. The night shift was always 7 hours long from 23:30 to 06:30, but the duration of morning shift varied from 10 to 13 hours (between 06:00 and 19:00) and the evening shift from 6 to 13 hours (between 13:00 and 02:00) depending on operational needs. Rosters were issued four weeks in advance and changes in the first two weeks' rosters were only possible with negotiation with the workers and with compensation. Based on mutual consent, the employer tried to fulfil the employees' wishes and needs regarding shift changes, holidays, or days off, thus allowing the workers some individual flexibility and control over their working hours in exchange for variability. The detailed description of the shift systems is presented in the original article (Study III).

4.3 Measurements

4.3.1 Clinical measurements

The clinical examination included measurements of height (without shoes to the nearest 1 mm), weight (in light indoor clothes to the nearest 100 g), and waist circumference (in the standing position midway between the lowest rib and iliac crest to the nearest 5 mm). Body mass index was calculated (kg/m²). Blood pressure and heart rate were measured twice with an automatic device (Omron[®] M4-1) after a 5-minutes rest in the sitting position. At the baseline of the health check-up study (Studies I, II, IV) the measurements were completed by occupational nurses or physicians at Finnair Health Services (FHS). At the follow-up of

59

the health check-up study (Studies IV, V), two trained study nurses, not employed by the FHS, performed the same clinical measurements. In the shift system change study (Study III), the same trained FHS nurse completed all the measurements at both phases. In the health check-up study, we could not standardize the blood pressure measurements and decided not to report the results.

4.3.2 Laboratory measurements

The participants of the health check-up study were advised to avoid smoking and vigorous activity for at least half an hour before the laboratory tests and it was emphasized they should not arrive for the tests after a night shift or when they were sick. When undergoing the laboratory tests, participants were asked to indicate if they had had an infectious disease during the past week (yes, no). As the blood samples of the shift system change study (Study III) were drawn in the workplace during a morning shift, the participants were supposed to be healthy and physical workload standardized. Blood tests were taken between 07:30 and 10:00 after a fasting period of 10 to 12 hours and included white blood cells (WBC), high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, plasma glucose, total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein, and triglycerides. Low density lipoproteins were calculated by the Friedewald formula. A 75-g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was offered to those participants of the health check-up study whose diabetes risk was estimated to be high either based on the FINDRISC score (\geq 15) or impaired fasting glucose (\geq 6.1 mmol/l but <7.0 mmol/l). Glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was taken and analyzed only in the shift system change study (Study III).

At baseline of the health check-up study and at both phases of the shift system change study the laboratory tests were taken and analysed in the accredited laboratory of Mehiläinen Airport according to standard procedures using a Konelab 60i clinical chemistry analyser (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ltd, Vantaa, Finland). Blood samples were centrifuged within 2 hours and analysed on the same day except for hsCRP, which was analysed twice weekly in a certified laboratory with a microparticle enhanced turbidometric immunoassay. EDTA blood samples for WBC were analysed by impedance measurement within 6 hours from drawing the sample with an Advia 120 cell counter (Siemens Medical Solutions, US).

At follow-up of the health check-up study the blood tests were analysed in the accredited laboratory of the Disease Risk Unit at the National Institute for Health and Welfare using an Architect ci8200 analyser (Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, USA). Total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, and glucose were measured with enzymatic assays and hsCRP with an immunoturbidimetric method. EDTA blood samples for WBC were analysed by an ABX Micros 60 cell counter (Horiba Medical, Japan) within 2 hours of drawing the sample. To assess and deal with measurement differences between the two laboratories, a set of 400 samples was analysed in both laboratories and the follow-up results for HDL-cholesterol and triglycerides were transformed accordingly to be commensurate with the baseline values. The bias between hsCRP measurements in the two laboratories was minimal and had no influence on the final results. It was not possible to assess the bias between WBC measurements in the two laboratories, because no data for instrument comparisons were available. However, the personnel of both laboratories regularly attended external quality assessment schemes to assure the stability of their results.

4.3.3 Questionnaires

The participants of the health check-up study filled in self-rated questionnaires with items about their education, work, working hours, sleep, diseases, medication, lifestyle habits, and the diabetes risk score FINDRISC (Lindstrom and Tuomilehto 2003). In the shift system change study the participants' educational level, work and working time were part of the study inclusion criteria and thus they were not required.

Education

In the health check-up study, the participant's educational level was graded by the highest education achieved using a seven-choice question (from comprehensive school to academic degree).

Working times

The participants were asked to indicate their current work (office work, planning work, marketing, managerial work, customer service, aircraft service work, maintenance work, storing work, cabin crew, and pilots), the current shift system (regular day work, 2-shift work, forward rotating 3-shift work, backward rotating 3-shift work, flexible 3-shift work, long-haul in-flight work, short/medium-haul in-flight work), number of night shifts a month, and whether they had previously worked in shifts.

In analyses of the health check-up study (Studies I and V) the working times were grouped as follows: a) regular day work, b) in-flight work (working on aviation duties as pilots or cabin attendants with diverse working hours), and c) non-flight shift work (neither regular day work nor in-flight work).

In analyses of the sub-study evaluating the effect of former shift work on MetS (Study II), working times were categorised into 5 groups: a) day work (work done between 06.00 and 18.00 hr.), b) former shift work (currently in day work), c) 2-shift work (morning and evening shifts), d) night shift work (3-shift work including night work for at least 3 hours between 23.00 and 06.00), e) in-flight work (irregular shift work with night work for at least 3 hours between 23.00 and 06.00 and/or time-lag for at least 4 hours).

In analyses of the sub-study evaluating the age-associated relationship between the shift system and sleepwakefulness and inflammation (Study IV) working times were categorized as follows: a) day work (any job with working time between 06:00 -18:00 and free weekends), b) 2-shift work (day and evening weeks follow one after another with free weekends), c) rapidly forward rotating 3-shift work (shift order MEN – –), d) slowly backward rotating 3-shift work (shift order EEE – – MMM – – NNN – –), and e) flexible 3-shift work (the shift order basically the same as in the previous shift system, but contained more variation in rosters allowing both company-based and individual flexibility).

In the shift system change study working times were equal to c, d, and e, described in the previous paragraph.

Lifestyle habits

Dietary factors were requested using self-rated questionnaires (validated afterwards by Hemiö et al.) including questions about alcohol, coffee, milk products, fruits, vegetables, sugar and quality of fat. Information about dietary fibre was asked about more exactly in the health check-up study (Hemio et al. 2014). Smoking was coded as current smoker or non-smoker. Alcohol consumption was measured as the number of 12 g units/week. At-risk alcohol consumption was defined for men as >40g/day and for women as >20g/day according to the Finnish Current Care Guideline. In the health check-up study physical activity was requested using a four-choice question on weekly physical activity during leisure time (1=little/hardly any to 4=several times /competitive type). Active lifestyle was less than that. In the shift system change study (Study III) leisure time physical activity (LTPA) was assessed by the modified International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (Craig et al. 2003), which requested the number of physical activity sessions per week and the number of minutes per session. The intensity of LTPA was enquired with examples of strenuous, moderately strenuous, and light intensity physical activity.

Sleep and wakefulness were investigated with a questionnaire containing the following questions: 1) "How many hours do you usually sleep per 24 hours?", 2) "How many hours of sleep do you need to be alert the next day?", 3) "How often have you had difficulties to fall asleep during the past three months?", 4) "How often have you awoken at night during the past three months?", 5) "How often do you feel fatigue/tired during the day time?", 6) Epworth Sleepiness Scale's (Johns 1991) nine questions (ESS). Sleep loss was assessed as the difference between the hours of self-rated need for daily sleep (question 2) and the received daily amount of sleep (question 1) (Hublin et al. 2001). The insomnia symptom questions 3 and 4,

and the slightly modified question 5 from the Basic Nordic Sleep Questionnaire (Partinen and Gislason 1995) were self-rated using a Likert-type scale (1=never or less than once a month to 5=daily or almost daily). The health check-up study included an additional question "How harmful do you feel your current working time is to your sleep-wakefulness?". Answers to this modified question from the Standard Shiftwork Index (Barton et al. 1995), were asked to self-rate using the scale: 1= not at all harmful, 2= a little harmful, 3= quite harmful, 4= very harmful.

FINDRISC score and metabolic syndrome

The Finnish diabetes risk score FINDRISC comprises 8 categorized and rated questions (age, body mass index, waist circumference, physical activity, consumption of fruit and vegetables, hypertension medication, history of high blood glucose, and family history of diabetes) and gives an estimate of the subject's probability of getting diabetes in 10 years (Lindstrom and Tuomilehto 2003). A FINDRISC score <10 with normal fasting glucose (<6.1 mmol/l) was considered to denote low diabetes risk and a score value 10-14 with normal glucose was assessed to mean elevated risk. A score value ≥15 or impaired fasting plasma glucose (fP-glucose ≥6.1 but <7.0 mmol/l) or impaired glucose tolerance (2-hour glucose in the OGTT ≥7.8 but <11.1 mmol/l) was considered to denote high diabetes risk. Metabolic syndrome was defined according to the IDF criteria (Alberti et al. 2005) listed in Table 1.

4.4 Ethical aspects

The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa approved the studies and all subjects gave their written informed consent. Participation in all studies and interventions was voluntary. The lifestyle intervention offered along with the health check-up was formulated in accordance with the Finnish Current Care Guidelines. In the health check-up study all employees received general verbal health advice relevant to the individual risk profile and written information of healthy lifestyle by a doctor or a nurse. Employees at elevated diabetes risk (FINDRISC ≥10) were offered additional counselling by a dietician and the high risk individuals (FINDRISC ≥15 or IFG or IGT) were moreover referred to a diabetes nurse. Persons with study-detected diabetes were referred to diabetes clinics and their data were removed from the study data in further analyses.

The data of Studies I, II, IV and V were stored on the server of the National Institute for Health and Welfare with an individual study identification code. The links between the study identification codes and the subjects' personal ID codes were confidentially and securely stored by Finnair Health Services. Participants in the health check-up study gave their written informed consent to link the study data relating to the clinical measurements and blood tests to their personal health care data. The data was transferred to the

Finnish Institute of Occupational Health with the study identification code for the statistical analyses. Study III data were stored confidentially and securely by Finnair Health Services with the study identification codes separate from the health records, except for the clinical measurement and blood test data, which were linked to the personal health care data with the written permission of the participants. The data of these studies will be destroyed after being analysed and the results published.

4.5 Statistical methods

With the cross-sectional baseline data of the health check-up study (Study I), differences between groups based on sex, diabetes risk score, and working time and background factors for participating in lifestyle interventions were evaluated with the chi-square test, t-test and analysis of covariance. With the longitudinal follow-up data of the health check-up study (Study V), changes of the CVD risk factors in relation to participating in lifestyle intervention given by a diabetes nurse and/or a dietician were analysed with repeated measures analysis of variance and the paired sample t-test for continuous variables and chisquare or Fischer's exact test for categorical variables. Age and education were used as covariates. Logtransformed values for triglycerides and high sensitivity C-reactive protein were used due to the nonnormal distributions of these variables. The counselling sessions of the dietician and the diabetes nurse were combined into a single variable in the analysis.

With the cross-sectional baseline sub-data of the health check-up study (Study II) the association between metabolic syndrome and shift work was evaluated with the following analyses. First, differences in control variables between the working time groups were tested with analysis of variance and the chi-square test, with day work as the reference group. Then the relationship between each control variable and the MetS was evaluated with multiple logistic regression analysis and odds ratios with 95% confidence limits were calculated for the risk of MetS in working time groups. The tested models were adjusted for age and all the covariates. Alcohol consumption was log-transformed prior to the analyses.

With the other cross-sectional baseline sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV), the effect of shift system, age, and their interactions on sleep and wakefulness, and the biomarkers of inflammation were evaluated with multivariable analysis of variance. The effects of shift system, age and their interactions on how harmful (quite, very) employees experienced their working times were for their sleep and wakefulness were estimated with multivariable logistic regression analysis. Differences between sleep and wakefulness in the age groups were tested between the 3-shift work groups and also between day work and each shift work group separately. With the longitudinal follow-up sub-data, the effect of the shift system change on the biomarkers of inflammation (leukocyte count and hsCRP) was estimated with repeated measures

analysis of variance. The models were adjusted for recent infectious diseases and only data with hsCRP values <10 were used in analyses. Log-transformed values for hsCRP, leukocyte count and ESS were used in the statistical analyses. The "Problems to fall asleep" variable was square root-transformed.

With the longitudinal data collected in the shift system change study (Study III), differences between the shift systems were evaluated with repeated measures analysis of variance. Variables in the models were time, shift system, interaction of time and shift system, age at baseline, smoking, and alcohol consumption. The distribution of caffeine and alcohol consumption and physical activity were skewed and ranks were used instead of the original values for these outcomes.

The statistical analyses were calculated using the SAS (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) program for Studies III and IV. The SPSS (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) program was used for all other statistical analyses except for the confidence intervals for the changes of dichotomous variables of Study V, which were analysed by the McNemar test using MedCalc (Professional Medical Calculator) statistical software.

5 Results

5.1. Risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes among employees with different working times

5.1.1 Risk factors of CVD and risk for T2D in working time groups

At baseline of the health check-up study (Study I) 36% of all participants were regular day workers, 35% non-flight shift workers, and 29% in-flight workers. In the target group the percentages were 33%, 39%, and 28%, respectively. In the health check-up 40 new cases of diabetes were found and excluded from analysis. The working time groups differed in age and education, day workers being the oldest and non-flight shift workers the least educated groups. After adjusting for age and education, the observed differences in CVD risk factors were rather small between the day workers and non-flight shift workers. The female in-flight workers stood out from the rest (Table 6).

			Men					Women		
	Regular	Non-flight	In-flight			Regular	Non-flight	In-flight		
	day work	shift work	work			day work	shift work	work		
	n=471	n=581	n=147	4	-d	n=351	n=229	n=533	q	ď
	(39.3%)	(48.5%)	(12.3%)	value ¹	value ²	(31.5%)	(20.6%)	(47.9%)	value ¹	value ²
Age, years	46.8 (9.3)	43.9 (8.6)+++	42.6 (8.6) +++		<0.001	46.6 (8.3)	43.3 (8.7) +++	42.6 (8.8) +++		<0.001
Education, high ³ , %	61.8	12.7***	69.6***	<0.001		62.5	48.8**	74.9***	<0.001	
Smoking, %	20.0	26.2*	17.1	0.019	0.239	22.3	26.8	12.7**††	<0.001	<0.001
Alcohol, units/week	7.6 (8.6)	6.4 (6.0)	6.1 (5.5)	0.058	0.072	3.5 (3.7)	3.2 (4.2)	3.2 (3.3)	0.998	1.000
Sedentary lifestyle ⁴ , %	18.2	21.2	10.5	0.014	0.051	17.8	15.7	6.2***†††	<0.001	<0.001
BMI, kg/m ²	27.1 (3.8)	27.1 (4.0)	25.8 (3.3)** ++	0.002	0.012	25.6 (4.6)	25.5 (4.9)	23.1 (3.1)*** +++	<0.001	<0.001
Systolic BP, mmHg	143 (17)	143 (16)	137 (15)** †	<0.001	0.008	135 (19)	130 (17)**	129 (18)** ††	0.022	0.027
Diastolic BP, mmHg	89 (12)	88 (11)	85 (10)	0.020	0.144	84 (11)	83 (11)	81 (10)	0.090	0.090
fP-glucose, mmol/l	5.6 (0.8)	5.5 (0.6)	5.7 (0.5)	0.087	0.086	5.3 (0.6)	5.2 (0.5)	5.2 (0.5)	0.660	0.190
fP-cholesterol, mmol/l	5.2 (0.9)	5.2 (1.0)	5.2 (1.2)	0.695	0.823	5.1 (0.9)	5.0 (0.9)	5.0 (0.9)	0.637	0.906
FINDRISC score	7.4 (4.7)	6.8 (4.3) ††	5.6 (4.3)* †	0.035	0.037	7.6 (4.8)	7.0 (4.8)	4.9 (4.0)*** †††	<0.001	<0.001
¹ Pairwise test comparin	g non-flight sh	ift work and in-fli	ght work to regula	r day work	, age-adjust	ed. (*** p<0.00	01, ** p<0.01, and	1 * p<0.05).		
² Pairwise test comparine	a non-flight sh	ift work and in-fli	oht work to regula	r dav work	. adjusted fo	nr age and edu	cation. (††† n<0.(01. †† n<0.01. and †	n<0.05).	

ŝ
õ
¥
ະ
2
60
0
ž
F
·=
Ξ.
യ
<u> </u>
Ţ
•
~
_
σ
2
ā
-
ര
š
~
8
- F-
യ
.⊆
σ
<u> </u>
0
Q.
õ
g
Δ
Š
+1
-
—
ž
-
Ś
Ľ
5
ā
<u>.</u> e.
5
÷Ĕ
E
σ.
~
<u> </u>
<u> </u>
ž
Jy I p
JIVpr
tudylp
Study I p
Study I p
ie Study I p
the Study I p
f the Study I g
of the Study I p
of the Study I p
s of the Study I p
ors of the Study I p
tors of the Study I p
ctors of the Study I p
actors of the Study I p
factors of the Study I p
k factors of the Study I p
sk factors of the Study I p
risk factors of the Study I p
i risk factors of the Study l p
nd risk factors of the Study I p
and risk factors of the Study I p
and risk factors of the Study I p
s and risk factors of the Study I p
ics and risk factors of the Study I ${f \mu}$
tics and risk factors of the Study I p
istics and risk factors of the Study I ${f \mu}$
ristics and risk factors of the Study I p
eristics and risk factors of the Study I p
cteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
acteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
racteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
aracteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
haracteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f r}$
Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f \mu}$
6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f \mu}$
$_{ m e}$ 6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I $_{ m p}$
le 6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I p
ble 6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f r}$
able 6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f r}$
Table 6. Characteristics and risk factors of the Study I ${f r}$

Ś Ś. 01 980 Pairwise test comparing non-flight shift work and in-flight work to regular day work, adjusted Log-transformed values for triglycerides and high sensitivity CRP were used in pairwise tests.

³ Education high level: college-level training, polytechnic or academic degree of education. ⁴ Sedentary lifestyle: less than 4 hours weekly leisure time non-sweat physical exercise.

Among men, after adjustment for age and education, the non-flight shift workers had slightly higher hsCRP (1.85 \pm 3.64 vs. 1.52 \pm 2.68 mg/l) but lower FINDRISC score compared with male day workers. In-flight workers had significantly lower BMIs, waist circumferences (91.3 \pm 9.6 vs. 96.1 \pm 11.2 cm), systolic blood pressures, plasma triglyceride levels (1.18 \pm 0.57 vs. 1.34 \pm 0.74 mmol/l) and also FINDRISC scores compared with male day workers.

Among women, after adjustment for age and education, the non-flight shift workers had clearly higher hsCRP (2.74 ± 5.53 vs. 2.01 ± 4.19 mg/l) but lower systolic blood pressures compared to the day workers. Female in-flight workers were more often smokers, but fewer of them had a sedentary lifestyle, their HDL-cholesterol values were higher (1.92 ± 0.47 vs. 1.76 ± 0.46 mmol/l) and their BMIs, waist circumferences (78.2 ± 8.4 vs. 83.5 ± 11.9 cm), systolic blood pressures, plasma triglyceride levels (0.87 ± 0.46 vs. 0.96 ± 0.49 mmol/l), hsCRP values (1.38 ± 2.78 vs. 2.01 ± 4.19 mg/l), and FINRDISC scores were significantly lower compared with the day workers.

5.1.2 Former shift work and metabolic syndrome

The prevalence rate of IDF-defined MetS, analysed from the baseline sub-data of 1811 participants of the health check-up study (Study II), was 28.5%. The risk of MetS increased with age (6% per year) and was 2.4 times higher among men compared to women, 40% higher among current smokers compared with non-smokers, and 1.8 fold higher among participants with low education levels compared to those with high education levels. Table 7 gives the results of comparisons between working time groups (day work vs. former shift work, 2-shift work, night shift work, and in-flight work) for the IDF-defined MetS, separately for men and women.

	Form vs.	er shift work day work	i v	2-shift work vs. day work	Nigh vs.	t shift work day work	In-fl vs.	ight work day work
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
				Me	'n			
Age-adjusted	2.13	1.35-3.37	1.64	1.06-2.55	1.51	0.95-2.34	1.21	0.70-2.01
Full model ¹	2.00	1.26-3.19	1.48	0.93-2.24	1.37	0.84-2.22	1.33	0.76-2.33
				Wom	nen			
Age-adjusted	1.31	0.74-2.32	1.36	0.77-2.39	1.12	0.48-2.60	0.64	0.39-1.07
Full model ¹	1.51	0.83-2.77	1.42	0.78-2.59	1.31	0.54-3.17	0.84	0.48-1.46

Table 7. Working times and prevalence of International Diabetes Federation (IDF) defined MetS.

¹Adjusted for age, education, physical activity, alcohol use, smoking, and insomnia symptoms.

Among the men, compared with day workers, former shift workers had over 2-fold age-adjusted risk of MetS and further adjustments did not influence the result. There was also an association between current 2-shift work and MetS, even though further adjustment diluted this association. Compared to day workers MetS was not more common among current night shift workers. In additional analyses (not shown in Table 5), there were associations between former night shift work and MetS, as well as other types of former shift work and MetS (age-adjusted OR 2.05 [95% Cl 1.24, 3.36] and 2.32 [95% Cl 1.26, 4.30], respectively) among men.

Among women, the odds ratios were systematically lower compared to men. There were no significant differences in the prevalence of the MetS between day work and shift work observed in the comparisons among women.

5.2 Association of the change of shift systems with CVD risk factors

The shift system change study (Study III) carried out on male aircraft maintenance participants showed that, the changes in systolic blood pressure were different between the three study groups (p=0.049). During the follow-up period of 7 to 8 months, systolic blood pressure decreased among the participants who changed to the flexible backward rotating shift system compared to those who remained in the old slowly backward rotating shift system with no flexibility. Mean systolic blood pressure decreased by 6 mmHg in the group with the flexible shift system, increased by 2.5 mmHg in the group with the rapidly forward shift system, but remained unchanged for those in the old shift system (Figure 4a). As depicted in Figure 4b, a similar trend was also observed for heart rate. In further analyses, comparing the flexible shift

system to the old shift system the changes in heart rate had a decreasing trend (p=0.056). The changes in diastolic blood pressure were not significant.



Figure 4a. The effect of a change of shifts on systolic blood pressure (mean, ± SE) among the group with a rapidly forward rotating shift system (Forward), the group with a more flexible shift system (Flexible), and among the group with the old shift system (Control). All groups started with a slowly backward rotating shift system with no flexibility. (* p=0.049).



Figure 4b. The effect of a change of shifts on heart rate (mean, \pm SE) among the group with a rapidly forward rotating shift system (Forward), the group with a more flexible shift system (Flexible), and among the group with the old shift system (Control). All groups started with a slowly backward rotating shift system with no flexibility. (†p=0.056).

Compared to the old shift system, the change to the flexible shift system or to the rapidly forward rotating shift system had no influence on shift workers' BMIs, waist circumferences, cardiovascular risk factors (lipids, fasting glucose, HbA1c), inflammatory biomarker levels (hsCRP), dietary factors (fibre, caffeine, quality of fat) nor their health habits (alcohol consumption and leisure time physical activity).

5.3 Age-dependent association of shift systems with sleep-wakefulness and biomarkers of inflammation

5.3.1 Interaction between shift system and age with sleep-wakefulness

Table 8 shows the results analysed with the sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV) comprising male 2-shift and 3-shift workers from the aircraft maintenance units of the company. The 3-shift workers reported more problems to fall asleep compared to day workers (p-values \leq 0.001) and older workers tended to have more problems to fall asleep (main effect p=0.066) and awakenings during sleep (main effect p=0.059). Based on the post hoc tests, day workers' sleep was shorter among older workers than among younger workers, while in the forward rotating 3-shift work, older workers slept longer than older employees in day work, while in the forward rotating 3-shift system the sleep need of older workers was greater than the sleep need of younger workers (post-hoc interaction p=0.040).

Compared to day work, after adjustment for age and the interaction between age and shift system, the OR for the employees' feeling that their current shift system was harmful to their sleep and wakefulness was 13.20 (main effect p<0.001) for the rapidly forward rotating shift system, 22.85 (main effect p<0.001) for the flexible shift work system, and 43.37 (main effect p<0.001) for the slowly backward rotating shift system. Comparisons between the 3-shift systems indicated that employees in the slowly backward rotating shift system felt their working time more harmful for their sleep-wakefulness compared to employees in the rapidly forward rotating shift system (OR 3.29, main effect p=0.036). The flexible shift system did not differ from the rapidly forward rotating shift system (OR 1.73, main effect NS).

										I		p-value¹	
	Day .	work	2-shift	t work	3-shift wo	rk forward	3-shift wo	rk flexible	3-shift	work	shift	age	inter-
									backı	ward	system		action
	<45 yrs	<u>></u> 45 yrs	<45 yrs	<u>></u> 45 yrs	<45 yrs	<u>></u> 45 yrs	<45 yrs	<u>></u> 45 yrs	<45 yrs	<u>></u> 45 yrs			
	(n=190)	(n=263)	(n=57)	(n=61)	(n=20)	(n=41)	(n=75)	(n=22)	(n=16)	(n=27)			
	Mear	ו (SD)	Mear	1 (SD)	Mear	1 (SD)	Mear	(SD)	Mean	(SD)			
Sleep length, hours	7.3 (0.82)	7.0 (1.00)	7.3 (0.71)	7.3 (0.75)	7.1 (0.89)	7.5 (1.01)	7.3 (0.84)	7.1 (1.30)	7.3 (1.25)	7.3 (1.03)			0.030 ²
Sleep need, hours	7.9 (0.96)	7.5 (0.99)	7.7 (1.04)	7.8 (0.75)	7.8 (1.30)	8.0 (1.12)	7.6 (0.99)	7.7 (1.70)	7.9 (1.39)	7.6 (0.97)			0.043 ³
Problems to fall	1.8 (0.90)	1.8 (0.93)	1.6 (0.73)	2.0 (0.93)	2.3 (0.97)	2.2 (0.98)	2.1 (0.92)	2.5 (1.22)	2.2 (0.91)	2.4 (1.22)	<0.0001	(0.066)	
asleep ⁴													
	numb	er (%)	Numb	ner (%)	Numb	ner (%)	numb	er (%)	Numb	er (%)			
Employees who	2(1)	2(1)	5 (9)	5 (9)	2 (10)	5 (12)	12 (16)	4 (19)	4 (25)	9 (33)	<0.0001		
feel their current													
shift system to be harmful to their													
sleep and													
wakefulness													
¹ Analysis of variance	for continuo	us variables	, logistic regr	ression for co	ategorical va	riables. Effe	cts of shift sy	stem, age ar	nd their inter	action.			
² In post hoc test sign	nificant age-ir	Iteractions v	were betwee	n day work	and 2-shift w	ork (p=0.03,	4), between	day work and	d forward ro	tating 3-shift	: work (p=0.0	007), and a	trend
	ating 2-chift	work and fle	vihla 2-chift	work (n=0 0	111		:)	:	:	

Table 8. Sleep and wakefulness of male day and shift workers aged <45 or <u>></u>45 years.

between forward rotating 3-shift work and nextole 3-shift work (p=0.0/1). between day work and flexible 3-shift work (p=0.096).

⁴ Scale 1-5: 1=never or less than monthly, 2=less than weekly, 3=once or twice a week, 4=three to five times a week, 5=daily or almost every day.
5.3.2 Effect of the shift system change on alertness

The results of the shift system change study (Study III) carried out on male aircraft maintenance participants, indicated that the change of shift system influenced shift workers' alertness. The mean number of days per week for which the workers reported sleepiness decreased in the group which changed to the rapidly forward rotating shift system, but increased slightly among the workers who persisted in their old slowly backward rotating shift system or changed to the flexible shift system (Figure 5).



Figure 5. The effect of a change of shifts on the number of days/week (mean, + SE) with sleepiness among the group with a rapidly forward rotating shift system (Forward), the group with a more flexible shift system (Flexible), and the group with the old slowly backward rotating shift system (Control). All groups started with a slowly backward rotating shift system with no flexibility. (*p=0.023).

Daytime sleepiness showed a declining trend when all three shift systems were compared to each other (p = 0.056). In further analyses, the changes in daytime sleepiness were significantly different between the rapidly forward rotating and the old backward rotating shift systems (p= 0.023). Congruent with this, the ESS score and caffeine consumption declined among the workers who changed to the forward rotating shift system, though not significantly compared to the control group.

5.3.3 Interaction of the shift system and age with biomarkers of inflammation

Analyses with the cross-sectional sub-data of the health check-up study, comprising male 2-shift and 3-shift workers in the aircraft maintenance (Study IV), showed no significant main effects of the shift system (day work, 2-shift work, rapidly forward rotating 3-shift work, flexible backward rotating 3-shift work, and slowly backward rotating 3-shift work) on the biomarkers of inflammation (leukocytes and hsCRP). However, in the leukocyte counts there was an interaction trend between the shift system and age (p=0.067). Figure 6 shows that leukocyte count for day workers was higher among older employees, while in 2-shift work the age difference was inversed (post-hoc interaction p=0.016). In addition, within the 3-shift systems, forward rotation shift workers' leukocyte counts seemed to be lower in the older age group compared to younger workers, but this age-difference in leukocytes did not significantly depend on the shift system.



Figure 6. Leukocyte count, E9/L (mean, +SE) of male day and shift workers aged <45 or \geq 45 years. (Cross-sectional data, cases with hsCRP \geq 10 mg/L not included) (* p=0.016 for post hoc interaction of age and shift system).

5.3.4 Effect of the shift system change on biomarkers of inflammation

Figure 7 shows how the leukocyte count decreased as the 3-shift workers changed from the old or flexible backward rotating shift systems to the rapidly forward rotating shift system during the follow-up period in Study IV. However, these associations did not reach statistical significance in this sample. Neither were there significant associations in hsCRP with the change in shift systems.



Figure 7. Leukocyte count, E9/L (mean, +SE) of male shift workers who changed from flexible 3-shift work or backward rotating 3-shift work to the forward rotating shift system or remained in their old shift systems. (Longitudinal data, cases with hsCRP>10 mg/L not included) (Leukocyte count change was not statistical significant in any group).

5.4 Feasibility of the risk screening of CVD and T2D in the airline health service

5.4.1 Characteristics and risk factors of the participants of the health check-up study

Of the target group (n=4169) of the health check-up study (Study I) 2762 employees (66%) attended the health checks and of these 2312 (84%) were eligible for the study. The participants' characteristics and risk factors according to gender and working time groups at baseline are presented in Table 6 above.

The FINDRISC score as the first step screening method not only efficiently revealed any risk for diabetes, but also risk for metabolic syndrome. Of the participants with elevated FINDRISC scores (10-14) 51% had

IDF-defined MetS, and of those with high scores (≥15) as many as 70.5% had MetS. Also other studied CVD risk factors correlated well with the FINDRISC score as shown in Table 9.

	Low risk	Elevated risk	High risk	
	score <10	score 10-14	score ≥15	
	n=1698 (75.7 %)	n=412 (18.4 %)	n=132 (5.9 %)	p-value ¹
Men, %	51.4	54.1	54.5	0.504
Age, years	43.1 (8.8)	48.9 (7.6)***	51.0 (7.0)***	<0.001
Education, high level ² , %	49.2	39.1***	40.5***	<0.001
Smoking, %	19.6	22.1	22.5	0.448
Alcohol, units/week	5.0 (5.6)	5.6 (6.1)	6.9 (9.6)**	0.008
Sedentary lifestyle ³ , %	11.4	27.0***	29.9***	<0.001
Body Mass Index, kg/m ²	24.6 (3.4)	28.9 (4.5)***	30.6 (4.5)***	<0.001
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	135 (18)	143 (19)***	147 (19)***	<0.001
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	84 (11)	90 (10)***	92 (12)***	<0.001
fP-glucose, mmol/l	5.3 (0.6)	5.6 (0.6)***	5.9 (0.9)***	<0.001
Total cholesterol, mmol/l	5.1 (0.9)	5.3 (1.0)***	5.2 (0.9)*	<0.001
MetS ⁴ , %	16.6	51.0***	70.5***	<0.001

Table 9. C	Characteristics and risk factors of participants (per cent or mean \pm SD) according to diabetes risk
score (FIN	IDRISC).

¹F-test for continuous and chi-square test for categorical variables. The low risk score group was compared pairwise with moderate and high risk score groups (*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01, and * p<0.05). Log-transformed values for triglycerides and high sensitivity C-reactive protein were used in analyses.

² Education high level: college-level training, polytechnic or academic degree of education.

³Sedentary lifestyle: less than 4 hours weekly leisure time non-sweat physical exercise.

⁴ Metabolic Syndrome according to the IDF criteria.

5.4.2 Characteristics associated with participation in the follow-up of the health check-up study

Men participated in the follow-up (Study V) better than women (68 vs. 62%, p=0.005). The participants were three years older and their fasting plasma glucose levels were lower compared to the non-participants (p<0.01). Day workers and non-flight shift workers participated in the follow-up more eagerly than in-flight workers (p<0.001). Among men, being married/cohabit and a non-smoker, and among women, higher FINDRISC score and shorter daily sleep time were the background characteristics, which associated with eager participation in the follow-up.

5.4.3 Characteristics associated with attendance in lifestyle intervention

At the baseline, 15.1% of all participants were high diabetes risk individuals (FINDRISC score \geq 15, IFG or IGT) and 14.9% had elevated risk (FINDIRSC score 10-14 and normal glucose). Of these 60% and 59%,

respectively, attended lifestyle counselling provided by a diabetes nurse and/or a dietician. Individual counselling was preferred to small-group counselling, which was offered only on the first year because of the low participation rate. Men and women who were offered lifestyle counselling at the baseline health check-up, attended counselling sessions equally (p=0.524). As presumed, FINDRISC score, waist circumference, and BMI associated strongly with participation (p<0.01). Also sedentary lifestyle, depressive symptoms and perception of sleeping problems or stress affecting work ability associated with participation among both genders (p<0.05). Older age, being single, more years in shift work and poor work ability associated with participation among men (p<0.05), while regular day work, physically light work, daytime fatigue and the feeling that personal needs were not being taken into account in rosters increased participation among women (p<0.05).

Table 10 shows the attendance at lifestyle counselling sessions given by the dietician or/and diabetes nurse among those elevated and high diabetes risk individuals who participated in the follow-up study (Study V). The attendance frequency at counselling sessions was higher among men compared to women in the group with elevated diabetes risk (p= 0.014) and in the group with both elevated and high diabetes risk (p=0.029).

	Attendance at lifestyle counselling						
	Elevated risk ¹			High risk ²			Elevated and high risk ³
	No	Once	More than	No	Once	More than	At least once
			once			once	
Men and women who attended the follow-up, % (n)	32.9 (69)	43.3 (91)	23.8 (50)	45.8 (88)	18.2 (35)	35.9 (69)	60.9 (245)
Men who attended the follow-up, % (n)	31.4 (32)	37.3 (38)	31.4 (32)	47.8 (65)	19.1 (26)	33.1 (45)	59.2 (141)
Women who attended the follow-up, % (n)	34.3 (37)	49.1 (53)	16.7 (18)	41.1 (23)	16.1 (9)	42.9 (24)	63.4 (104)

Table 10. Attendance at lifestyle counselling sessions by a dietician and a diabetes nurse among the participants of the follow-up study (Study V) according to baseline diabetes risk (per cent and count).

¹FINDRISC score 10-14 and normal fasting glucose. Counselling by a dietician was offered.

²FINDRISC score \geq 15 or IFG or IGT. Counselling by a dietician and a diabetes nurse was offered.

³FINDRISC score ≥10 or IFG or IGT. Counselling by a dietician and a diabetes nurse was offered.

5.5 Effectiveness of low intensity lifestyle counselling offered along with health check-ups

5.5.1 Effect of lifestyle intervention on CVD risk factors

As shown in Table 11, the group of men with elevated and high diabetes risk (FINDRISC \geq 10, IFG or IGT) lost some weight compared with the low risk men (FINDRISC <10 and normal glucose) who gained weight. The difference in weight change between these groups was significant (p=0.002), but adjustment for age attenuated the significance (p=0.092). The elevated and high risk group of men succeeded in reducing their weight at least 5% twice as often as the low risk men, and the difference in weight reduction between these groups was significant (age-adjusted p=0.010). Among the elevated and high risk men also total cholesterol decreased -0.04 (95% CI -0.14, 0.06) mmol/l but increased among the low risk men 0.02 (95% CI 0.14, 0.27) mmol/l. The difference of the change in cholesterol level between these groups was significant (p<0.001, age-adjusted p=0.002, not shown in the table).

The proportion of physically inactive employees remained unchanged in the low diabetes risk group. However, sedentary lifestyle tended to decrease among the men with elevated and high diabetes risk (p=0.052) and compared to the men with low risk the differences in the changes in physical activity between the risk groups were statistically significant (age-adjusted p=0.017). During the follow-up, the FINDRISC score increased a little among both genders in the low risk group as well as in the elevated and high risk groups. Among men the difference between the risk groups was not significant (Table 11). Among women the score increased by 1.04 (95% CI 0.57, 1.39) in the low risk group and by 0.29 (95% CI 0.82, 1.26) in the elevated and high risk group, and the difference between the risk groups was statistically significant (age-adjusted p=0.001).

	Low risk men (n=486)	Elevated and high risk men (n=238)	p-value ¹	p-value ²
Weight change (kg), mean (95% CI)	0.84 (0.52, 1.16)	-0.13 (-0.71, 0.46)	0.002	0.092
Weight loss 5% or more, proportion of men, %	6.8	14.3	0.001	0.010
Change of proportion of men with sedentary lifestyle, %	2.0	-6.1	0.033	0.017
Change of FINDRISC score, mean (95% CI)	0.73 (0.52, 0.93)	0.98 (0.57, 1.40)	0.230	0.414

Table 11. Weight change, weight loss 5% or more, change of sedentary lifestyle and FINDRISC score during follow-up among the low diabetes risk men (FINDRISC <10 and normal glucose) and among the elevated and high diabetes risk men (FINDRISC \geq 10, IFG or IGT).

¹Statistical test (ANOVA or chi-squared test) for the difference between the groups of low risk men and elevated and high risk men.

² Statistical test (ANOVA or Logistic regression) adjusted for age.

As shown in Table 12, the elevated and high risk men who attended lifestyle interventions by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse lost at least 5% weight more than twice as often as the non-attendees, and the difference between these groups was significant (age-adjusted p=0.038). Furthermore, the proportion of men with sedentary lifestyles decreased significantly among those elevated or high risk men who attended lifestyle interventions compared to the non-attendees (age-adjusted p=0.013). The FINDRISC score increased less among those elevated or high risk men who attended interventions compared to the non-attendees (age-adjusted p=0.013).

	No attendance at counselling (n=97)	Attendance at counselling at least once (n=141)	p-value ¹	p-value ²
Weight change (kg), mean (95% CI)	0.3 (-0.10, 0.38)	0.01 (-0.87, 0.88)	0.594	0.414
Weight loss 5 % or more, proportion of elevated risk men, %	8.2	18.4	0.031	0.038
Change of proportion of men with sedentary lifestyle, %	-1.3	-9.4	0.021	0.013
Change of FINDRISC score, mean (95% CI)	1.5 (0.08, 1.15)	0.6 (0.86, 2.15)	0.037	0.033

Table 12. Weight change, weight change of 5% or more, change of sedentary lifestyle and FINDRISC score during follow-up among the elevated and high risk men (FINDRISC \geq 10, IFG or IGT) according to attendance at counselling sessions by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse.

¹Statistical test (ANOVA or chi-squared test) for the difference between the groups of elevated plus high risk men with no attendance and at least one attendance at lifestyle counselling by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse. ²Statistical test (ANOVA or Logistic regression) adjusted for age.

Among the elevated and high risk women the attendance at lifestyle counselling by a dietician and/or diabetes nurse did not significantly improve the risk factors compared to non-attendees.

5.5.2 Effect of lifestyle intervention on CVD risk factors and risk for T2D in working time groups Both men and women in day work, non-flight shift work, and in-flight shift work gained weight and FINDRISC score, as well as, most of the studied CVD risk factors increased during the follow-up.

Among those 141 elevated and high risk men who attended lifestyle counselling by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse, day workers' (n=67) total cholesterol decreased (-0.19 [95% CI -0.37, -0.00] mmol/l) compared to the increase among non-flight shift workers (n=64) (0.05[95% CI -0.12, 0.22] mmol/l) and inflight shift workers (n=10) (0.45 [95% CI -0.07, 0.97] mmol/l). The difference between the working time groups was significant (p=0.015, age-adjusted p=0.024) and further adjustment for lipid-lowering

medication did not influence the results. In addition, among the elevated and high risk men who attended counselling, day workers lost weight (-0.8 [95% CI -1.9, 0.3] kg) compared to the non-flight shift workers who gained weight (1.0 [95% CI -0.4, 2.4] kg). The difference between the working time groups in weight change was significant (p= 0.043) but the age-adjustment diluted the significance (p=0.095). The same trend was seen in BMI, which decreased among the day workers (-0.3 [95% CI -0.6, 0.1]) but increased among the non-flight shift workers (0.3 [95% CI -0.1, 0.8]) (p=0.037, age-adjusted p=0.085).

Among the elevated and high risk women, non-flight shift workers (n=28) gained some benefit from counselling by a dietician and/or diabetes nurse, their fasting glucose increased less (0.16 [95% CI -0.02, 0.34] mmol/l) compared to the day workers (n=37) (0.45 [95% CI 0.30, 0.61] mmol/l), (p=0.014, age-adjusted p=0.016).

6 Discussion

6.1 Main findings

Findings from the cross-sectional health check-up sub-data (Study II) suggest that metabolic syndrome is more prevalent among former male shift workers than current male day workers who have never worked shifts.

The results of the shift system change study carried out in the line maintenance unit among male participants (Study III) indicate that a faster speed together with a change from backward to forward direction in shift rotation alleviates daytime sleepiness. In addition, the study suggests that combinations of individual flexibility with company-based flexibility in a shift system may have favourable effects on shift workers' blood pressures.

The results from the cross-sectional sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV) made up of men support our earlier findings that a rapidly forward rotating shift system is more age-friendly for sleep compared to backward and slower rotating three-shift systems. Quickly forward rotation shift workers considered their working time as less harmful to sleep and wakefulness compared with slower backward rotation shift workers. Older workers had less sleep complaints than their younger colleagues in the quickly forward rotating three-shift system. The age-differences in the inflammatory markers in the longitudinal data of the study partly depended on the shift system.

The renewed health check-up process, presented in Study I, effectively identified those employees with increased T2D and CVD risk who would benefit from lifestyle intervention. The use of the FINDRISC questionnaire is a feasible first-step screening method in occupational health care settings. The follow-up data of the health check-up study (Study V) showed that low intensity lifestyle interventions are feasible in occupational health-care settings. However, health benefits were observed only among men with increased risk.

6.2 Shift work and cardiovascular risk factors

6.2.1 Metabolic syndrome

The results of Study II suggest that former male shift workers' risk for metabolic syndrome can remain even after they have changed from shift work to day work. Compared to men, the risk for MetS among former female shift workers was lower and non-significant.

The risk of MetS among ex-shift workers has not been studied. Earlier research has analysed the association between current shift workers with or without night shifts and MetS, and positive associations have been found among both genders in cross-sectional studies (Kawabe et al. 2014; Lajoie et al. 2015; Sookoian et al. 2007; Ye et al. 2013) and in longitudinal cohort studies (Y. C. Lin et al. 2009; Pietroiusti et al. 2010), some studies suggest that the risk increases with years in shift work (De Bacquer et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2015). Canuto et al. could not establish any relationship between shift work and MetS in their review (Canuto et al. 2013), but Esquirol et al. found a link between shift work and MetS (Esquirol et al. 2011), and the recent review of Wang et al. supports a dose-response relationship between night shift work and MetS (F. Wang et al. 2014).

Unlike some earlier cross-sectional studies (Esquirol et al. 2009; Sookoian et al. 2007) and the above mentioned review (F. Wang et al. 2014), we did not find a significant correlation between night-shift work and having MetS. The majority of the night-shift workers in our cohort were aircraft maintenance workers, an occupational group which has adopted ergonomic shift systems in the company. In addition to our shift system change study (Study III), also another intervention study conducted among male workers of the same line maintenance unit (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006) showed that the level of some health indicators, sleep, alertness, general health, and wellbeing at work improved in this occupational group. Thus it may be possible that both the systematic health screening of shift workers, as well as the implementation of ergonomic and flexible shift systems have influenced the risks in the present sample of night-shift workers.

The reason for the gender disparity in occurrence of the MetS in our study is not evident but may reflect a general gender difference in the health check-up study. Working conditions and different types of shifts probably have influenced the results in addition to private life (family) and health reasons, why former male and female shift workers have moved to day work. We had no data on these individual reasons for moving to day work.

In-flight workers showed no signs of an increased risk for MetS compared to day workers. In comparison to the other non-day work groups, they had higher educational levels and better health behaviour. Socio-

economic status strongly and inversely associates with several health outcomes including CVD risk (Kilander et al. 2001; Schumann et al. 2011; Siren et al. 2014). Also the strict aero-medical regulations with frequent health checks more than likely influence their health. In a retrospective cross-sectional study, Houston et al. compared the prevalence of CVD risk factors (age, body mass index, overweight and obesity, current smoking status, hypertension, and diabetes) among commercial aircrew and the UK general population (14,379 subject records). Even when comparisons were made with the highest income quintile of the general population to control for socio-economic status, pilots had a significantly lower prevalence of obesity and smoking. The authors concluded this reflects a healthy worker effect (Houston et al. 2011). Our findings from the cross-sectional data of the health check-up study (Study I) are in line with this observation. The MetS prevalence among all participants at the baseline was 34.1% in men and 17.4% in women, and among in-flight participants 30.5% in men and 12.3% in women. Among the Finnish population these percentages are 38.8% and 22.2%, respectively (Ilanne-Parikka et al. 2004).

6.2.2 Type 2 diabetes and other CVD risk factors

Diabetes and other disturbances of glucose metabolism are rare among Finnair's employees compared to the general Finnish population. In the age groups of 45-54 and 55-64 years, the prevalence of study detected T2D was 2.3% and 3.4% among men and 0.6% and 2.0% among women, in Finnair. In the general Finnish population, the corresponding numbers of prevalence for men are 5.9% and 8.7% and for women 2.5% and 8.0%, respectively (Saaristo et al. 2008). In the same age groups the prevalence of dysglycaemia were 19.1% and 20.9% for men and 6.7% and 9.2% for women, in Finnair, and the corresponding values in the Finnish population are 26.4% and 44.3% for men and 20.5% and 31.7% for women, respectively (Saaristo et al. 2008). The healthy worker effect and the preventive work of the health care services of the company probably account for some of these differences.

The baseline results of the health check-up study (Study I) revealed that the risk factor profiles linked to different working hours were not self-evident. The observed differences in CVD risk factors were minor between regular day workers and non-flight shift workers. However, the categories "regular day workers" and "non-flight shift workers" are heterogenic. Based on the findings of Study II, some of the regular day workers are ex-shift workers, who probably for health reasons had changed from shift work to day work. In addition, in spite of irregular working hours including night work and flights across time zones, the risk profile of the in-flight workers stood out from the rest. The occupational selection, the health standards for aviation occupations, and the regular health examinations controlled by the aviation authorities probably influenced the observed findings. Evidently, too, the health risks related to shift work can be attenuated by lifestyle choices as the in-flight workers were the most educated and they had the best lifestyle habits.

6.3 Prevention

6.3.1 Effects of the shift system changes

Sleep and alertness

The shift system change study (Study III) indicated that a faster speed, together with a change to the forward direction in shift rotation, alleviates daytime sleepiness among male maintenance workers. This beneficial effect of a rapidly forward-rotating shift system on workers' alertness is consistent with the findings of some earlier reports (De Valck et al. 2007; Hakola and Harma 2001; Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006). The declining trends in the ESS score and caffeine consumption in this group were congruent with a decrease in daytime sleepiness. The reduction of days with significant sleepiness by about 1 day a week, observed in this study, is probably clinically important. The beneficial effect of the rapidly forward rotating shift system on sleep was also seen in the cross-sectional sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV). Shift work compared to day work was, in general, associated with problems to fall asleep and feelings that working times were harmful to sleep and wakefulness, but shift workers who worked in the forward rotating shift system considered their working times to be less harmful compared to those who worked in the backward rotating shift systems.

The change from a rather slow backward-rotating shift system to a very rapidly forward-rotating shift system consisted of changes both in the number of consecutive morning, evening, and night shifts (from three to one) and in the direction of the rotation (from backwards to forwards), as well as of some minor changes in the starting and ending times of the shifts. However, the number of successive shifts (three) and free-days (two) did not change. The observed results in the rapidly forward rotating shift system can probably not be connected to any single element of the shift schedule, merely to the combination of the simultaneous changes.

Age differences

The cross-sectional sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV) suggested that a fast forward rotating shift schedule may alleviate and slowly backward rotating shift schedules may exacerbate sleeping problems among older shift workers. Age did not influence sleep in general, but older workers in the quickly forward rotating shift system had less sleep complaints than their younger colleagues in the same shift system. The beneficial effects of the forward-rotating shift system for older employees' sleep and health indicators are in line with earlier findings (Bonnefond et al. 2006; Hakola and Harma 2001; Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006; Klein Hesselink et al. 2010).

The shift system change study (Study III) was conducted in the same airline line maintenance unit as the study of Härmä et al. (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006), which showed that although the rapidly forward rotating shift system (identical to that of our study) increased operating hours at night, it had positive effects on sleep, alertness and well-being, especially among the older shift workers. This finding is probably due to a slower circadian adaptation to night shifts and increased morningness preference of older workers (Harma et al. 1994). With only a single night shift, no delay in the circadian rhythms is necessary, and morningness or an inability to shift circadian rhythms during evening and night shifts supports the recovery of sleep—wakefulness during the following free days. The participants slept for a shorter period of time during the day after a single night shift, but longer and better during the recovery period between the single night and morning shifts (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006). Because of these positive experiences gained by older shift workers from this earlier intervention study, a higher number of older persons selected the rapidly forward rotating shift system in the present shift system change study.

These studies can give no basis for the determination of the positive effects of the fast forward rotating shift system for older workers (e.g. whether it is due to the speed or the direction of the rotation). However, the research evidence supports the conclusion that a fast forward instead of the slower backward rotating shift systems causes less health problems among older workers (Harma 2006; Knauth and Hornberger 2003; Sallinen and Kecklund 2010). It has been argued that age-specific aspects should be considered in shift work planning (Blok and de Looze 2011; Costa 2003; Costa and Sartori 2007; Harma, Kompier, et al. 2006; Knauth and Hornberger 2003).

Cardiovascular risk factors

In the shift system change study (Study III) systolic blood pressure decreased and heart rate showed a declining trend among the workers in the flexible shift system when the 3-shift systems were compared (Figures 4a and 4b). A decrease of 10 or even 2 mm Hg in systolic blood pressure has been associated with a marked reduction in the risk of stroke and mortality from ischemic heart disease (Lawes et al. 2004; Lewington et al. 2002). The observed 6 mm Hg decrease of systolic blood pressure, if long-lasting, may thus have a beneficial impact on shift workers' health.

In our study, the change from the slowly backward rotating shift system to the rapidly forward rotating shift system did not result in significant changes in the studied cardiovascular risk factors. There are only a few studies that have evaluated the effect of the change of shift schedule on CVD risk factors. In the earlier mentioned small short-term study (Orth-Gomer 1983), serum levels of triglycerides and glucose, systolic

blood pressure and the urinary excretion of catecholamines decreased after a 4-week period of clockwise, as compared with counter-clockwise shift rotation. Another small experimental 3-week follow-up study found no difference in salivary cortisol levels between a fast-forward and a slow-backward rotating shift systems (De Valck et al. 2007). Vangelova using a random controlled design, compared a very fast forward rotating shift system to a very fast backward rotating shift system and found higher salivary cortisol values during the morning and night shifts, as well as worse quality of sleep among workers in the fast backward rotating shift system probably indicating insufficient recovery (Vangelova 2008).

There is also a lack of research on the effects of flexible shift systems on psychophysiological reactions. The results of our study suggest that combining individual elements of work time control with company-based variability in a shift system can have favourable effects on shift workers' cardiovascular health. The decrease in systolic blood pressure in combination with a declining trend in heart rate probably indicates a decrease in psychophysiological stress in the more flexible shift system. Unfortunately, the questionnaire used in this study did not include items on workers' opinions of work stress and opportunities to influence their workhours. In the flexible shift system, the actual time-off period from the end of the last morning shift to the beginning of the first night shift also varied over a wider range (from 52.5 to 80.5 hours) than in the other two shift systems. It is thus possible that the improvement in markers of cardiovascular stress could also be explained by the longer recovery time between the separate shift sequences in this shift system.

Apart from the positive changes in blood pressure and heart rate in the flexible shift system, neither other cardiovascular risk factors (BMI, blood lipids, and glycaemic control measured by HbA1c and fasting glucose) nor dietary and lifestyle factors improved in the shift system change study. The follow-up time of 7 to 8 months was probably too short. Also the relatively small sample size may have decreased the statistical power. However, in the sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV) leukocyte counts, a biomarker of inflammation, seemed to decrease during the 2.5-year follow-up time as the 3-shift workers changed from the backward rotating shift systems to the rapidly forward rotating shift system (Figure 7).

The employer benefited from the changed shift systems in increased working time in the rapidly forward rotating shift system and in company control and decision latitude in the flexible shift system. Because the results of the shift system change study were beneficial for both the employer and employees, as well as the positive experiences from the earlier intervention study in the same work place (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006), these new shift systems have been implemented in the line maintenance unit of the airline.

6.3.2 Lifestyle intervention

Feasibility of screening and lifestyle counselling along with the health check-up process

The new health check-up process described in detail in the original article of Study I proved to be feasible and well-accepted in our OHC setting. The extended health check-up successfully identified groups of employees that would benefit from lifestyle intervention. The protocol of screening and referring individuals with elevated diabetes risk to lifestyle counselling (Figure 1. in the original article of Study I) is in congruence with the European IMAGE guideline for diabetes prevention (Paulweber et al. 2010). The FINDRISC score seems to be a feasible screening method as it makes it possible to identify simultaneously employees with cardiovascular and diabetes risks.

Effectiveness of the low-intensity lifestyle intervention along with health check-up

Compared with the more intensive intervention trials, such as the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (Lindstrom, Ilanne-Parikka, et al. 2006; J. Tuomilehto et al. 2001) the effect on risk for T2D and CVD was modest in our health check-up study (Study V). However, the DPS was an "efficacy study" and our renewed health check-up project was a pragmatic "effectiveness study" (Singal et al. 2014), which was implemented by the occupational health care service as part of its normal work. Accordingly, the intervention intensity and delivery had to be adjusted to fit in with working practices.

The modest results of our "real life" health check-up study may also be due to the more favourable baseline risk profile of the participants, leaving less room for improvement. Finnair's employees, particularly women, were slightly leaner (mean BMI 26.9 for men and 24.4 for women) than the general Finnish population (in 2007, mean BMI 27.2 and 26.5 for men and women, respectively) (Vartiainen et al. 2010). Diabetes and other disturbances of glucose metabolism were also rare among Finnair's employees compared to the general Finnish population (page 83, section 6.2.2). Lifestyle interventions targeted at lower risk individuals have had only minor effect on diabetes risk, e.g. in a Dutch study (FINDRISC score \geq 13) weight loss and glucose decrease were non-significant between the intervention and control groups at 2.5 years (Vermunt et al. 2012). In a non-controlled mixed method pilot study (FINDRISC \geq 11) the results were better. At a 12-month follow-up weight and waist circumference decreased and physical activity increased significantly (Penn et al. 2013). Probably motivation for changing their lifestyles among lower risk persons is not very high, thus partly explaining the modest results of the voluntary interventions offered in our health check-up study (FINDRISC \geq 10).

The challenges of stressful shift work on making lifestyle changes may play a role, too. Initially, we aimed to have the group intervention as the core intervention mode, to increase the number of contacts between

the counsellor and the client in a cost-effective way. Unfortunately, shift work proved to be an obstacle to participation, and after the first year group sessions were not offered. A recent Danish study (31% shift workers, of whom 38% night shift workers) could not confirm that shift workers in general report a lower availability of and participation in workplace health promotion compared to day workers (Nabe-Nielsen et al. 2015). However, group activities or organized events are often inflexible and do not meet the needs of shift workers with the most irregular working times, and this may result in these workers not participating in these particular activities.

In a systematic review of the evidence for an effect of lifestyle-targeted interventions at the workplace on the main biological risk factors for cardiovascular disease, the authors concluded that interventions were profitable when targeted at populations with elevated risk for CVD (Groeneveld et al. 2010). Dunkley et al examined the effectiveness of diabetes prevention programmes in real world settings and whether adherence to international guideline recommendations is associated with effectiveness. The evidence of their systematic review and meta-analysis suggested that pragmatic diabetes prevention programmes were effective and adherence to the guideline recommendations on intervention content and delivery was associated with a greater weight loss at a 12-month follow-up (Dunkley et al. 2014). Also in our study, significant health benefits were observed among men with elevated and high diabetes risk who participated in the counselling sessions with a dietician and diabetes nurse. Probably, one important reason for the modest results of our study was the low intervention intensity with an average number of counselling sessions of 1.6 compared, for instance, with 7 sessions in the DPS during the first year only. The participation or compliance in lifestyle counselling by a dietician or a diabetes nurse was relatively high (61%) but the adherence was low (only 24% of the participants in the elevated risk group and 36% of those in the high risk group attended more than once) and far too many (46%) of the high risk individuals did not attend counselling at all (Table 10).

Characteristics associating with participation in lifestyle interventions

In general, little is known about what characteristics of individuals at risk are associated with participation in lifestyle interventions. In our health check-up study, there was no gender difference in the participation in lifestyle counselling given by a dietitian or a diabetes nurse, which is encouraging, as men are usually considered a challenging target group for lifestyle interventions (Dryden et al. 2012). Higher baseline FINDRISC scores and the presence of clinical and lifestyle risk factors as well as problems in sleep and mood increased attendance in lifestyle counselling sessions. The factors associating with participation differed between genders in some aspects, which may be a result of the different requirements and challenges of work and health. Men worked mainly in blue collar tasks, e.g. in technical, ground or cargo services, and women mainly in white collar duties, e.g. in office or gate services and in-flight duties. Among the men, years in shift work increased participation in intervention, but this did not affect participation among women. Older age among men and sleeping problems among women as well as sedentary lifestyle among both genders correlated with participation in lifestyle interventions. These are factors that are related to the increased risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease, thus indicating that we were indeed identifying and making interventions for the right target group.

6.4 Methodological considerations

The longitudinal research framework with data from clinical measurements, biological tests, and the wide ranging questionnaires are strengths of this series of studies. Also retrospective data of exposure to shift work was utilized in the metabolic syndrome cross-sectional study (Study II). The research framework including interventions both on work and workers and focusing on prevention completes the cohort results and increases the study relevance. The commitment of the organizations to the research programme has been high and the results of these studies have been utilized in the airline. The new rapidly forward and flexible shift systems have been implemented in the line maintenance service of the company, and the new health check-up process has become a normal practice in Finnair Health Services.

6.4.1 Study populations and participation in the studies

All participants in this series of studies were employed by one company. However, the variety of included occupations, diversity of working times, large sample sizes, and equal gender distribution make the target group of the health check-up study (Studies I, V and the sub data of Study II) representative and the results could be generalized to other occupational health care settings. On the other hand, the participants in Studies III and IV were recruited from two partially overlapping samples of men in the line maintenance units of the company. So the results of these studies may have limited generalizability to e.g. women and white collar workers.

The attendance at the health check-up was compulsory only for in-flight workers. However, participation in the health check-up study was voluntary for all. We did not have the ethical permission to use the information of the employees who attended the health check-up but refused to participate in the study. The slightly differing participation rates of regular day workers and non-flight shift workers probably arose from the fact that it was easier for day workers to attend the health check-ups which were carried out during normal office hours. The overall participation rates in the health check-up (66% of the target group) and in the health check-up study (84% of those who attended the health check-up) were, however, relative

high and comparable to other voluntary health checks in Finnair and e.g. to another Finnish OHC study (Taimela et al. 2008), as well as to Finnish population screenings (Vartiainen et al. 2010).

The interest to participate in voluntary health check-ups may be lower for people who feel that they are healthy. The participation rate in the follow-up of the health check-up study revealed that non-participants were younger and their FINDRISC scores were lower in agreement with this theory. Most drop-outs in the follow-up of the health check-up study occurred among female in-flight workers. Being the healthiest group at baseline they perhaps did not find the additional voluntary health check process to be as necessary as others. Somewhat surprisingly, men participated more eagerly than women and also benefitted from the health check-up and lifestyle interventions more than women. An explanation for this may be that in the airline company men are used to attending statutory health checks because of the possibility of work related exposure such as chemical or physical factors and this may have influenced their attitudes towards health surveys and participation.

In general, the participation rate in the follow-up study was lower than expected, and this may have weakened the results with relation to intervention between genders and working time groups.

6.4.2 Selection

Health selection in working time groups and the healthy worker effect may have influenced some of our results. We had no data on individual's reasons for moving from shift to day work. According to the healthy worker effect, those who stay in shift work are survivors who are healthy or able to cope with strenuous shift work, and those who move to day work are likely to have a worse health status or are impacted negatively by shift work and remaining a shift worker would be untenable for them. Thus, the healthy worker effect may result in an under, rather than overestimation of the effects of shift work. Kivimäki and co-workers reported that employees with cardiovascular risk factors were more likely to leave an organization regardless of the type of work schedule. They concluded that health-related selection out of shift work is not a major source of bias in shift work and CVD studies (Kivimaki et al. 2006). This is probably the case when employees do not have possibilities to move to day work in the same organization. However, the occupational health service of the airline systematically screens the health of employees and, as supported also by Finnish law, the possibilities to move to less strenuous shift work schedules or to day work have been rather good in the company, except for in-flight workers who, on the other hand, are most committed to their work. The costs to the employee usually are limited to reduced salary. This selection out of shift work can bias the results of shift work and cardiovascular risk factors when a high number of former shift workers are included in a group of day workers.

The fast forward rotating 3-shift system became popular among the older workers in the line maintenance of the airline company, when its beneficial effects on sleep and cognitive functions were first reported (Harma, Hakola, et al. 2006). The occupational health service of the company also has supported transfers to this new shift system based on individual health and sleep reasons. Thus it is probable that the forward rotating shift system includes more workers with poorer tolerance to shift work. This selection bias may have resulted in diminished favourable effects of the forward rotating shift system in relation to the health of the older workers, diluting some of our results in Studies III and IV.

6.4.3 FINDRISC score

The FINDRISC diabetes risk score was originally developed to identify individuals with increased risk for T2D, but it has proven to be a valid predictor for coronary heart disease, stroke, and total mortality, too (Silventoinen et al. 2005). In our study, metabolic syndrome and other studied CVD risk factors correlated well with FINDRISC scores (Table 9). Therefore, in evaluation of the risks for both T2D and CVD in parallel the FINDRISC seems to be a feasible, low-cost, non-invasive first-step screening method.

It has been argued that the FINDRISC score is probably not an optimal method for evaluating changes in diabetes risk in repeated surveys as most of the questions are either non-changeable (like family history of diabetes) or only change for the worse (like age). It is probably not common that people would deliberately change their answers for the FINDRISC (claiming e.g. that they eat fruit and vegetables daily when they do not) to comply with the advice. The practice effect at play is probably quite small in our health check-up study because of the long interval of the two FINDRISC enquiries (from 1.4 to 4 years). Optimally, the test result should be checked and interpreted by a health-care professional.

6.4.4 Size of effects

The significance of the effect size can be explored from different perspectives e.g. from statistical significance, clinical relevance, public health or cost effective points of view. The size of the effects from the interventions on individual level was quite small in our studies. However, on the population level even minor positive changes may be clinically significant; e.g. only modest reductions of cholesterol levels may reduce the CVD risk to a tangible degree in the long run (Law et al. 1994). In addition, as the leading CVD risk factor is raised blood pressure to which 13 per cent of global deaths is attributed ("World Heart Federation " 2012), and as a decrease of even 2 mm Hg in systolic blood pressure has been associated with a reduction in CVD risk (Lawes et al. 2004; Lewington et al. 2002), the 6 mm Hg decrease of systolic blood pressure observed in our shift system change study may have a beneficial impact on shift workers' health. It

is noteworthy, too, that one percent weight loss corresponded to 10% higher odds for MetS resolution in a clinical trial (Ilanne-Parikka 2011), so the slight weight reduction in our health check-up study among elevated and high risk men may also be beneficial.

6.4.5 Shift specific questions

With the sub-data of the health check-up study (Study IV), we explored the age-dependent association of shift systems with sleep-wakefulness. The differences between the shift systems were modest when we used general questions on sleep and sleepiness e.g. ESS and questions on sleep length, difficulties to fall asleep, awakenings during sleep, and day time fatigue during the past three months. Härmä et al. used similar questions about sleep and sleepiness and found a greater amount of sleep disturbances among male 2-shift, 3-shift and irregular shift workers in comparison with day workers (Harma et al. 1998). However, general questionnaires, such as the ESS, have not revealed significant differences concerning sleepiness between shift workers and day workers in many of the earlier studies (Garbarino et al. 2002; Halvani et al. 2009). It is probable that the use of shift-specific questions such as asking directly, for example, the length of day sleep after a night shift, would have resulted in larger differences between the different shift systems. In an earlier study conducted in the same work site as the present study, shift-specific questions revealed clear differences in sleep length, sleep quality and subjective sleepiness between the morning, evening and night shifts (Bonnefond et al. 2006).

6.4.6 Exposure assessment

The issue of the exposure assessment in shift work research has recently been highlighted by Härmä et al. (Harma et al. 2015). In epidemiological studies the exposure is usually assessed by questionnaires. The reliance of self-reported exposure data is a typical limitation of shift work studies. Such data is likely to produce unreliable estimates due to recall bias, difficulties to adequately sum up how many night shifts one has worked in a month in a varying shift schedule, and to the respondents' interpretation of the meaning of 'worked nights'. In high-quality epidemiologic studies objective individualized duty hour data retrieved from employers' worktime register are important to reliably assess the exposure (Harma et al. 2015). In our shift system change study, it was possible to describe the studied shift systems (rapidly and slowly rotating shift system, flexible shift system) in great detail from the information available from the employer. However, in the health check-up study, working time was assessed by questionnaires and thus probably the information was more unsound.

6.5 Practical implications

Occupational health care, encompassing the vast majority of the Finnish workforce, is an important part of the primary health service system and welfare policy in Finland. Because shift work, especially night shift work, induces sleep loss and circadian disruption with resulting adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences, regular health checks for night shift workers are statutory in Finland ("Guide for Application of the Occupational Health Care Act " 2004). Screening shift workers' health regularly, informing employees about the health risks of shift work, and offering them lifestyle counselling to counteract the avoidable risks are part of the essential preventive work of OHC. In addition, evaluating and suggesting methods to enhance working conditions, especially working times in shift work, are part of traditional preventive OHC work.

In a 24/7 society the option to eradicate shift working is not realistic. Therefore, shift workers' increased risk of CVD requires the efforts of OHC for health promotion and early identification of individuals at risk. Our results suggest that former shift workers have an increased risk of MetS and this should be recognized in occupational health care and taken into account in preventive work. Some modifications to shift work itself are also feasible. Our studies indicate that a faster speed, together with a change to the forward direction, in shift rotation have positive effects on sleep and wakefulness. In addition, combining individual flexibility with company-based flexibility in a shift system may have favourable effects on shift workers' cardiovascular health. Our findings concerning different shift systems and age have practical importance: as our workforce is ageing, age specific aspects should be considered in the design of new shift systems. In workplaces with varying shift systems the possibility of elderly employees with health problems to change to a more "age-friendly" shift schedule would enhance older workers' well-being and help them to better cope with shift work.

Our health check-up study revealed that interest in attending lifestyle counselling given by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse was relatively high among individuals with elevated and high diabetes risk who probably benefit most from counselling. However, the intensity of participation was low, and most individuals only attended a single counselling session. Also, combining irregular working times and group counselling turned out to be challenging. Based on the health check-up study we suggest that lifestyle interventions should be targeted at risk individuals and interventions would benefit from new and innovative means. They should be more intensive and better integrated into the occupational health procedures, and should be done by a multi-professional team and possibly be complemented by the application of modern interactive E-health technologies. More comprehensive interventions tackling

material, organizational and work-time related conditions simultaneously may be most successful (Montano et al BMC20014).

7. Summary and conclusions

This thesis explored the association of former and present shift work with CVD risk factors and the risk of T2D and tested two kinds of intervention, shift system change and lifestyle counselling, to improve shift workers' cardiovascular health and their abilities to cope with diverse working times along with ageing. There is shortage of occupational research evaluating both of these aspects of the preventive work. This thesis concentrates on these issues offering ideas for practice.

Shift work is a specific risk factor for metabolic disorders and cardiovascular diseases. This is the first study to explore how various non-day work schedules and previous exposure to shift work are associated with metabolic syndrome. The results suggest that former male shift workers have an increased risk of MetS and it should be recognized in occupational health care and taken into account in the preventive work of OHC.

The shift system change study indicated that a faster speed of rotation, together with a change to a forward direction in shift rotation alleviates daytime sleepiness. The sub-data of the health check-up study confirmed this finding among older male shift workers. In addition, combining individual elements with company-based flexibility in a shift system probably induce favourable effects on the psychophysiological stress shift workers experience, this was deduced from decreased blood pressure values and a decreasing trend in heart rates in our shift system change study. Shift work disturbs bodily circadian rhythms and sleep. As ageing is related to slower circadian adaptation to consecutive night shifts and increasing problems to sleep during the day, coping with shift work become more difficult for older workers, especially in slower rotating shift systems. Thus, age-specific issues should be taken into account in shift planning.

The extended health check-up process proved to be effective in identifying workers with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes and other CVD risk factors. Metabolic syndrome and other studied CVD risk factors correlated well with the FINDRISC score. Therefore, evaluation of the risks for both T2D and CVD in parallel is warranted, and in this the simple questionnaire, FINDRISC score seems to be a feasible, low-cost, non-invasive first-step screening method. Optimally, the test result should be checked and interpreted by a health-care professional.

The implementation of a low-intensity lifestyle intervention along with a health check was feasible in our occupational setting. We found no positive effect on the health of low diabetes risk employees, who were not offered additional lifestyle intervention. However, elevated risk individuals, especially men, gained

some health benefit from lifestyle counselling offered by a dietician and/or a diabetes nurse. All in all, the results achieved are encouraging as the participants of our "real life" health check-up study were mostly relative low risk individuals due to occupational selection and healthy worker effect, thus leaving less room for improvements. Focusing on high risk individuals and intensifying the interventions would have been more advantageous.

Most of the Finnair employees are shift workers working on aviation duties with a requirement for good health and high vigilance. The Finnish development strategy for OHC outlines measures for promoting employees' health and working capacities. WHO has estimated that with adequate changes in lifestyle over three-quarters of all CVD mortality may be prevented. Although some of the effects of shift work are probably unavoidable, the effect of disruption of circadian rhythms can be ameliorated by the careful management of shifts. As the workforce is ageing, the age specific aspects should be considered in the design of new shift systems. The present study, which includes interventions focusing on both working times and workers' lifestyle serves both the national health strategy and the airline's health policy. The new shift systems and the renewed health check-up process have been implemented in the airline. The future challenge will be increasing compliance with and adherence to voluntary health checks and focusing interventions especially on high risk individuals and also ex-shift workers. It is important to identify the work and individual related characteristics affecting intervention project attendance to develop more effective methods for chronic disease prevention in OHC.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to thank my supervisors Professor Mikko Härmä, Professor Markku Peltonen, and Docent Sampsa Puttonen for their firm confidence and never ending encouragement during my long years of research and especially during periods of despair.

This all started in the autumn 2003, when Mikko, whom I think highly of, called and made me "an offer I could not refuse". Based on his prior results of the "Respect-study" completed on the Finnair line maintenance, he suggested I should carry out a controlled intervention study on cardiovascular health effects of different shift schedules.

Markku widened my research into another perspective, lifestyle counselling to prevent individual, in addition to shift work related health risks for CVD and T2D. During the work I have held his intelligent premeditated opinions and invaluable expertise in epidemiology in high esteem.

I am most indebted and deeply grateful to my third supervisor Sampsa for his unselfish aid and sensible advice whenever it was needed. He showed me the ropes of statistics. I adore his wisdom, which encompasses science as well as humanity. I have been fortunate to have had the possibility to work with him. Without him I wouldn't be here.

I sincerely thank my official reviewers Docent Hannu Vanhanen and Professor Jukka Uitti for their kind and instructive critique.

It has been my great pleasure and also privilege to work in this multidisciplinary research project with Adjunct Professor Jaana Lindström, PhD, a highly esteemed scholar in the science of nutrition. I profited from her extensive knowledge, fluent English skills as well as her splendid talent to make complicated issues more comprehensible. I owe her my deepest thanks.

I gratefully acknowledge one of the key persons of our research project Katri Hemiö, MSc, who taught me to appreciate the science of nutrition in medical practice. Without her intense everyday aid on all practicalities during this long-lasting project the work would not have been completed.

I owe special gratitude also to Eeva Kuosma for her statistical help. She spent hours advising and guiding me in the statistical wonderland of SAS. I also wish to thank Docent, Jaana Laitinen, PhD. She was the first to teach me to understand the significance of nutrition for shift workers' health. Combining the knowledge of the research groups of the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health and National Institute for Health and Welfare was a scientific success and working with these wise and highly competent people made the research work most delightful for me.

I am grateful to Anja Koho, MSc, my most admired person and the visionary leader of occupational health care. She very early on inspired me to become a researcher by her outlook. Her slogan "All work in occupational health care should rest on evidence based medicine" revealed her high respect for science and the requirement for continuous development of health care processes. She tirelessly encouraged me during this work and never ceased to believe that I would go all the way with this dissertation. I owe special thanks to her.

I wish to thank our great team in the Finnair Health Services, the physicians, nurses and assistants, who precisely carried out the research project according to my instructions, which were more or less tortuous. I would like to extend my special gratitude to Marja Siira, MD, Markku Vanhanen, MD, Paula Niemelä, MSc, Katri Vendelin, and Sinikka Urho from Airport Mehiläinen, as well as Jukka Terttunen, MD, Kaisu Hattela, MD, MA, Terhi Nurmela, MSc, Taru Kallinen-Moilanen, Sari Aapakari, and Arja Paasio. And last but not least I owe my deep thanks to Kimmo Ketola, MD, our sage, competent and broadminded leader since 2012.

Also, this thesis would not have been possible without the eager and cooperative subjects of these studies. My warmest thanks belongs to all Finnair employees as well as our far-sighted employer, who considers prevention to be important.

Finally, dearest Matti, my beloved husband of over 40 years, deserves my deepest gratitude for his unbounded patience, support, and understanding attitude during my struggles with this work. He encouraged me to keep going and did not lose faith in me "as a scientist". He never made me guilty about our lost mutual time but managed every now and then to provide me with distractions from work by getting me to go skiing, cycling, paddling or just relaxing in our summer cottage. He rejoiced along with our four children in my decision to start this research at a mature age.

The financial support of the Academy of Finland (SALVE consortium, grant 129518), the Finnish Work Environment Fund (grants 106088 and 108320) and the Mutual Pension Insurance Company Ilmarinen made it possible to carry out this research project.

References

- 5th European Working Condition Survey (2012). European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Retrieved from http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/pubdocs/2011/82/en/1/EF1182EN.pdf
- Absetz P, Oldenburg B, Hankonen N, Valve R, Heinonen H, Nissinen A, Fogelholm M, Talja M, Uutela A (2009): Type 2 diabetes prevention in the real world: three-year results of the GOAL lifestyle implementation trial. *Diabetes Care 32*: 1418-1420.

Akerstedt T (2003): Shift work and disturbed sleep/wakefulness. Occup Med (Lond) 53: 89-94.

Akerstedt T (2006): Psychosocial stress and impaired sleep. Scand J Work Environ Health 32: 493-501.

Akerstedt T, Kecklund G, Johansson SE (2004): Shift work and mortality. Chronobiol Int 21: 1055-1061.

- Akerstedt T, Kecklund G, Knutsson A (1991): Spectral analysis of sleep electroencephalography in rotating three-shift work. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 17: 330-336.
- Akerstedt T, Wright KP, Jr. (2009): Sleep Loss and Fatigue in Shift Work and Shift Work Disorder. *Sleep Med Clin* 4: 257-271.
- Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, Fruchart JC, James WP, Loria CM, Smith SC, Jr. (2009): Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation 120*: 1640-1645.
- Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J (2005): The metabolic syndrome--a new worldwide definition. *Lancet 366*: 1059-1062.
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ (1998): Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med 15*: 539-553.
- Antunes LC, Levandovski R, Dantas G, Caumo W, Hidalgo MP (2010): Obesity and shift work: chronobiological aspects. *Nutr Res Rev* 23: 155-168.

- Arena R, Guazzi M, Briggs PD, Cahalin LP, Myers J, Kaminsky LA, Forman DE, Cipriano G, Jr., Borghi-Silva A, Babu AS, Lavie CJ (2013): Promoting health and wellness in the workplace: a unique opportunity to establish primary and extended secondary cardiovascular risk reduction programs. *Mayo Clin Proc* 88: 605-617.
- Axelsson J, Puttonen S (2012): Night shift work increases the risk for type 2 diabetes. *Evid Based Med* 17: 193-194.
- Ayas NT, White DP, Al-Delaimy WK, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, Patel S, Hu FB (2003): A prospective study of self-reported sleep duration and incident diabetes in women. *Diabetes Care 26*: 380-384.
- Ayas NT, White DP, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, Malhotra A, Hu FB (2003): A prospective study of sleep duration and coronary heart disease in women. *Arch Intern Med* 163: 205-209.
- Balkau B, Charles MA (1999): Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). *Diabet Med* 16: 442-443.
- Barbour V, Cohen B, Chinnock P, Peiperl L, Yamey G (2007): The PLoS Medicine Editors. The changing face of occupational medicine. *PLoS Med 4*: e221.
- Barrett-Connor E, Khaw KT (1989): Cigarette smoking and increased central adiposity. Ann Intern Med 111: 783-787.
- Barton J, Spelten E, Totterdell P, Smith L, Folkard S (1995): Is there an optimum number of night shifts? Relationship between sleep, health and well-being. *Work Stress 9*: 109-123.
- Bayon V, Leger D, Gomez-Merino D, Vecchierini MF, Chennaoui M (2014): Sleep debt and obesity. Ann Med 46: 264-272.
- Blok MM, de Looze MP (2011): What is the evidence for less shift work tolerance in older workers? *Ergonomics 54*: 221-232.
- Boggild H (2000). Shift work and heart disease. Epidemiological and risk factor aspects. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Aarhus.
- Boggild H, Jeppesen HJ (2001): Intervention in shift scheduling and changes in biomarkers of heart disease in hospital wards. *Scand J Work Environ Health 27*: 87-96.
- Boggild H, Knutsson A (1999): Shift work, risk factors and cardiovascular disease. Scand J Work Environ Health 25: 85-99.

- Bonnefond A, Harma M, Hakola T, Sallinen M, Kandolin I, Virkkala J (2006): Interaction of age with shiftrelated sleep-wakefulness, sleepiness, performance, and social life. *Exp Aging Res* 32: 185-208.
- Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Gregg EW, Barker LE, Williamson DF (2010): Projection of the year 2050 burden of diabetes in the US adult population: dynamic modeling of incidence, mortality, and prediabetes prevalence. *Popul Health Metr 8*: 29.
- Briancon-Marjollet A, Weiszenstein M, Henri M, Thomas A, Godin-Ribuot D, Polak J (2015): The impact of sleep disorders on glucose metabolism: endocrine and molecular mechanisms. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* 7: 25.
- Caetano J, Delgado Alves J (2015): Heart rate and cardiovascular protection. Eur J Intern Med 26: 217-222.
- Canoy D, Wareham N, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S, Day N, Khaw KT (2005): Cigarette smoking and fat distribution in 21,828 British men and women: a population-based study. *Obes Res* 13: 1466-1475.
- Canuto R, Garcez AS, Olinto MT (2013): Metabolic syndrome and shift work: a systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev 17*: 425-431.
- Cappuccio FP, Cooper D, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA (2011): Sleep duration predicts cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur Heart J* 32: 1484-1492.
- Cappuccio FP, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA (2010): Quantity and quality of sleep and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care 33*: 414-420.
- Cappuccio FP, Taggart FM, Kandala NB, Currie A, Peile E, Stranges S, Miller MA (2008): Meta-analysis of short sleep duration and obesity in children and adults. *Sleep 31*: 619-626.
- Chaput JP, Despres JP, Bouchard C, Tremblay A (2007): Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin levels and increased adiposity: Results from the Quebec family study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 15: 253-261.

Collins H (Ed.) (2012). Collins English Dictionary (Digital ed.). William Collins Sons & Co. Ltd.

Costa G (2003): Shift work and occupational medicine: an overview. Occup Med (Lond) 53: 83-88.

Costa G (2010): Shift work and health: current problems and preventive actions. Saf Health Work 1: 112-123. Costa G, Haus E, Stevens R (2010): Shift work and cancer - considerations on rationale, mechanisms, and epidemiology. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 36: 163-179.

Costa G, Sartori S (2007): Ageing, working hours and work ability. Ergonomics 50: 1914-1930.

- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjostrom M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, Pratt M, Ekelund U, Yngve A, Sallis JF, Oja P (2003): International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 35: 1381-1395.
- De Bacquer D, Van Risseghem M, Clays E, Kittel F, De Backer G, Braeckman L (2009): Rotating shift work and the metabolic syndrome: a prospective study. *Int J Epidemiol 38*: 848-854.
- De Valck E, Quanten S, Berckmans D, Cluydts R (2007): Simulator driving performance, subjective sleepiness and salivary cortisol in a fast-forward versus a slow-backward rotating shift system. *Scand J Work Environ Health 33*: 51-57.
- Depner CM, Stothard ER, Wright KP, Jr. (2014): Metabolic consequences of sleep and circadian disorders. *Curr Diab Rep 14*: 507.
- Dryden R, Williams B, McCowan C, Themessl-Huber M (2012): What do we know about who does and does not attend general health checks? Findings from a narrative scoping review. *BMC Public Health 12*: 723.
- Dunkley AJ, Bodicoat DH, Greaves CJ, Russell C, Yates T, Davies MJ, Khunti K (2014): Diabetes prevention in the real world: effectiveness of pragmatic lifestyle interventions for the prevention of type 2 diabetes and of the impact of adherence to guideline recommendations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care 37*: 922-933.
- Eaker ED, Pinsky J, Castelli WP (1992): Myocardial infarction and coronary death among women: psychosocial predictors from a 20-year follow-up of women in the Framingham Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 135: 854-864.
- Eldevik MF, Flo E, Moen BE, Pallesen S, Bjorvatn B (2013): Insomnia, excessive sleepiness, excessive fatigue, anxiety, depression and shift work disorder in nurses having less than 11 hours in-between shifts. *PLoS One 8*: e70882.
- Eriksson AK, van den Donk M, Hilding A, Ostenson CG (2013): Work stress, sense of coherence, and risk of type 2 diabetes in a prospective study of middle-aged Swedish men and women. *Diabetes Care 36*: 2683-2689.
- Esquirol Y, Bongard V, Mabile L, Jonnier B, Soulat JM, Perret B (2009): Shift work and metabolic syndrome: respective impacts of job strain, physical activity, and dietary rhythms. *Chronobiol Int 26*: 544-559.

- Esquirol Y, Perret B, Ruidavets JB, Marquie JC, Dienne E, Niezborala M, Ferrieres J (2011): Shift work and cardiovascular risk factors: new knowledge from the past decade. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* 104: 636-668.
- First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/index4.html
- Flo E, Pallesen S, Moen BE, Waage S, Bjorvatn B (2014): Short rest periods between work shifts predict sleep and health problems in nurses at 1-year follow-up. *Occup Environ Med* 71: 555-561.
- Fronstin P (1996): Health promotion and disease prevention: a look at demand management programs. *EBRI Issue Brief*: 1-14.
- Frost P, Kolstad HA, Bonde JP (2009): Shift work and the risk of ischemic heart disease a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 35: 163-179.
- Fujino Y, Iso H, Tamakoshi A, Inaba Y, Koizumi A, Kubo T, Yoshimura T (2006): A prospective cohort study of shift work and risk of ischemic heart disease in Japanese male workers. Am J Epidemiol 164: 128-135.
- Galani C, Schneider H (2007): Prevention and treatment of obesity with lifestyle interventions: review and meta-analysis. *Int J Public Health 52*: 348-359.
- Galassi A, Reynolds K, He J (2006): Metabolic syndrome and risk of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *Am J Med 119*: 812-819.
- Gami AS, Witt BJ, Howard DE, Erwin PJ, Gami LA, Somers VK, Montori VM (2007): Metabolic syndrome and risk of incident cardiovascular events and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J Am Coll Cardiol 49: 403-414.
- Gan Y, Yang C, Tong X, Sun H, Cong Y, Yin X, Li L, Cao S, Dong X, Gong Y, Shi O, Deng J, Bi H, Lu Z (2015): Shift work and diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Occup Environ Med* 72: 72-78.
- Gander P, Hartley L, Powell D, Cabon P, Hitchcock E, Mills A, Popkin S (2011): Fatigue risk management: Organizational factors at the regulatory and industry/company level. Accid Anal Prev 43: 573-590.
- Gangwisch JE, Malaspina D, Boden-Albala B, Heymsfield SB (2005): Inadequate sleep as a risk factor for obesity: analyses of the NHANES I. *Sleep 28*: 1289-1296.

- Garbarino S, De Carli F, Nobili L, Mascialino B, Squarcia S, Penco MA, Beelke M, Ferrilla F (2002): Sleepiness and sleep disorders in shift workers: a study on a group of italian police officers. *Sleep 25*: 648-653.
- Glos M, Fietze I, Blau A, Baumann G, Penzel T (2014): Cardiac autonomic modulation and sleepiness: physiological consequences of sleep deprivation due to 40 h of prolonged wakefulness. *Physiol Behav* 125: 45-53.
- Government resolution. Occupational Health 2015 (2004). Retrieved from http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:952-00-1488-8
- Groeneveld IF, Proper KI, van der Beek AJ, Hildebrandt VH, van Mechelen W (2010): Lifestyle-focused interventions at the workplace to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease--a systematic review. *Scand J Work Environ Health 36*: 202-215.
- Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, Gordon DJ, Krauss RM, Savage PJ, Smith SC, Jr., Spertus JA, Costa F, American Heart A, National Heart L, Blood I (2005): Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. *Circulation* 112: 2735-2752.
- Gu F, Han J, Laden F, Pan A, Caporaso NE, Stampfer MJ, Kawachi I, Rexrode KM, Willett WC, Hankinson SE, Speizer FE, Schernhammer ES (2015): Total and cause-specific mortality of U.S. nurses working rotating night shifts. Am J Prev Med 48: 241-252.
- Guazzi M, Faggiano P, Mureddu GF, Faden G, Niebauer J, Temporelli PL (2014): Worksite health and wellness in the European union. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 56: 508-514.
- Guide for Application of the Occupational Health Care Act (2004). Retrieved from http://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/113426/Opp200412.pdf?sequence=1
- Guo Y, Rong Y, Huang X, Lai H, Luo X, Zhang Z, Liu Y, He M, Wu T, Chen W (2015): Shift work and the relationship with metabolic syndrome in chinese aged workers. *PLoS One 10*: e0120632.
- Haffner SM, Lehto S, Ronnemaa T, Pyorala K, Laakso M (1998): Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med 339*: 229-234.
- Hakola T, Harma M (2001): Evaluation of a fast forward rotating shift schedule in the steel industry with a special focus on ageing and sleep. J Hum Ergol (Tokyo) 30: 315-319.
- Halvani GH, Zare M, Mirmohammadi SJ (2009): The relation between shift work, sleepiness, fatigue and accidents in Iranian Industrial Mining Group workers. *Ind Health* 47: 134-138.

- Harma M (2006): Workhours in relation to work stress, recovery and health. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 32: 502-514.
- Harma M, Hakola T, Akerstedt T, Laitinen J (1994): Age and adjustment to night work. *Occup Environ Med* 51: 568-573.
- Harma M, Hakola T, Kandolin I, Sallinen M, Vahtera J, Bonnefond A, Mutanen P (2006): A controlled intervention study on the effects of a very rapidly forward rotating shift system on sleep-wakefulness and well-being among young and elderly shift workers. *Int J Psychophysiol 59*: 70-79.
- Harma M, Hakola T, Laitinen J (1992): Relation of age to circadian adjustment to night work. *Scand J Work Environ Health 18 Suppl 2*: 116-118.
- Harma M, Kompier MA, Vahtera J (2006): Work-related stress and health--risks, mechanisms and countermeasures. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 32: 413-419.
- Harma M, Ropponen A, Hakola T, Koskinen A, Vanttola P, Puttonen S, Sallinen M, Salo P, Oksanen T, Pentti J, Vahtera J, Kivimaki M (2015): Developing register-based measures for assessment of working time patterns for epidemiologic studies. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 41: 268-279.
- Harma M, Tenkanen L, Sjoblom T, Alikoski T, Heinsalmi P (1998): Combined effects of shift work and lifestyle on the prevalence of insomnia, sleep deprivation and daytime sleepiness. *Scand J Work Environ Health 24*: 300-307.
- Heikkila K, Fransson EI, Nyberg ST, Zins M, Westerlund H, Westerholm P, Virtanen M, Vahtera J, Suominen S, Steptoe A, Salo P, Pentti J, Oksanen T, Nordin M, Marmot MG, Lunau T, Ladwig KH, Koskenvuo M, Knutsson A, Kittel F, Jockel KH, Goldberg M, Erbel R, Dragano N, DeBacquer D, Clays E, Casini A, Alfredsson L, Ferrie JE, Singh-Manoux A, Batty GD, Kivimaki M (2013): Job strain and health-related lifestyle: findings from an individual-participant meta-analysis of 118,000 working adults. *Am J Public Health 103*: 2090-2097.
- Hemio K, Polonen A, Ahonen K, Kosola M, Viitasalo K, Lindstrom J (2014): A simple tool for diet evaluation in primary health care: validation of a 16-item food intake questionnaire. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 11: 2683-2697.
- Hemio K, Puttonen S, Viitasalo K, Harma M, Peltonen M, Lindstrom J (2015): Food and nutrient intake among workers with different shift systems. *Occup Environ Med*.
- Houston S, Mitchell S, Evans S (2011): Prevalence of cardiovascular disease risk factors among UK commercial pilots. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 18*: 510-517.

Hu G, Qiao Q, Silventoinen K, Eriksson JG, Jousilahti P, Lindstrom J, Valle TT, Nissinen A, Tuomilehto J (2003): Occupational, commuting, and leisure-time physical activity in relation to risk for Type 2 diabetes in middle-aged Finnish men and women. *Diabetologia* 46: 322-329.

Huang PL (2009): A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome. Dis Model Mech 2: 231-237.

- Hublin C, Kaprio J, Partinen M, Koskenvuo M (2001): Insufficient sleep--a population-based study in adults. *Sleep 24*: 392-400.
- Ilanne-Parikka P (2011). Metabolic syndrome Lifestyle intervention in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Unpublished MD thesis, University of Tampere
- Ilanne-Parikka P, Eriksson JG, Lindstrom J, Hamalainen H, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louheranta A, Mannelin M, Rastas M, Salminen V, Aunola S, Sundvall J, Valle T, Lahtela J, Uusitupa M, Tuomilehto J, Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study G (2004): Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its components: findings from a Finnish general population sample and the Diabetes Prevention Study cohort. *Diabetes Care 27*: 2135-2140.
- Jacobsen HB, Reme SE, Sembajwe G, Hopcia K, Stiles TC, Sorensen G, Porter JH, Marino M, Buxton OM (2014): Work stress, sleep deficiency, and predicted 10-year cardiometabolic risk in a female patient care worker population. *Am J Ind Med 57*: 940-949.
- Jalil S, Myers T, Atkinson I (2015): A meta-synthesis of behavioral outcomes from telemedicine clinical trials for type 2 diabetes and the Clinical User-Experience Evaluation (CUE). J Med Syst 39: 28.
- Jarczok MN, Jarczok M, Mauss D, Koenig J, Li J, Herr RM, Thayer JF (2013): Autonomic nervous system activity and workplace stressors--a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37*: 1810-1823.
- Jarvelin-Pasanen S, Ropponen A, Tarvainen M, Paukkonen M, Hakola T, Puttonen S, Karjalainen PA, Lindholm H, Louhevaara V, Pohjonen T (2013): Effects of implementing an ergonomic work schedule on heart rate variability in shift-working nurses. *J Occup Health* 55: 225-233.
- Johansson G, Johnson JV, Hall EM (1991): Smoking and sedentary behavior as related to work organization. Soc Sci Med 32: 837-846.
- Johns MW (1991): A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth sleepiness scale. *Sleep* 14: 540-545.
- Johnson TV, Abbasi A, Master VA (2013): Systematic review of the evidence of a relationship between chronic psychosocial stress and C-reactive protein. *Mol Diagn Ther* 17: 147-164.

- Karlsson B, Alfredsson L, Knutsson A, Andersson E, Toren K (2005): Total mortality and cause-specific mortality of Swedish shift- and dayworkers in the pulp and paper industry in 1952-2001. Scand J Work Environ Health 31: 30-35.
- Kawabe Y, Nakamura Y, Kikuchi S, Murakami Y, Tanaka T, Takebayashi T, Okayama A, Miura K, Okamura T, Ueshima H (2014): Relationship between shift work and clustering of the metabolic syndrome diagnostic components. J Atheroscler Thromb 21: 703-711.
- Kawada T, Otsuka T (2014): Effect of shift work on the development of metabolic syndrome after 3 years in Japanese male workers. Arch Environ Occup Health 69: 55-61.
- Kilander L, Berglund L, Boberg M, Vessby B, Lithell H (2001): Education, lifestyle factors and mortality from cardiovascular disease and cancer. A 25-year follow-up of Swedish 50-year-old men. Int J Epidemiol 30: 1119-1126.
- Kivimaki M, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, Vaananen A, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L, Vahtera J (2006): Prevalent cardiovascular disease, risk factors and selection out of shift work. Scand J Work Environ Health 32: 204-208.
- Klein Hesselink J, de Leede J, Goudswaard A (2010): Effects of the new fast forward rotating five-shift roster at a Dutch steel company. *Ergonomics* 53: 727-738.
- Knauth P, Hornberger S (2003): Preventive and compensatory measures for shift workers. Occup Med (Lond) 53: 109-116.
- Knutson KL, Ryden AM, Mander BA, Van Cauter E (2006): Role of sleep duration and quality in the risk and severity of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Arch Intern Med* 166: 1768-1774.

Knutsson A (2003): Health disorders of shift workers. Occup Med (Lond) 53: 103-108.

Knutsson A (2004): Methodological aspects of shift-work research. Chronobiol Int 21: 1037-1047.

Knutsson A, Kempe A (2014): Shift work and diabetes--a systematic review. Chronobiol Int 31: 1146-1151.

- Koller M (1983): Health risks related to shift work. An example of time-contingent effects of long-term stress. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 53: 59-75.
- Laatikainen T, Dunbar JA, Chapman A, Kilkkinen A, Vartiainen E, Heistaro S, Philpot B, Absetz P, Bunker S, O'Neil A, Reddy P, Best JD, Janus ED (2007): Prevention of type 2 diabetes by lifestyle intervention in an Australian primary health care setting: Greater Green Triangle (GGT) Diabetes Prevention Project. *BMC Public Health 7*: 249.

Lajoie P, Aronson KJ, Day A, Tranmer J (2015): A cross-sectional study of shift work, sleep quality and cardiometabolic risk in female hospital employees. *BMJ Open 5*: e007327.

Last JM (1995). A Dictionary of Epidemiology (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.

- Laugsand LE, Vatten LJ, Platou C, Janszky I (2011): Insomnia and the risk of acute myocardial infarction: a population study. *Circulation 124*: 2073-2081.
- Law MR, Wald NJ, Thompson SG (1994): By how much and how quickly does reduction in serum cholesterol concentration lower risk of ischaemic heart disease? *BMJ 308*: 367-372.
- Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Feigin VL, Rodgers A (2004): Blood pressure and stroke: an overview of published reviews. *Stroke* 35: 1024.
- Leavell H, Clark E (1965). Preventive Medicine for the Doctor in His Community (3. ed.). McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.
- Leproult R, Holmback U, Van Cauter E (2014): Circadian misalignment augments markers of insulin resistance and inflammation, independently of sleep loss. *Diabetes 63*: 1860-1869.
- Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R (2002): Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet 360*: 1903-1913.
- Li G, Zhang P, Wang J, Gregg EW, Yang W, Gong Q, Li H, Li H, Jiang Y, An Y, Shuai Y, Zhang B, Zhang J, Thompson TJ, Gerzoff RB, Roglic G, Hu Y, Bennett PH (2008): The long-term effect of lifestyle interventions to prevent diabetes in the China Da Qing Diabetes Prevention Study: a 20-year followup study. *Lancet 371*: 1783-1789.
- Lin JS, O'Connor E, Evans CV, Senger CA, Rowland MG, Groom HC (2014): Behavioral counseling to promote a healthy lifestyle in persons with cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 161: 568-578.
- Lin YC, Hsiao TJ, Chen PC (2009): Persistent rotating shift-work exposure accelerates development of metabolic syndrome among middle-aged female employees: a five-year follow-up. *Chronobiol Int* 26: 740-755.
- Lindstrom J, Ilanne-Parikka P, Peltonen M, Aunola S, Eriksson JG, Hemio K, Hamalainen H, Harkonen P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louheranta A, Mannelin M, Paturi M, Sundvall J, Valle TT, Uusitupa M, Tuomilehto J (2006): Sustained reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes by lifestyle intervention: follow-up of the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. *Lancet 368*: 1673-1679.
- Lindstrom J, Peltonen M, Eriksson JG, Ilanne-Parikka P, Aunola S, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Uusitupa M, Tuomilehto J, Finnish Diabetes Prevention S (2013): Improved lifestyle and decreased diabetes risk over 13 years: long-term follow-up of the randomised Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (DPS). Diabetologia 56: 284-293.
- Lindstrom J, Peltonen M, Eriksson JG, Louheranta A, Fogelholm M, Uusitupa M, Tuomilehto J (2006): Highfibre, low-fat diet predicts long-term weight loss and decreased type 2 diabetes risk: the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. *Diabetologia 49*: 912-920.
- Lindstrom J, Tuomilehto J (2003): The diabetes risk score: a practical tool to predict type 2 diabetes risk. *Diabetes Care 26*: 725-731.
- Loprinzi PD (2015): The effects of shift work on free-living physical activity and sedentary behavior. *Prev Med* 76: 43-47.
- Lowden A, Moreno C, Holmback U, Lennernas M, Tucker P (2010): Eating and shift work effects on habits, metabolism and performance. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 36: 150-162.
- Ma CC, Burchfiel CM, Fekedulegn D, Andrew ME, Charles LE, Gu JK, Mnatsakanova A, Violanti JM (2011): Association of shift work with physical activity among police officers: the Buffalo cardio-metabolic occupational police stress study. *J Occup Environ Med* 53: 1030-1036.
- Magee L, Hale L (2012): Longitudinal associations between sleep duration and subsequent weight gain: a systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev 16*: 231-241.
- Marquie JC, Foret J (1999): Sleep, age, and shiftwork experience. J Sleep Res 8: 297-304.
- Meier-Ewert HK, Ridker PM, Rifai N, Regan MM, Price NJ, Dinges DF, Mullington JM (2004): Effect of sleep loss on C-reactive protein, an inflammatory marker of cardiovascular risk. *J Am Coll Cardiol 43*: 678-683.
- Montano D, Hoven H, Siegrist J (2014): Effects of organisational-level interventions at work on employees' health: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 14: 135.
- Morikawa Y, Nakagawa H, Miura K, Soyama Y, Ishizaki M, Kido T, Naruse Y, Suwazono Y, Nogawa K (2005): Shift work and the risk of diabetes mellitus among Japanese male factory workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health 31*: 179-183.
- Morikawa Y, Nakagawa H, Miura K, Soyama Y, Ishizaki M, Kido T, Naruse Y, Suwazono Y, Nogawa K (2007): Effect of shift work on body mass index and metabolic parameters. *Scand J Work Environ Health 33*: 45-50.

- Morris CJ, Yang JN, Garcia JI, Myers S, Bozzi I, Wang W, Buxton OM, Shea SA, Scheer FA (2015): Endogenous circadian system and circadian misalignment impact glucose tolerance via separate mechanisms in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112*: E2225-2234.
- Mottillo S, Filion KB, Genest J, Joseph L, Pilote L, Poirier P, Rinfret S, Schiffrin EL, Eisenberg MJ (2010): The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 56: 1113-1132.
- Mullington JM, Haack M, Toth M, Serrador JM, Meier-Ewert HK (2009): Cardiovascular, inflammatory, and metabolic consequences of sleep deprivation. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 51: 294-302.
- Mullington JM, Simpson NS, Meier-Ewert HK, Haack M (2010): Sleep loss and inflammation. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 24*: 775-784.
- Nabe-Nielsen K, Garde AH, Clausen T, Jorgensen MB (2015): Does workplace health promotion reach shift workers? *Scand J Work Environ Health* 41: 84-93.
- Nabe-Nielsen K, Garde AH, Tuchsen F, Hogh A, Diderichsen F (2008): Cardiovascular risk factors and primary selection into shift work. *Scand J Work Environ Health 34*: 206-212.
- Narayan KM, Boyle JP, Geiss LS, Saaddine JB, Thompson TJ (2006): Impact of recent increase in incidence on future diabetes burden: U.S., 2005-2050. *Diabetes Care 29*: 2114-2116.
- Nea FM, Kearney J, Livingstone MB, Pourshahidi LK, Corish CA (2015): Dietary and lifestyle habits and the associated health risks in shift workers. *Nutr Res Rev 28*: 143-166.
- Neil-Sztramko SE, Pahwa M, Demers PA, Gotay CC (2014): Health-related interventions among night shift workers: a critical review of the literature. *Scand J Work Environ Health 40*: 543-556.
- Nichols M, Townsend N, Scarborough P, Rayner M (2013a): Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update. *Eur Heart J 34*: 3028-3034.
- Nichols M, Townsend N, Scarborough P, Rayner M (2013b): Trends in age-specific coronary heart disease mortality in the European Union over three decades: 1980-2009. *Eur Heart J* 34: 3017-3027.
- Nooyens AC, Visscher TL, Verschuren WM, Schuit AJ, Boshuizen HC, van Mechelen W, Seidell JC (2009): Age, period and cohort effects on body weight and body mass index in adults: The Doetinchem Cohort Study. *Public Health Nutr* 12: 862-870.
- Norhammar A, Schenck-Gustafsson K (2013): Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in women. *Diabetologia 56*: 1-9.

- Nyberg ST, Fransson EI, Heikkila K, Alfredsson L, Casini A, Clays E, De Bacquer D, Dragano N, Erbel R, Ferrie JE, Hamer M, Jockel KH, Kittel F, Knutsson A, Ladwig KH, Lunau T, Marmot MG, Nordin M, Rugulies R, Siegrist J, Steptoe A, Westerholm PJ, Westerlund H, Theorell T, Brunner EJ, Singh-Manoux A, Batty GD, Kivimaki M (2013): Job strain and cardiovascular disease risk factors: meta-analysis of individual-participant data from 47,000 men and women. *PLoS One 8*: e67323.
- O'Donnell MJ, Xavier D, Liu L, Zhang H, Chin SL, Rao-Melacini P, Rangarajan S, Islam S, Pais P, McQueen MJ, Mondo C, Damasceno A, Lopez-Jaramillo P, Hankey GJ, Dans AL, Yusoff K, Truelsen T, Diener HC, Sacco RL, Ryglewicz D, Czlonkowska A, Weimar C, Wang X, Yusuf S (2010): Risk factors for ischaemic and intracerebral haemorrhagic stroke in 22 countries (the INTERSTROKE study): a casecontrol study. *Lancet 376*: 112-123.
- Ohayon MM, Carskadon MA, Guilleminault C, Vitiello MV (2004): Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan. *Sleep 27*: 1255-1273.
- Oliveira GB, Avezum A, Roever L (2015): Cardiovascular Disease Burden: Evolving Knowledge of Risk Factors in Myocardial Infarction and Stroke through Population-Based Research and Perspectives in Global Prevention. *Front Cardiovasc Med* 2: 32.
- Orth-Gomer K (1983): Intervention on coronary risk factors by adapting a shift work schedule to biologic rhythmicity. *Psychosom Med* 45: 407-415.
- Pajunen P, Vartiainen E, Mannisto S, Jousilahti P, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M (2012): Intra-individual changes in body weight in population-based cohorts during four decades: the Finnish FINRISK study. *Eur J Public Health 22*: 107-112.
- Pan A, Schernhammer ES, Sun Q, Hu FB (2011): Rotating night shift work and risk of type 2 diabetes: two prospective cohort studies in women. *PLoS Med 8*: e1001141.
- Partinen M, Gislason T (1995): Basic Nordic Sleep Questionnaire (BNSQ): a quantitated measure of subjective sleep complaints. J Sleep Res 4: 150-155.
- Patel SR, Hu FB (2008): Short sleep duration and weight gain: a systematic review. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 16: 643-653.
- Patel SR, Zhu X, Storfer-Isser A, Mehra R, Jenny NS, Tracy R, Redline S (2009): Sleep duration and biomarkers of inflammation. *Sleep 32*: 200-204.

- Paulweber B, Valensi P, Lindstrom J, Lalic NM, Greaves CJ, McKee M, Kissimova-Skarbek K, Liatis S, Cosson E, Szendroedi J, Sheppard KE, Charlesworth K, Felton AM, Hall M, Rissanen A, Tuomilehto J, Schwarz PE, Roden M, Paulweber M, Stadlmayr A, Kedenko L, Katsilambros N, Makrilakis K, Kamenov Z, Evans P, Gilis-Januszewska A, Lalic K, Jotic A, Djordevic P, Dimitrijevic-Sreckovic V, Huhmer U, Kulzer B, Puhl S, Lee-Barkey YH, AlKerwi A, Abraham C, Hardeman W, Acosta T, Adler M, AlKerwi A, Barengo N, Barengo R, Boavida JM, Charlesworth K, Christov V, Claussen B, Cos X, Cosson E, Deceukelier S, Dimitrijevic-Sreckovic V, Djordjevic P, Evans P, Felton AM, Fischer M, Gabriel-Sanchez R, Gilis-Januszewska A, Goldfracht M, Gomez JL, Greaves CJ, Hall M, Handke U, Hauner H, Herbst J, Hermanns N, Herrebrugh L, Huber C, Huhmer U, Huttunen J, Jotic A, Kamenov Z, Karadeniz S, Katsilambros N, Khalangot M, Kissimova-Skarbek K, Kohler D, Kopp V, Kronsbein P, Kulzer B, Kyne-Grzebalski D, Lalic K, Lalic N, Landgraf R, Lee-Barkey YH, Liatis S, Lindstrom J, Makrilakis K, McIntosh C, McKee M, Mesquita AC, Misina D, Muylle F, Neumann A, Paiva AC, Pajunen P, Paulweber B, Peltonen M, Perrenoud L, Pfeiffer A, Polonen A, Puhl S, Raposo F, Reinehr T, Rissanen A, Robinson C, Roden M, Rothe U, Saaristo T, Scholl J, Schwarz PE, Sheppard KE, Spiers S, Stemper T, Stratmann B, Szendroedi J, Szybinski Z, Tankova T, Telle-Hjellset V, Terry G, Tolks D, Toti F, Tuomilehto J, Undeutsch A, Valadas C, Valensi P, Velickiene D, Vermunt P, Weiss R, Wens J, Yilmaz T (2010): A European evidence-based guideline for the prevention of type 2 diabetes. Horm Metab Res 42 Suppl 1: S3-36.
- Penn L, Ryan V, White M (2013): Feasibility, acceptability and outcomes at a 12-month follow-up of a novel community-based intervention to prevent type 2 diabetes in adults at high risk: mixed methods pilot study. *BMJ Open 3*: e003585.
- Peplonska B, Burdelak W, Krysicka J, Bukowska A, Marcinkiewicz A, Sobala W, Klimecka-Muszynska D, Rybacki M (2014): Night shift work and modifiable lifestyle factors. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* 27: 693-706.
- Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H, Graham I, Reiner Z, Verschuren M, Albus C, Benlian P, Boysen G, Cifkova R, Deaton C, Ebrahim S, Fisher M, Germano G, Hobbs R, Hoes A, Karadeniz S, Mezzani A, Prescott E, Ryden L, Scherer M, Syvanne M, Scholte op Reimer WJ, Vrints C, Wood D, Zamorano JL, Zannad F (2012): European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012). The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts). *Eur Heart J 33*: 1635-1701.
- Peter R, Alfredsson L, Knutsson A, Siegrist J, Westerholm P (1999): Does a stressful psychosocial work environment mediate the effects of shift work on cardiovascular risk factors? *Scand J Work Environ Health 25*: 376-381.
- Pietroiusti A, Neri A, Somma G, Coppeta L, Iavicoli I, Bergamaschi A, Magrini A (2010): Incidence of metabolic syndrome among night-shift healthcare workers. *Occup Environ Med* 67: 54-57.
- Piirtola M, Kaprio J, Waller K, Heikkila K, Koskenvuo M, Svedberg P, Silventoinen K, Kujala UM, Ropponen A (2016): Leisure-time physical inactivity and association with body mass index: a Finnish Twin Study with a 35-year follow-up. *Int J Epidemiol*.

- Poulsen K, Cleal B, Clausen T, Andersen LL (2014): Work, diabetes and obesity: a seven year follow-up study among Danish health care workers. *PLoS One 9*: e103425.
- Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC (1992): In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. *Am Psychol* 47: 1102-1114.

Puska P (2014): Health in all policies--from what to how. Eur J Public Health 24: 1.

- Puttonen S, Harma M, Hublin C (2010): Shift work and cardiovascular disease pathways from circadian stress to morbidity. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 36: 96-108.
- Puttonen S, Kivimaki M, Elovainio M, Pulkki-Raback L, Hintsanen M, Vahtera J, Telama R, Juonala M, Viikari JS, Raitakari OT, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L (2009): Shift work in young adults and carotid artery intimamedia thickness: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns study. *Atherosclerosis 205*: 608-613.
- Quality of Work Life Survey 2013, Statistics Finland. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.stat.fi/til/tyoolot/index_en.html
- Rakshit K, Thomas AP, Matveyenko AV (2014): Does disruption of circadian rhythms contribute to beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes? *Curr Diab Rep 14*: 474.
- Ramin C, Devore EE, Wang W, Pierre-Paul J, Wegrzyn LR, Schernhammer ES (2015): Night shift work at specific age ranges and chronic disease risk factors. *Occup Environ Med* 72: 100-107.
- Reaven GM (1988): Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes 37*: 1595-1607.
- Rivellese AA, Riccardi G, Vaccaro O (2010): Cardiovascular risk in women with diabetes. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 20*: 474-480.

Roepke SK, Ancoli-Israel S (2010): Sleep disorders in the elderly. Indian J Med Res 131: 302-310.

- Roos E, Lallukka T, Rahkonen O, Lahelma E, Laaksonen M (2013): Working conditions and major weight gain-a prospective cohort study. *Arch Environ Occup Health* 68: 166-172.
- Rose G (1981): Strategy of prevention: lessons from cardiovascular disease. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 282: 1847-1851.
- Russo GT, Baggio G, Rossi MC, Kautzky-Willer A (2015): Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk in women. Int J Endocrinol 2015: 832484.

- Saaristo T, Barengo N, Korpi-Hyovalti E, Oksa H, Puolijoki H, Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Sundvall J, Saarikoski L, Peltonen M, Tuomilehto J (2008): High prevalence of obesity, central obesity and abnormal glucose tolerance in the middle-aged Finnish population. *BMC Public Health 8*: 423.
- Saaristo T, Moilanen L, Korpi-Hyovalti E, Vanhala M, Saltevo J, Niskanen L, Jokelainen J, Peltonen M, Oksa H, Tuomilehto J, Uusitupa M, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S (2010): Lifestyle intervention for prevention of type 2 diabetes in primary health care: one-year follow-up of the Finnish National Diabetes Prevention Program (FIN-D2D). *Diabetes Care 33*: 2146-2151.
- Saaristo T, Peltonen M, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Vanhala M, Saltevo J, Niskanen L, Oksa H, Korpi-Hyovalti E, Tuomilehto J (2007): National type 2 diabetes prevention programme in Finland: FIN-D2D. *Int J Circumpolar Health 66*: 101-112.
- Saksvik IB, Bjorvatn B, Hetland H, Sandal GM, Pallesen S (2011): Individual differences in tolerance to shift work--a systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev 15*: 221-235.
- Sallinen M, Kecklund G (2010): Shift work, sleep, and sleepiness differences between shift schedules and systems. Scand J Work Environ Health 36: 121-133.
- Sanz C, Gautier JF, Hanaire H (2010): Physical exercise for the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab 36*: 346-351.
- Scheer FA, Hilton MF, Mantzoros CS, Shea SA (2009): Adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of circadian misalignment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106*: 4453-4458.
- Schroer S, Haupt J, Pieper C (2014): Evidence-based lifestyle interventions in the workplace--an overview. Occup Med (Lond) 64: 8-12.
- Schumann B, Kluttig A, Tiller D, Werdan K, Haerting J, Greiser KH (2011): Association of childhood and adult socioeconomic indicators with cardiovascular risk factors and its modification by age: the CARLA Study 2002-2006. *BMC Public Health* 11: 289.

Shiri R (2014): Shift work and diabetes: a meta-analysis. Occup Environ Med 71: 804-805.

Siegrist J, Rodel A (2006): Work stress and health risk behavior. Scand J Work Environ Health 32: 473-481.

Silventoinen K, Pankow J, Lindstrom J, Jousilahti P, Hu G, Tuomilehto J (2005): The validity of the Finnish Diabetes Risk Score for the prediction of the incidence of coronary heart disease and stroke, and total mortality. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 12: 451-458.

- Singal AG, Higgins PD, Waljee AK (2014): A primer on effectiveness and efficacy trials. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 5: e45.
- Siren R, Eriksson JG, Peltonen M, Vanhanen H (2014): Impact of health counselling on cardiovascular disease risk in middle aged men: influence of socioeconomic status. *PLoS One 9*: e88959.
- Siren R, Eriksson JG, Vanhanen H (2012): Waist circumference a good indicator of future risk for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *BMC Public Health 12*: 631.
- Sookoian S, Gemma C, Fernandez Gianotti T, Burgueno A, Alvarez A, Gonzalez CD, Pirola CJ (2007): Effects of rotating shift work on biomarkers of metabolic syndrome and inflammation. *J Intern Med 261*: 285-292.
- Spaeth AM, Dinges DF, Goel N (2013): Effects of Experimental Sleep Restriction on Weight Gain, Caloric Intake, and Meal Timing in Healthy Adults. *Sleep 36*: 981-990.
- Spiegel K, Knutson K, Leproult R, Tasali E, Van Cauter E (2005): Sleep loss: a novel risk factor for insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes. *J Appl Physiol 99*: 2008-2019.
- Spiegel K, Leproult R, Van Cauter E (1999): Impact of sleep debt on metabolic and endocrine function. Lancet 354: 1435-1439.
- St-Onge MP (2013): The role of sleep duration in the regulation of energy balance: effects on energy intakes and expenditure. J Clin Sleep Med 9: 73-80.
- Stern MP, Williams K, Gonzalez-Villalpando C, Hunt KJ, Haffner SM (2004): Does the metabolic syndrome improve identification of individuals at risk of type 2 diabetes and/or cardiovascular disease? Diabetes Care 27: 2676-2681.
- Stevens RG, Hansen J, Costa G, Haus E, Kauppinen T, Aronson KJ, Castano-Vinyals G, Davis S, Frings-Dresen MH, Fritschi L, Kogevinas M, Kogi K, Lie JA, Lowden A, Peplonska B, Pesch B, Pukkala E, Schernhammer E, Travis RC, Vermeulen R, Zheng T, Cogliano V, Straif K (2011): Considerations of circadian impact for defining 'shift work' in cancer studies: IARC Working Group Report. Occup Environ Med 68: 154-162.
- Straif K, Baan R, Grosse Y, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, Altieri A, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Cogliano V (2007): Carcinogenicity of shift-work, painting, and fire-fighting. *Lancet Oncol 8*: 1065-1066.

Suwazono Y, Dochi M, Oishi M, Tanaka K, Kobayashi E, Sakata K (2009): Shiftwork and impaired glucose metabolism: a 14-year cohort study on 7104 male workers. *Chronobiol Int 26*: 926-941.

- Suwazono Y, Dochi M, Sakata K, Okubo Y, Oishi M, Tanaka K, Kobayashi E, Kido T, Nogawa K (2008): A longitudinal study on the effect of shift work on weight gain in male Japanese workers. *Obesity* (*Silver Spring*) 16: 1887-1893.
- Szosland D (2010): Shift work and metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus and ischaemic heart disease. Int J Occup Med Environ Health 23: 287-291.
- Taheri S, Lin L, Austin D, Young T, Mignot E (2004): Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin, elevated ghrelin, and increased body mass index. *PLoS Med 1*: e62.
- Taimela S, Malmivaara A, Justen S, Laara E, Sintonen H, Tiekso J, Aro T (2008): The effectiveness of two occupational health intervention programmes in reducing sickness absence among employees at risk. Two randomised controlled trials. *Occup Environ Med* 65: 236-241.
- Taylor PJ, Pocock SJ (1972): Mortality of shift and day workers 1956-68. Br J Ind Med 29: 201-207.
- Tenkanen L, Sjoblom T, Harma M (1998): Joint effect of shift work and adverse life-style factors on the risk of coronary heart disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 24: 351-357.
- Thomas C, Power C (2010): Shift work and risk factors for cardiovascular disease: a study at age 45 years in the 1958 British birth cohort. *Eur J Epidemiol 25*: 305-314.
- Torsvall L, Akerstedt T, Gillander K, Knutsson A (1989): Sleep on the night shift: 24-hour EEG monitoring of spontaneous sleep/wake behavior. *Psychophysiology 26*: 352-358.
- Trenell MI, Marshall NS, Rogers NL (2007): Sleep and metabolic control: waking to a problem? *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 34: 1-9.
- Tsuji H, Larson MG, Venditti FJ, Jr., Manders ES, Evans JC, Feldman CL, Levy D (1996): Impact of reduced heart rate variability on risk for cardiac events. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation 94*: 2850-2855.
- Tucker P, Folkard S, Ansiau D, Marquie JC (2011): The effects of age and shiftwork on perceived sleep problems: results from the VISAT combined longitudinal and cross-sectional study. *J Occup Environ Med* 53: 794-798.
- Tuomilehto H, Peltonen M, Partinen M, Seppa J, Saaristo T, Korpi-Hyovalti E, Oksa H, Puolijoki H, Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Tuomilehto J (2008): Sleep duration is associated with an increased risk for the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in middle-aged women - The FIN-D2D survey. *Sleep Med* 9: 221-227.

- Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louheranta A, Rastas M, Salminen V, Uusitupa M, Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study G (2001): Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 344: 1343-1350.
- Tuomilehto J, Schwarz P, Lindstrom J (2011): Long-term benefits from lifestyle interventions for type 2 diabetes prevention: time to expand the efforts. *Diabetes Care 34 Suppl 2*: S210-214.
- Unite guide to shift work and night work a health and safety issue for Unite members. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.unitetheunion.org/uploaded/documents/ShiftandNightWork%2011-4950.pdf
- Uusitupa M, Peltonen M, Lindstrom J, Aunola S, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Valle TT, Eriksson JG, Tuomilehto J, Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study G (2009): Ten-year mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study--secondary analysis of the randomized trial. *PLoS One 4*: e5656.
- Van Cauter E, Holmback U, Knutson K, Leproult R, Miller A, Nedeltcheva A, Pannain S, Penev P, Tasali E, Spiegel K (2007): Impact of sleep and sleep loss on neuroendocrine and metabolic function. *Horm Res 67 Suppl 1*: 2-9.
- Van Cauter E, Knutson KL (2008): Sleep and the epidemic of obesity in children and adults. *Eur J Endocrinol* 159 Suppl 1: S59-66.
- van de Ven HA, Klein Hesselink J, Bultmann U, de Boer MR, de Looze MP, van der Klink JJ, Brouwer S (2014): Individual and work-related predictors of work outcomes related to sustainable employment among male shift and day workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 40: 287-294.
- van Drongelen A, Boot CR, Hlobil H, Twisk JW, Smid T, van der Beek AJ (2014): Evaluation of an mHealth intervention aiming to improve health-related behavior and sleep and reduce fatigue among airline pilots. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 40: 557-568.
- van Leeuwen WM, Lehto M, Karisola P, Lindholm H, Luukkonen R, Sallinen M, Harma M, Porkka-Heiskanen T, Alenius H (2009): Sleep restriction increases the risk of developing cardiovascular diseases by augmenting proinflammatory responses through IL-17 and CRP. *PLoS One* 4: e4589.

Van Someren EJ (2000): Circadian rhythms and sleep in human aging. Chronobiol Int 17: 233-243.

van Wier MF, Verweij LM, Proper KI, Hulshof CT, van Tulder MW, van Mechelen W (2013): Economic evaluation of an occupational health care guideline for prevention of weight gain among employees. *J Occup Environ Med 55*: 1100-1109.

- Wang A, Arah OA, Kauhanen J, Krause N (2015): Work schedules and 11-year progression of carotid atherosclerosis in middle-aged Finnish men. *Am J Ind Med 58*: 1-13.
- Wang F, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Zhang B, He Y, Xie S, Li M, Miao X, Chan EY, Tang JL, Wong MC, Li Z, Yu IT, Tse LA (2014): Meta-analysis on night shift work and risk of metabolic syndrome. *Obes Rev* 15: 709-720.
- Wang XS, Armstrong ME, Cairns BJ, Key TJ, Travis RC (2011): Shift work and chronic disease: the epidemiological evidence. *Occup Med* (Lond) 61: 78-89.
- Vangelova K (2008): The effect of shift rotation on variations of cortisol, fatigue and sleep in sound engineers. *Ind Health* 46: 490-493.
- Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Juolevi A, Mannisto S, Sundvall J, Jousilahti P, Salomaa V, Valsta L, Puska P (2010): Thirty-five-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. *Int J Epidemiol 39*: 504-518.
- Wehrens SM, Hampton SM, Skene DJ (2012): Heart rate variability and endothelial function after sleep deprivation and recovery sleep among male shift and non-shift workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health 38*: 171-181.
- Vermunt PW, Milder IE, Wielaard F, de Vries JH, Baan CA, van Oers JA, Westert GP (2012): A lifestyle intervention to reduce Type 2 diabetes risk in Dutch primary care: 2.5-year results of a randomized controlled trial. *Diabet Med 29*: e223-231.
- Verweij LM, Proper KI, Weel AN, Hulshof CT, van Mechelen W (2012): The application of an occupational health guideline reduces sedentary behaviour and increases fruit intake at work: results from an RCT. *Occup Environ Med 69*: 500-507.
- Verweij LM, Proper KI, Weel AN, Hulshof CT, van Mechelen W (2013): Long-term effects of an occupational health guideline on employees' body weight-related outcomes, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and quality of life: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Scand J Work Environ Health 39*: 284-294.
- Vetter C, Devore EE, Ramin CA, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Schernhammer ES (2015): Mismatch of Sleep and Work Timing and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*.
- Wikstrom K, Lindstrom J, Tuomilehto J, Saaristo TE, Helakorpi S, Korpi-Hyovalti E, Oksa H, Vanhala M, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Uusitupa M, Peltonen M (2015): National diabetes prevention program (DEHKO): awareness and self-reported lifestyle changes in Finnish middle-aged population. *Public Health* 129: 210-217.

- Willi C, Bodenmann P, Ghali WA, Faris PD, Cornuz J (2007): Active smoking and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA 298*: 2654-2664.
- Work and Health in Finland, 2012. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.ttl.fi/fi/verkkokirjat/tyo_ja_terveys_suomessa/Documents/Tyo_ja_Terveys_2012.pdf
- World Health Organisation (2003). Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation. WHO Technical Report Series, No. 916. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/publications/trs916/kit/en/
- World Health organization (2007). Prevention of cardiovascular disease: guidelines for assessment and management of total cardiovascular risk. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/publications/Prevention_of_Cardiovascular_Disease/ en/
- World Health organization. (2014). Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2014. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/148114/1/9789241564854_eng.pdf
- World Heart Federation (2012). Cardiovascular disease risk factors. Retrieved from http://www.worldheartfederation.org/fileadmin/user_upload/documents/Fact_sheets/2012/PressBackgrounderApril2012 RiskFactors.pdf
- Vyas MV, Garg AX, Iansavichus AV, Costella J, Donner A, Laugsand LE, Janszky I, Mrkobrada M, Parraga G, Hackam DG (2012): Shift work and vascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ 345*: e4800.
- Yang W, Dall T, Halder P, Gallo P, Kowal S, Hogan P (2013): Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2012, ADA. *Diabetes Care 36*: 1033-1046.
- Ye HH, Jeong JU, Jeon MJ, Sakong J (2013): The Association between Shift Work and the Metabolic Syndrome in Female Workers. *Ann Occup Environ Med 25*: 33.
- Yong M, Germann C, Lang S, Oberlinner C (2015): Primary selection into shift work and change of cardiovascular risk profile. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 41: 259-267.
- Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, McQueen M, Budaj A, Pais P, Varigos J, Lisheng L (2004): Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *Lancet 364*: 937-952.
- Zimberg IZ, Fernandes Junior SA, Crispim CA, Tufik S, de Mello MT (2012): Metabolic impact of shift work. Work 41 Suppl 1: 4376-4383.